Western University Scholarship@Western

Digitized Theses

Digitized Special Collections

2008

Cerebral Hemodynamic Disturbances in Motor Neuron Disease

Matthew J. Murphy

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses

Recommended Citation

Murphy, Matthew J., "Cerebral Hemodynamic Disturbances in Motor Neuron Disease" (2008). *Digitized Theses.* 4616. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses/4616

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Digitized Special Collections at Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Digitized Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Cerebral Hemodynamic Disturbances in Motor Neuron Disease

(Spine title: Cerebral Hemodynamics in Motor Neuron Disease)

(Thesis format: Integrated-Article)

by

Matthew J. Murphy

Graduate Program in Medical Biophysics

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Matthew J. Murphy 2008

ABSTRACT AND KEYWORDS

An association between motor neuron disease (MND) and dementia was first realized in the late 1800s, yet substantiating research and a description of dementia as part of the clinical syndrome would not appear until the 1990s. In the last two decades, medical imaging has investigated cerebral blood flow changes in the motor and nonmotor cortex to correlate with motor dysfunction and clinical dementia, respectively. The aim of this thesis is to describe early cerebral hemodynamic disturbances with the goal to determine a marker for cognitive decline in MND.

Chapter 2 describes the relationship between changes in cerebral hemodynamics and cognition in primary lateral sclerosis (PLS) patients compared to normal controls. Neuropsychological testing revealed subtle frontotemporal changes characterized by executive dysfunction that were associated with global increases in mean transit time (MTT) in grey and white matter, and increased cerebral blood volume (CBV) in the frontotemporal grey matter.

Chapter 3 presents a longitudinal clinical study of early cerebral hemodynamic changes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) patients without evidence of cognitive impairment at study onset. This Chapter characterized the relationship between duration of disease and MTT in the cortical grey matter. MTT was found to be the most sensitive indicator of early cerebral hemodynamic change accompanying disease progression in ALS. Furthermore, these findings corroborate the trend of increased MTT in the absence of cognitive impairment found in PLS patients in Chapter 2, and may further indicate that hemodynamic changes may occur before the onset of cognitive impairment.

The aim of Chapter 4 was to elucidate a biological mechanism for increased MTT described in the previous Chapters 2 and 3. A rabbit model of global hypotension was used to demonstrate that MTT is an indicator of cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP).

A spectrum of cognitive dysfunction has now been described in MND. The use of sensitive neuropsychological testing has enabled us to identify patients with mild changes in cognitive function from those who are cognitively intact. With the help of this stratification, we were able to show that changes in MTT was associated with disease progression and cognitive impairment. The experimental data presented in this thesis suggest that vascular factors may contribute to cognitive dysfunction in MND.

Keywords:

CT Perfusion, cerebral blood flow, cerebral blood volume, mean transit time, motor neuron disease, primary lateral sclerosis, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, frontotemporal dementia, cognitive impairment

CO-AUTHORSHIP

Chapter 2 has been adapted from the paper entitled "Cerebral Haemodynamic changes accompanying cognitive impairment in primary lateral sclerosis", accepted for publication in *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis* (In Press), by: Matthew J. Murphy, G.M. Grace, M.C. Tartaglia, J.B. Orange, X. Chen, A. Rowe, K. Findlater, R.I. Kozak, M. Freedman, M.J. Strong, and T-Y. Lee. Ting-Yim Lee and Michael Strong were responsible for the design of this study, provided supervision throughout the project, and reviewed the manuscript. Gloria Grace performed all neuropsychological testing and contributed to the preparation of the manuscript for those sections pertaining to her work. Carmela Tartaglia assisted in segmentation analysis of the cerebral images and revising the manuscript. Xiaogang Chen programmed the software used for analysis of data in this paper. The remaining authors were part of the clinical team who helped to recruit patients, collect clinical data, and revised the final manuscript. I was responsible for performing the study with Ting-Yim Lee, collecting and analyzing the data, and writing the manuscript.

The contents appearing in Chapter 3 have been adapted from the paper entitled "Widespread haemodynamic disturbances occur early in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis", submitted to *JNNP – Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry* in August 2008 by: Matthew J. Murphy, G.M. Grace, M.C. Tartaglia, J.B. Orange, X. Chen, A. Rowe, K. Findlater, R.I. Kozak, M. Freedman, T-Y. Lee, and M.J. Strong. Ting-Yim Lee and Michael Strong designed this study, provided supervision throughout the project and reviewed the manuscript. Gloria Grace was responsible for obtaining and analyzing all

V

neuropsychological data. Xiaogang Chen assisted with the analysis of this paper and designed the software used for analyzing data from this study. The remaining authors were part of the clinical team who helped to recruit patients, collect clinical data, and revised the final manuscript. I was responsible for performing the study with Ting-Yim Lee, collecting and analyzing the data, and writing the manuscript.

Chapter 4 is a manuscript entitled "Evaluation of mean transit time as index of cerebral perfusion pressure in experimentally graded systemic hypotension", by: M.J. Murphy, K.M. Tichauer, D. Ouimet, X. Chen, and T-Y. Lee, to be submitted to *AJNR* – *American Journal of Neuroradiology*. This study was designed and supervised by T-Y. Lee. Animal care and experimental procedures were supervised by D. Ouimet. Software used for analysis of parametric maps was written by X. Chen. K. Tichauer contributed to preparation and revision of manuscript. I was responsible for contributing to the study design, collection and analysis of data and writing the manuscript.

EPIGRAPH

"Ideas were not divided into good and bad, only those that worked and those that didn't work. And although an idea might not work for several reasons, one part of that idea might have merit. But you couldn't pluck the ripe part if the whole idea went unspoken"

- Gary Kinder, Ship of Gold: In the Deep Blue Sea

DEDICATION

For Mom,

whose words of encouragement, love, and support have guided me

throughout my life and education to this day - and beyond.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work contained within this thesis has developed over the last five years and is only made possible by the collaborative effort and support of those surrounding me. First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Ting-Yim Lee for giving me the opportunity to study in his lab, allowing me the freedom to find my own way while at the same time never letting me stray too far and for all the support he has shown me. However, it is his kindness and support towards my endeavors outside of the lab that I have appreciated the most – allowing me to maintain a balance between life and school during the tenure of my PhD. Thank you. Furthermore, I would like to thank Ting's wife Maggie for all the kind conversation we have shared, the support she has shown me, and of course, the wonderful parties she has hosted over the years.

In addition, I would like to thank all of the members of the Lee group who have assisted me in various aspects of my degree over the last five years. Dr. Xiaogang Chen has been integral in our lab and my research by designing specific analysis software to meet our individual research needs. Thank you to Jennifer Hadway and Dominique Ouimet who have exceeded expectations and given so much of themselves to keep experiments running and our lab productive. Lastly, I would like to thank all the students in the Lee group who have made my time at UWO more exciting during lab hours and beyond.

Very early in the course of my PhD I met Dr. Michael Strong. Mike has been an integral part of my training and I would like to thank him for his mentorship, support, and

ix

guidance, not to mention helping me find the finest bowl of Chowder that Ireland has to offer! Thank you for all the amazing memories and scholastic support.

Additionally, I would like to thank my advisory committee members Dr. Rob Bartha and Dr. Douglas Fraser. Specifically, I would like to show my appreciation for Doug Fraser who consistently made it a habit to stay informed on our experimental progress, took the time to travel to St. Joseph's for all experiments (weekends included), and always made himself available to discuss my thesis research and any obstacles I encountered.

Furthermore, I would like to say a special thanks to Anne Leaist. No matter the time of day I went looking for Anne, I could always find her working hard in her office, but never too busy to lend a helping hand for her students. Anne's superb organization and assistance has made everyone's life easier in our group. But above all, I would like to thank Anne for the late night work breaks, friendship and meaningful conversation that we have shared over the years.

Finally, I would like to thank those people who made my life more full both in school and in activities outside of the workday. Thank you to my roommates JoeT. and D'Star, who were always there for a run, a workout, or a night out. Lastly and most importantly, thank you to my family. Mom, Charley, Blake, Taylor and Amanda – you are a constant source of motivation and happiness in my life, thank you for all the support, love and encouragement throughout the years.

Х

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CERT	TIFICAT	E OF EXAMINATION	
ABST	RACT	ii	
CO-AUTHORSHIP			
EPIG	EPIGRAPH v		
DEDICATION			
ACK	NOWLEI	DGEMENTS	
TABI	E OF CO	ONTENTS	
LIST	OF TAB	LES xi	
LIST	OF FIGI	JRES	
LIST	OF APPI	ENDICES	
IST O	F ABBR	EVIATIONS	
CHAI	PTER 1:	INTRODUCTION	
1.1	Introduc	tion	
	1.1.1	Motor Neuron Disease	
	1.1.2	Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis	
	1.1.3	Primary Lateral Sclerosis	
1.2	Cognitiv	ve Dysfunction in MND	
	1.2.1	A Spectrum Disorder: Mild Cognitive Impairment to	
		Frontotemporal Dementia	
	1.2.2	Longitudinal Assessment of Cognition	
1.3	Medical	Imaging in MND	
	1.3.1	Magnetic Resonance Imaging 1	
		1.3.1.1 Anatomical Imaging	
		1.3.1.2 Diffusion Tensor Imaging	
		1.3.1.3 Proton Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy	
	1.3.2	Nuclear Medicine Imaging	
• .		1.3.2.1 Neuroglial Imaging	
•		1.3.2.2 Activation Imaging	
		1.3.2.3 Metabolic Imaging	
		1.3.2.4 Perfusion Imaging 2	
	1.3.3	Advanced Computed Tomography Imaging	
1.4	Neurova	scular Unit	
	1.4.1	The Astrocyte	
		1.4.1.1 Astrocytes in Neurovascular Coupling	
	1	1.4.1.2 Astrocytes in Neurometabolic Coupling	
	1.4.2	The Blood Vessel	
	1.4.3	The Perivascular Nerves	
	1.4.4	Neurovascular Coupling	
1.5	Cerebral	l Perfusion Pressure	

Page

	1.5.1	Normal CPP and Hemodynamics	38
	1.5.2	Stages of Hemodynamic Compromise	39
		1.5.2.1 Stage I: Autoregulation	39
	4	1.5.2.2 Stage II: Increased Oxygen Extraction Fraction	41
		1.5.2.3 Stage III: CMRO ₂ Compromise	41
1.6	Cerebro	vascular Reserve	42
110	1.6.1	Assessment of CVR	42
		1.6.1.1 Acetazolamide: Vasoactive Stimulus for	
		CVR Measurement	44
		1612 Dose Dependency and Kinetics of Acetazolamide	45
	162	Implications of CVR Measurements	46
17	Mean T	ransit Time as an Indicator of CPP	47
1.7	Researc	hansit Thine us an indicator of Cr T	47
1.0	Deferen		40
1.9	Referen		47
ACC LAT	COMPAN TERAL SC	YING COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT IN PRIMARY CLEROSIS	63
2.1	Introdu	ction	63
2.2	Method	\$	63
	2.2.1	Participants	63
	2.2.2	Neuropsychological Evaluation	63
	2.2.3	Imaging and Analysis	63
	2.2.4	Statistical Analysis	67
2.3	Results		67
-	2.3.1	Clinical Characteristics	67
	2.3.2	Neuropsychological Results	68
	2.3.3	Imaging Results	69
		2.3.3.1 Grey Matter Analysis	71
		2.3.3.2 White Matter Analysis	71
2.4.	Discuss	ion	74
2.5	Acknow	vledgements	81
2.6	Referen	ICES	82

CHAPTER 3: WIDESPREAD CEREBRAL HEMODYNAMIC DISTURBANCES OCCUR EARLY IN AMYOTROPHIC LATERAL SCI EDOSIS

SCLE	ROSIS .		87
3.1	Introduction		87
3.2 Methods		S	89
	3.2.1	Participants	89
	3.2.2	Neuropsychological Evaluation	90
	3.2.3	Imaging and Analysis	90
	3.2.4	Statistical Analysis	92
3.3	Results		92

	3.3.1	Clinical Characteristics	92
	3.3.2	Neuropsychological Results	93
	3.3.3	Imaging Results	93
3.4	Discuss	ion	94
3.5	Acknow	vledgements	101
3.6	Referen	Ces	102
2.0	1.0.0.01.011		
CHAF	TER 4:	EVALUATION OF MEAN TRANSIT TIME AS AN INDEX	
OF CI	EREBRA	AL PERFUSION PRESSURE IN EXPERIMENTALLY	
GRAI	DED SYS	STEMIC HYPOTENSION	106
4.1	Introduc	ction	106
4.2	Method	s	108
	4.2.1	Animals and Anaesthesia	108
	422	Experimental Design	109
	1.2.2	4221 Acetazolamide Time Course	109
		4.2.2.1 Acetazolamide and CTP Reproducibility	109
		4.2.2.2 Accuzoiannuc and CTT Reproductionity \dots	109
		4.2.2.5 Initialiania i ressure with varying MAP	110
	102	4.2.2.4 Hemodylianic weasurements with varying with	111
	4.2.5	Data Analysia	112
	4.2.4	Data Alialysis	113
4.2	4.2.J	Statistical Allarysis	114
4.3	Results	A set a slamid. The Course and CTD Degree ducibility	114
t.	4.3.1	Acetazolamide Time Course and CTP Reproducionity	114
	4.3.2	Intracranial Pressure with Varying MAP	110
	4.3.3	Hemodynamic Measurements with varying MAP	11/
4.4	Discuss	10n	119
4.5	Referen	ICes	127
			100
CHAI	TER 5:	CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK	130
5.1	Summa	ry	130
5.2	Perfusio	on Changes with Cognitive Impairment	131
5.3	Widesp	read Perfusion Changes Occur Early in Disease	132
5.4	Implica	tions of Increased MTT	133
5.5	Experin	nental & Clinical Relevance	134
5.6	Future V	Work	136
	5.6.1	Multimodality Imaging	136
	5.6.2	Cerebrovascular Reserve Testing in MND	137
	5.6.3	MTT as an Indicator of Cerebral Perfusion Pressure	138
5,7	Referen	ices	139
			1 4 1
APPE	NDICES	6/ETHICS APPROVAL	141
CURRICULUM VITAE			

LIST OF TABLES

		-
Table 2.1	Summary of Neuropyschological Test and Variables	66
Table 2.2	Demographics and Clinical Characteristics of PLS Patients	68
Table 2.3	Cognitive Results of PLSci Patients	70
Table 2.4A	Comparison of Cerebral Hemodynamic Results for Grey Matter According to group	72
Table 2.4B	Comparison of Cerebral Hemodynamic Results for White Matter According to group	72
Table 2.5	Physiological Data During CT Scan	74
Table 3.1	Summary of Neuropsychological Tests and Variables	91
Table 3.2	Physiological Data During CT Scan	94
Table 4.1	Pressure Measurements with Varying MAP	117
Table 4.2	Basal Physiological Measurements with Varying MAP	118
Table 4.3	Hemodynamic Parametric Measurements with Varying MAP	118

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Sample IRF, and Arterial and Tissue Time-Density Curves (TDC)	29
Figure 1.2	Hemodynamic Responses to Reductions in CPP	43
Figure 2.1	Hemodynamic Parametric Maps by Group	73
Figure 3.1	Comparison of MTT Between Groups by Region at T2	93
Figure 4.1	CT Perfusion Scanning Protocol	112
Figure 4.2	Graph of CBF Response to ACZ in Control Animals	115
Figure 4.3	Reproducibility Graph of Intra- and Inter-Test Day Variability	
	in CBF and CBF Response to ACZ	116
Figure 4.4	Scatter plots of CBV, CBF, MTT and CVR against MAP	120

LIST OF APPENDICES

	Page
Human Ethics Approval for the work contained within Chapter 2 entitled: "Perfusion and Metabolic Imaging in	
Primary Lateral Sclerosis (PLS)"	141
Human Ethics approval for the work contained within Chapter 3 entitled "A prospective study of rapid CT cerebral blood flow imaging in the detection of cognitive	
impairment in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis"	142
Animal Ethics Approval for the work contained within Chapter 4 entitled: "Evaluation of mean transit time as an	
index of cerebral perfusion pressure"	143
	 Human Ethics Approval for the work contained within Chapter 2 entitled: "Perfusion and Metabolic Imaging in Primary Lateral Sclerosis (PLS)" Human Ethics approval for the work contained within Chapter 3 entitled "A prospective study of rapid CT cerebral blood flow imaging in the detection of cognitive impairment in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis" Animal Ethics Approval for the work contained within Chapter 4 entitled: "Evaluation of mean transit time as an index of cerebral perfusion pressure"

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

5-HT _{1A}	5-hydroxytryptamine
ACh	Acetycholine
ACZ	Acetazolamide
AD	Alzheimer Disease
ADC	Apparent Diffusion Coefficient
AIF	Arterial Input Function
ALS	Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis
ALSFRS-R	Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Functional Rating Scale – Revised
Ca ²⁺	Calcium
CBF	Cerebral Blood Flow
CBV	Cerebral Blood Volume
Cho	Choline
CMRGlu	Cerebral Metabolic Rate of Glucose
CMRO ₂	Cerebral Metabolic Rate of Oxygen
Cr	Creatine
CST	Corticospinal Tract (or Pyramidal Tract)
CT	Computed Tomography
CTP	Computed Tomography Perfusion
CVR	Cerebrovascular Reserve
DTI	Diffusion Tensor Imaging
EDCF	Endothelial Derived Constricting Factor
EDHF	Endothelial Derived Hyperpolarizing Factor
EMG	Electromyography
FA	Fractional Anisotropy
fALS	familial Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis
FDG	¹⁸ Fluro-2-deoxy-D-glucose
fMRI	function Magnetic Resonance Imaging
FMZ	[¹¹ C]-flumazenil
FTD	Frontotemporal Dementia

FTLD	Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration
FVC	Forced Vital Capacity
GABA	Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid
ICP	Intracranial Pressure
IRF	Impulse Residue Function
LMN	Lower Motor Neuron
MAP	Mean Arterial Pressure
MCI	Mild Cognitive Impairment
MD	Mean diffusivity
MND	Motor Neuron Disease
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
MRS	Proton (H ¹) Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy
MTT	Mean Transit Time
NAA	N-acetylaspartate
NE	Norepinephrine
NVU	Neurovascular Unit
OEF	Oxygen Extraction Fraction
PET	Positron Emission Tomography
PGE ₁	Prostaglandin E ₁
PLS	Primary Lateral Sclerosis
rCBF	Regional Cerebral Blood Flow
sALS	sporadic Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis
SOD1	Superoxide Dismutase 1 gene
SPECT	Single Photon Computed Tomography
SPM	Statistical Parametric Mapping
TDC	Time-Density Curve
UMN	Upper Motor Neuron
Xe/CT	Xenon-enhanced Computed Tomography

xviii

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 INTRODUCTION

1.1.1 Motor Neuron Disease

Motor neuron disease (MND) refers to a condition characterized by the progressive degeneration of motor neurons and can include upper and/or lower motor neuron tracts (1). Thus, MND is used variably to describe neurological conditions involving neurodegeneration. For the purpose of this thesis, MND will be used as an umbrella term covering a spectrum of different clinical phenotypes involving neurodegeneration of the motor neurons. More specifically, the research conducted in this thesis will focus on two phenotypes of MND; amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and primary lateral sclerosis (PLS).

1.1.2 Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, more colloquially known as ALS or Lou Gherig's disease, is the most common variant of MND (2) and was first described by Charcot in 1869. Although it is considered the most common variant, ALS remains a relatively rare disease with a reported population incidence between 1.47 and 2.7 per 100,000 per year (average of 1.89) (3), with the majority of patients succumbing to the disease within 3 to 5 years from the time of onset. The term "amyotrophy" refers to muscle wasting, while "lateral sclerosis" refers to the thickening or hardening of the lateral tracts of the spinal cord following degeneration of cortical spinal tracts (CST) as evidenced only upon

autopsy (1). The classical clinical description of ALS involves signs attributed to the degeneration of both the upper (UMN) and lower motor neurons (LMN). In the former, symptoms include subtle impairments of motor control, changes in vocal tone and clarity, changes in gait and ensuing loss of agility. Involvement of the latter clinically includes atrophy, weakness and fasciculation (4). Symptoms commonly arise as distal weakness of a limb (spinal onset) or dysarthria and dysphagia (bulbar onset) (5). Although the features of the disease may seem well defined, many are subtle in origin or may be nonspecific to the disease and are often overlooked as a normal age-related changes, often leading to a diagnostic delay of greater than 1 year from time of onset (4); a considerable delay considering the rapid course of the disease. Diagnosis of the disease is estimated to be correct 95% of the time (1) when it is guided by the El Escorial criteria which include evidence of LMN degeneration by clinical, electrophysiological, or neuropathological examination; evidence of UMN degeneration by clinical examination; and progressive spread of symptoms or signs within a region or to other regions, as determined by history or examination (6).

Although the disease was first characterized over one century ago, the aetiology of the disease remains unknown for the vast majority of cases. The clinical phenomenology describes ALS as either sporadic (sALS) or familial (fALS) in origin, with 90% of patients being described as sporadic, that is having no known etiology. The latter designation, fALS, accounts for 10% of all cases in ALS (7), of which many genes have been proposed to play a causal role. A fifth of these cases are associated with mutations in copper-zinc superoxide dismutase gene (SOD1) (8). SOD1 is the only gene that has been confirmed to cause classical ALS and has over 100 different mutations described in the literature (9). The primary function of this protein is to act as an antioxidant enzyme, lowering the steady-state concentration of superoxide by the conversion of these toxic superoxide radicals to oxygen hydrogen peroxide, but when mutated, it can also cause disease by free radical toxicity leading to neuronal cell death or apoptosis.

Since its first description, the clinicopathological definition of ALS has progressed to incorporate a complex heterogeneous phenotype. Although motor neuron degeneration still remains as the central component of the disorder, it is now recognized that the phenotypical variability of the disease now includes non-motor manifestations. Contemporary clinical descriptions of ALS have evolved to recognize cognition as part of the disease spectrum (10), which will be covered in more detail in the following sections.

1.1.3 Primary Lateral Sclerosis

Primary lateral sclerosis is the designation used for MND when the degeneration is confined to the UMN, sparing the involvement of LMN, and having an idiopathic, nonfamilial origin (11). In the hundred years to follow the first description of PLS in 1874 by Charcot, little progress has been made on this rare disease that accounts for 5% of all clinical MND diagnoses (12). Recently, Pringle et al. proposed clinical diagnostic criteria for PLS that specified a minimum duration of 3 years from the time of onset with minimal lower motor neuron involvement and denervation potentials observed on electromyography (EMG) (13). This report was one of the first to attempt to define clinical characteristics and diagnostic criteria needed to delineate this disease from ALS, which in itself is a contentious issue. Whether PLS exists as a discrete entity or along a

continuum that may inevitably converge with ALS is heavily debated (13-20). The distinction between this apparent dichotomous phenomenology may involve the initial diagnosis and how stringent one is when employing diagnostic criteria. One criticism of the criteria proposed by Pringle et al. is the explicit acceptance of "occasional" LMN pathology as demonstrated by EMG recordings and fasciculation, rendering the criteria to be less specific to PLS. Subsequent studies using this criteria demonstrated that patients converted to ALS as late as 25 years from the time of diagnosis (21). More recently, Gordon et al. provided new more stringent criteria for clinically defining PLS that increased the sensitivity of diagnosis (22). By extending the diagnosis window to 4 years in conjunction with the absence of EMG findings, muscular atrophy and fasciculation, they were able to categorize PLS into clinically pure PLS and UMN-dominant ALS. Beyond 4 years the probability of developing LMN signs is about 0.23; had the authors followed the Pringle criteria 31% of their patients would have been misdiagnosed with PLS. Furthermore, those having subtle signs of LMN involvement and fasciculation at diagnosis progress to develop a more severe disability likened to that of ALS as measured by the ALS functional rating score - revised edition (ALSFRS-R) and forced vital capacity.

As noted, the clinical characteristics of PLS often overlap with that of ALS, making the diagnosis difficult. The central issues for resolving PLS as a distinct disease from ALS are not merely academic, but reside in the fact that during the course of PLS there is the possibility of converting to ALS and with it more dire prognostic ramifications. To date, the defining characteristic unique to PLS is longer duration of survival due to a slowly progressive disease course. Unfortunately, due to the rare nature

of the disease there is a paucity of data concerning pathology and functional changes in PLS. However, with the advent of medical imaging and neuropsychological testing, paradigms that exploit cognitive changes in ALS have recently been applied to PLS. To this end, fundamental descriptions of cognitive and associated cerebral functional changes have been described in PLS and these changes warrant further interrogation.

1.2 COGNITIVE DYSFUNCTION IN MND

As previously described, MND was traditionally considered a disorder of the motor system sparing cognitive functions. However, it is now known that cognitive dysfunction represents a component of the disease that encompasses a striking spectrum of disorders ranging from mild cognitive impairment to frontotemporal dementia (FTD) (5). FTD is one of three subtypes of frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) characterized by the loss of neurons in the frontal or anterior temporal lobe of the cerebral cortex, and is the most commonly described subtype in ALS (23). FTD is a far less common pathology than Alzheimer disease (AD), and in contrast to AD produces early changes in behaviour, executive function, and language, whilst leaving memory relatively intact.

Cognitive dysfunction in MND has only recently gained the attention of the scientific community despite being described over a century ago and being proposed to be part of the syndrome as early as 1932 (24). The delay in recognizing cognitive decline as part of the syndrome of disorders in ALS is likely rooted in the fact that little was understood about the changes occurring and the relatively insensitive metrics being employed for determining these changes. First, the rapid progression of

neurodegeneration and rapid mortality of the disease often overshadows any subtle changes that arise in cognition. Second, co-morbid depressive symptoms often mimic cognitive decline (5). The prevalence of depression in ALS varies depending on the report, but it is generally acknowledged that patients have higher depression scores than controls, even if clinically relevant levels of depression aren't achieved (25). Thirdly, patients present with dysarthria and decreased motor control, which commonly interfere with testing paradigms employed to determine the extent of cognitive decline. Lastly, mental status changes in ALS have been described as fronto-exectutive in nature, giving rise to impairment in executive functioning and some language characteristics (5, 24, 26), differing from conceptual knowledge and memory impairment that characterizes other more common variants of dementias (5). Thus, there has been a shift in cognitive testing paradigms to become more sensitive to the type of impairment present in ALS. With raised awareness of these problems, contemporary studies have been designed to alleviate the influence of these co-morbid features and elucidate changes in cognition that may accompany the disease and have provided more accurate information on concomitant changes in cognition.

Evidence of cognitive dysfunction in MND is becoming more recognized, although reports of the incidence and extent of dysfunction still remain to be settled. ALS, the most prominent variant of MND, has enjoyed the bulk of the neuropsychological studies to date while PLS has only recently gained attention in this field.

1.2.1 A Spectrum Disorder: Mild Cognitive Impairment to Frontotemporal Dementia

Cognitive impairment in ALS comprises a continuum of conditions that range from no discernable deficit to FTD. Although there is general agreement that cognitive dysfunction is present in ALS, the incidence has proven to be widely variable between studies. Early studies of cognitive impairment were rudimentary in their approach and did not discern between mild impairment and dementia. Thus, early studies dichotomized patients into impaired or cognitively intact. Results of several studies indicated that a range of 36% to 70% of patients had some degree of cognitive impairment (27-29). Although these studies did not differentiate by degree of impairment, they provided evidence for cognitive changes and stimulated more in-depth examination.

When patients were stratified according to the level of impairment, the incidence of dementia originally was estimated to be only 2% to 5% among ALS patients. However, recent data suggest that the incidence rate may be as high as 23% to 52% (29, 30). Variability in the incidence rate of dementia can be attributed to small sample sizes, selection bias, diverse definitions of cognitive impairment (i.e. number of abnormal tests, individual test threshold for impairment), and differing test batteries (31). Currently, no consensus exists on the definition of cognitive impairment and the metrics employed to measure the level of impairment. From past experience and outcomes, it has become obvious that although tests such as the Mini Mental Status Exam (32) are highly sensitive to other forms of dementia, they are not appropriate for assessing frontotemporal cognitive changes associated with MND. Thus, the necessity for harmonization standards is now widely recognized by the MND community, and guidelines arising from discussions at the Second International Frontotemporal Dementia in ALS Research Conference (London, Ontario, June 2007) are currently being drafted.

In the largest neuropsychological study to date assessing cognition in ALS, Ringholz et al. (2005) examined 279 consecutive sALS patients attending their clinic and compared them with 129 healthy controls (33). This study found cognitive impairment in 47% of the patients, with 15% of the whole cohort having features consistent with FTD. An important outcome of this study was that the cognitive impairment did not correlate with depression scores or the severity or duration of motor or bulbar symptoms. Furthermore, the site of onset (bulbar versus limb) was not predictive of the level of impairment or the pattern of performance. This work was corroborated by a recent study of 23 ALS subjects by Murphy et al. (2007) that found similar frontotemporal impairment in 11 patients. Of these 11 patients, 5 met the Neary criteria (34) for FTLD (2 with FTD, 2 with semantic aphasia and 1 with progressive non-fluent aphasia) while 6 displayed either mild cognitive or behavioural deficits (35). Thus, these recent studies indicate that about half of ALS patients are subject to some level of cognitive dysfunction, while a subset of these individuals have FTD as defined by the Neary criteria (34).

Primary lateral sclerosis is much rarer than ALS, and for this reason the neuropsychological changes remain largely undefined and excluded from the clinical syndrome until recently. The recent recognition of cognitive changes occurring in ALS has helped to refocus the topic on PLS due to the numerous overlapping features of the two diseases. In their seminal paper describing clinical features and diagnoses criteria, Pringle et al (1991) found that psuedobulbar affect occurred in some patients, but without a detailed assessment of neuropsychological changes all patients were regarded as

cognitively intact. Subsequent studies began to note cognitive dysfunction as "intellectual impairment with preservation and disorientations" without administering any detailed neuropsychological assessment (36).

To date there exist only three studies that systematically assessed the neuropsychological element of PLS. The first was a relatively small study by Caselli et al (1995) that reported cognitive impairment observed by neuropsychological tests (NT) sensitive to frontal lobe function and memory. These results were substantiated in a larger cohort of 20 PLS, of which 16 had significantly more errors in frontal lobe and/or premotor functions when compared with age- and education-matched controls (17). The neuropsychological abnormalities were considered moderate in all cases with no individuals considered for dementia. The latest assessment of cognition in PLS by Piqaurd and colleagues (2006) has provided the most detailed assessment to date (37), with the pattern and incidence of impairment similar to that of ALS. It was found that 17 of 20 patients had premotor and/or prefrontal deficits, although none was considered demented.

The present studies on cognition in ALS and PLS indicate that there are many commonalities in the cognitive profile of the two diseases. Both have apparent deficits in the frontotemporal region, which are associated with executive dysfunction, albeit much less pronounced or severe in the PLS subtype. Dementia is not reported as part of the clinical syndrome of PLS in the literature; in contrast, the incidence rate of dementia for ALS is ~15%.

1.2.2 Longitudinal Assessment of Cognition

The aforementioned studies have determined the level of cognitive impairment at different time points of MND and established that a spectrum of dysfunction is present. However, longitudinal data is a necessity to determine if cognition, like motor function, in MND is susceptible to rapid decline with disease progression. Understanding this facet of disease will provide a more complete knowledge of the underlying pathology and determine if all patients are predisposed to cognitive dysfunction. Furthermore, biomarkers may be unveiled in patients who present with intact cognition but progress to cognitive impairment at the late stages of disease, to help predict cognitive decline and targeted treatment for such a disorder.

A paucity of longitudinal studies assessing cognitive decline in ALS is attributed to patient recruitment problems and high attrition rates (25, 38). Recent studies have found that rate of cognitive decline in ALS was dramatically different from that of progression of other facets of the disease. A large longitudinal study assessing cognitive function in 52 patients found that cognition was impaired early in the disease but it did not substantially decline with disease duration but maintained a more stable course than motor function (38). Patients were studied at baseline and followed up every 4 months for the next year and if possible at 18 months post baseline. These results were corroborated by the work of Kilani et al (2004) who described no progression of cognitive impairment over a 12 month study period (25). As a caveat, the lack of progression documented in these studies may be due to late recruitment of patients. Early recruitment of patients may detect early cognitive changes that would have been missed if patients were not studied at the time of onset (39). Furthermore, Robinson et al (2006) found deterioration of cognitive performance measured over a six month time period, with 7 of 19 subjects showing progression of abnormal cognitive performance. Furthermore, the authors of this study speculate that if followed for a longer duration the 12 subjects who remained stable over six months may in fact progress to cognitive impairment and possibly FTD. All measured cognitive deficits at any time point in the above longitudinal studies were frontotemporal in nature and confined to mild changes, with no patient being classified as demented. These studies represent a starting point for further longitudinal investigation and provide important information on recruitment and duration of follow up studies.

1.3 MEDICAL IMAGING IN MND

Raised awareness of cognitive deficits and cortical abnormalities in MND, together with the advent of advanced imaging, have provided the opportunity to develop more specific imaging techniques to study these changes *in vivo*. Imaging studies are important in developing a better understanding of the progression and pathology of MND because not only does it have the ability to detect changes at multiple time points in the same patient, imaging studies also provide a correlate for histopathology.

1.3.1 Magnetic Resonance Imaging

Histopathology of disease is an end-stage measurement and gives no indication of how disease progresses. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is a powerful imaging modality capable of examining structure and function *in vivo* with proven diagnostic value. In the past, MRI was used for indirect diagnosis by eliminating pathologies that mimic MND. However, recent advances in MRI technology have broadened its use and it is now routinely used in research studies to identify *in vivo* UMN dysfunction. Upper motor neuron markers are important to improve diagnostic certainty, expedite treatment and provide more timely access to clinical trials.

1.3.1.1 Anatomical Imaging

Anatomical studies used to be performed with computed tomography (CT) to assess gross structural changes occurring in the brain. This technique eventually gave way to the use of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) because of its superior soft tissue contrast allowing precise anatomical localization of atrophy. Another important advancement is the development of 3D image registration methods to align an individual patient's anatomy to standard brain atlases (40, 41).

Whether brain atrophy exists in patients with ALS and PLS and if so to what extent is controversial due to the high variability in neuroimaging results (42). Historical accounts of atrophy in the precentral gyrus in PLS patients was identified indirectly by enlargement of the adjacent central sulcus (13, 43) and were found to be associated with disease duration (44, 45). However, with modern imaging techniques atrophy is now more easily visualized in ALS (46) and is associated with cognitive impairment (35), as is evidenced in Parkinsonism-dementia complex with similar frontotemporal impairments (47).

Regional atrophy is inconsistently reported upon routine visual inspection of T2- and proton-weighted MRI images. In the presence of overt FTD, atrophy of the frontotemporal region is a well described hallmark of the disease (48), and is consistently

reported in ALS with FTD (ALS/FTD) (5, 49). However, in ALS without comorbid FTD, there are disparate reports of the presence and extent of atrophy (50, 51). The inconsistency arises in accurately visualizing atrophy in patients with minimal or no cognitive change. Recent advances in MRI, specifically voxel-based morphometry (VBM), have reduced the operator dependence in determining areas of tissue change. VBM is a fully automated, operator-independent whole brain image analysis technique that analyzes grey and white matter densities of individual voxels of MRI scans. This voxel-wise comparison uses standardized parametric statistics to compare differences in patient groups with a known normal data base, thus eliminating any *a priori* hypothesis about the locations of differences (52).

The association of atrophy with cognitive impairment has recently been challenged in an eloquent MRI study by Chang et al (2005). Using a voxel-based MRI method to study morphological patterns of brain atrophy in cognitively normal ALS and ALS/FTD they found that both groups had common patterns of grey matter atrophy when compared with controls (49). The changes were observed to be widespread throughout the grey matter of the frontotemporal region, specifically the motor, premotor, prefrontal and temporal cortices. More pronounced atrophy existed in the ALS/FTD patient group, particularly in the left hemisphere. A corroborative study found similar patterns of grey matter change, but no white matter differences in patients without "overt signs of cognitive impairment" as assessed by subjective observation with no formal NT assessment (42). Furthermore the authors concluded that white matter changes may not have been evident because the patients were only mildly affected by the disease, but the presence of grey matter changes may indicate structural changes occurring prior to functional changes. In contrast to the Chang et al study showing the sparing of white matter early in disease, a recent study has described changes in white matter in patients without cognitive dysfunction (53). This study tested for mild cognitive impairment to exclude demented patients and select unimpaired (ALSu) and impaired (ALSi) patients. Upon visual inspection there were no differences in atrophy between either of the two groups and controls. When VBM was performed, white matter densities in the two ALS groups were similar in all regions but different from those in controls, with changes in ALSu being less extensive, indicating the presence of a continuum of changes is white matter densities. Most importantly, this study indicated the presence of structural changes in extramotor areas before the onset of cognitive dysfunction, whereas other studies have indicated similar finding in non-demented ALS patients but have not formally tested for subtle cognitive change (54, 55).

The introduction of advanced imaging techniques such as VBM have further characterized frontal lobar atrophy in patients with ALS/FTD and laid the ground work for investigations into non-motor structural changes. Methodological differences had resulted in discrepant structural changes in the motor and non-motor areas in early studies. These differences include first, variable criteria to discern mild cognitive impaired from cognitively-intact ALS patients (28, 56); second, structural changes are not assessed with the more reproducible volumetric quantification techniques (56). More recent studies have used VBM to uncover covert structural changes in patients who are either cognitively intact or mildly cognitively impaired (53). This technique has found similar patterns of changes that were present early in cognitively normal ALS and became exacerbated as the disease progressed to FTD (49, 53). The structural changes in

extramotor areas in the absence of cognitive dysfunction may indicate the existence of a continuum in pathology associated with worsening cognitive impairment before clinical signs become evident.

Heterogeneity in atrophy may also result from the differing genetic background of patients. fALS patients, specifically those with the homozygous D90A mutation of SOD1, had less volume loss in the motor cortex but significantly greater reductions bilaterally in the anteromedial frontal lobes when compared to sALS (57). Another reason for the differing patterns of cortical atrophy is differing neuronal vulnerability, which further complicates the phenotype expressed in ALS. It can be argued that results of neuroimaging studies will be more accurate and reproducible if ALS patient groups are stratified based on familial versus non-familial backgrounds, the presence or degree of cognitive impairment and the severity of disease.

Furthermore, MRI has been proven useful for detecting CST changes implicated in ALS. The CST neurons arise from pyramidal cells in the cerebral cortex and transmit nerve impulses from the motor area to the spinal cord to initiate precise movements of voluntary skeletal muscles. Changes in the CST are visualized by MRI as areas of hyperintense signal on T2-weighted and fluid-attenuated inversion-recovery (FLAIR) images and are reported most often in the posterior limb of the internal capsule (58). However, this form of MRI is qualitative and has been shown to have low sensitivity and specificity for detecting UMN involvement in ALS (51, 59), thus CST changes have been investigated with alternate advanced quantitative MRI techniques as described in the next section.

1.3.1.2 Diffusion Tensor Imaging

The degeneration of UMN tracts in ALS involves the primary motor and premotor cortex, resulting in degeneration of the associated motor fibre bundles and gliosis along the CST. Degeneration of nerve fibre tracts (white matter) can be assessed using an MRI method known as diffusion tensor imaging (DTI). The premise of DTI is that in an intact nerve fibre bundle, diffusion is limited by anatomic structures to be in the same direction as the fibre tract, but when the fibre is damaged, motion of water is less restricted and it may diffuse freely in multiple directions. DTI visualizes the overall orientation of fibre tracts and their integrity by measuring the preferred direction of water diffusion (60). Voxels are assigned values ranging from 0 to 1 and the value represents the ratio of diffusivity along the direction of fibres compared to across them. The ratio is known as fractional anisotropy (FA). An FA value of 1 implies a single anisotropic dominant direction of diffusion or an intact fibre tract whereas a value of 0 implies an isotropic or lack of directional dependence of the diffusion coefficients or a damaged fibre tract. A second diffusion parameter measured with MRI is the apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC). The ADC is a measure of the directionally averaged magnitude of diffusion and relates to the regional integrity of brain tissue, whereas FA reflects the degree of alignment of cellular structures (58). Thus, changes in tissue structure can be assessed with DTI and ADC which examine the changes of diffusion characteristics of water.

Since a primary hallmark of ALS and PLS is CST degeneration, many studies have focused on *in vivo* methods for monitoring these changes. The use of DTI for *in vivo* investigation of nerve fibre tract pathology has shown promising results in the

detection of lesions in ALS. Within the CST, most DTI studies generally focus on pathology incorporating the posterior limb of the internal capsule (PLIC) (61-66), cerebral peduncle (61, 65), corona radiata (64, 67) and the pons and pyramids (64, 65). Measurement of FA consistently shows alteration of diffusion properties in the PLIC in all reported studies. The PLIC contains CST fibres that are very tightly packed and aligned in a single direction, unlike areas of the pons and medulla that have transverse fibres as well as nuclei and roots of cranial nerves associated with them (58). The diffusion anisotropy is very high in the internal capsule due to its inherent structural characteristics, thus when tissue integrity is lost it may be easier to measure the defect against the normal background. A study of 31 patients with ALS measured changes in FA within the CST and the extramotor white matter and documented widespread changes in all regions measured in the CST (68). Furthermore, FA reductions in this study were restricted to the CST, as all extramotor white matter areas had FA within normal limits.

DTI provides the opportunity to assess changes of the CST *in vivo* and possibly provides an indirect marker of disease progression. Measurement of decreased FA in the CST is associated with disease severity and increasing UMN involvement as assessed with UMN tests specific to neurological impairment (61, 62, 68). One study found that FA in the PLIC had a good sensitivity of 95% but a poor specificity of 71% in detecting patients with ALS (63). DTI may be most useful as a quantitative technique for monitoring progression of UMN pathology since it can detect changes in FA in patients without clinical signs of UMN involvement.

1.3.1.3 Proton Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy

Unlike conventional MR images that essentially represent the spatial distribution of water protons and their relaxation properties after the excitation with a radiofrequency pulse, magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) is based on the behaviour of protons and other nuclei (phosphorous and carbon) in different metabolites within the brain, which exist at much lower concentrations than water (1-10mM vs 70mM) (69). Typically, proton MRS studies in MND focus on three metabolites in the brain; Nacetylaspartate (NAA), choline (Cho), and creatine/phosphocreatine (Cr). The function of NAA in the brain has not been fully determined, but is known to be exclusively localized to neurons and their processes in the adult human brain (51). Cho and Cr are present in all brain cells and are functionally important to the phospholipid membrane and energy metabolism, respectively (50). Because NAA is localized specifically to neurons, it is considered to act as an in vivo marker for neuronal loss and/or viability, which occurs in MND. Metabolic measurements can be expressed as absolute units reflecting concentration, or as part of a ratio which normalizes the concentration to an internal reference. For MND, NAA is commonly assessed based on a regional NAA/Cr. Cr is chosen as the denominator because its components are in chemical equilibrium, which is expected to be unaffected by neurodegenerative disease processes.

MRS is commonly employed in ALS and PLS to examine degeneration of the motor neurons of the motor cortex, brain stem and spinal cord, with the CST being the main fibre tract commonly examined. The first description of altered NAA/Cr in patients with ALS was published by Pioro et al. (1994). They showed that the NAA/Cr ratio was decreased most prominently in the motor cortex and to a lesser extent in both the
premotor area and primary sensory cortex (70). Decreased NAA was postulated to reflect loss or dysfunction of motor neurons and put forth as a marker for progression of UMN involvement in disease. To this end, longitudinal studies have attempted to determine the relationship between disease progression and metabolite concentrations, but have provided conflicting results. Mitsumoto and colleagues (2007) found significant decreases in NAA concentration of the primary motor cortex in ALS and PLS when compared to controls at baseline measurements, but did not find significant progression with time, possibly due to the delay of baseline measurements from the time of diagnosis (24 months) (71). Conversely, other studies have well described progression of metabolic concentrations throughout the course of disease (72, 73). Unrath et al (2007) recently described significant NAA decline in bilateral motor cortices over a six month period with changes as early as 3 months from baseline (73). These results were corroborated at 3 months from baseline in a similar study, but found that no changes prior to this time point (73). Further examination into white matter and other metabolites (myoinositol, glutamate, and glutamine) provided no significant differences from controls at any time point.

Thus, MRS may be clinically useful in detecting UMN involvement and evaluating its progression. Despite differences in methodology, techniques and patient cohorts, UMN involvement is associated with decreased NAA, both as an absolute and relative measurement. Furthermore, with increasing MRI field strengths becoming clinically available, increased efficacy in monitoring disease progression, pathogenesis and possibly treatment can be expected. Although most studies have been successful in

determining differences in the primary motor cortex, few have focused on changes in extramotor areas including the occipital, frontal and parietal cortex (70, 74, 75).

Given the paucity of literature concerning extramotor involvement, further detailed examination is warranted. Investigation with MRS may help unveil some underlying pathology and perhaps provide an early indicator contributing to the etiology of the disease. In particular, it is of interest to determine if cognitive change in MND is associated with perfusion and neuronal deficits and to determine their temporal relationship.

1.3.2 Nuclear Medicine Imaging

Nuclear medicine imaging makes use of radiopharmaceuticals, which are radioactively labelled pharmaceuticals, to assess cellular and subcellular function in the body. Nuclear medicine, in particular positron emission tomography (PET), has been used extensively to describe the spectrum of pathological and functional change in ALS including metabolic deficits (76, 77), neuronal loss (78-84), microglial activation (85), and perfusion studies both at rest (86-88) and during activation (2, 89-92). Furthermore, single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) has also been used, predominately for investigation of cerebral perfusion abnormalities in MND (47, 93-102). Thus, nuclear medicine techniques provide a wide range of diagnostic applications to unveil pathological and functional abnormalities in perfusion, metabolism and neuroglial populations.

1.3.2.1 Neuroglial Imaging

Although the pathogenesis of ALS remains unclear, it is now recognized to be a multisystem disorder incorporating both motor and extramotor regions of the brain. The use of radio-labelled analogues of biological molecules permits the study of specific cell populations by targeting their receptors in vivo. Since degeneration of pyramidal cells is a hallmark of ALS, the 5-hydroxytryptamine $(5-HT_{1A})$ receptors on this cell type are specifically targeted with the PET ligand [¹¹C]-WAY100635 to provide a detailed account of this cell population. Reductions in pyramidal cell counts have been described in ALS using statistical parametric mapping (SPM) in conjunction with this technique, greatest differences in the frontotemporal regions, cingulate and lateral with the precentral gyri (82). Interestingly, changes were not limited to this area but were diffusely distributed throughout the cortex in agreement with other imaging studies (85, 86, 95, 103). It was postulated that widespread reductions in 5-HT_{1A} receptor binding reflects damage to the cortical pyramidal neurons, although further investigation would be needed to determine that a functional change in receptor binding was not the cause instead.

Further investigation of pyramidal cell and interneuron loss has been interrogated by targeting the gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA_A) receptor, which is widely expressed throughout the cortex, with the PET ligand [11 C]-flumazenil (FMZ). Decreased FMZ binding occurred globally throughout the cortex, with the most striking difference in areas away from the motor cortex (78). Decreased FMZ binding in the prefrontal cortex where pyramidal cells are sparse may reflect interneuronal dysfunction. In a related study, significantly decreased FMZ binding in the frontotemporal region was

associated with executive dysfunction (84), indicating that neuronal dysfunction is related to cognitive decline.

Another pathological feature implicated in ALS is activation of microglia in the wake of dying or dysfunctional neurons. PET can exploit this pathology using the radioligand PK1195 that binds specifically to the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor expressed in the central nervous system in activated, but not resting, microglia (85). Activated microglia were present throughout the cortical and deep grey matter structures of the brain in the absence of any extramotor symptoms, indicating that pathological change may occur before clinical manifestations of extramotor areas are detectable.

Positron emission tomography has provided a fundamental description of neuronal and glial involvement in ALS and PLS patients *in vivo*. With increasing knowledge of cell biology and pathology implicated in these diseases, along with the introduction of novel radiolabelled tracers, PET imaging will continue to provide important markers of disease progression and perhaps aid in determining drug efficacy in future therapeutic trials.

1.3.2.2 Activation Imaging

The premise behind activation imaging is that neuronal activity can be indirectly assessed by measuring the blood flow increases from baseline during an activation task (104). Activation imaging has been used to determine the relationship between impairment in cognitive or motor tasks and abnormal areas of the cortex in ALS. Using a random movement joystick task, ALS patients impaired on verbal fluency tests displayed, as expected, marked activation of the sensorimotor cortex in the hand and arm area on the contralateral side. Additionally, unexpected activation in the contralateral face area and adjacent non-motor cortical regions (91, 92) may suggest accessory non-specific sensorimotor area recruitment in response to limb weakness (2). When ALS patients are compared to patients with exclusive LMN involvement, ALS patients exhibit reduced rCBF at rest in addition to abnormal bilateral activation patterns. Since the distinguishing characteristic between these groups was UMN involvement in ALS, reductions in rCBF may indicate a loss of pyramidal cells in the cortex of ALS (2).

Activation imaging with PET has shown an association between cognitive involvement and decreased CBF using activation tasks specific to the areas of impairment. A study of non-demented ALS patients with deficits on the Written Verbal Word Fluency test had reduced activation of PET measured CBF in prefrontal cortex when performing a verbal (letter) fluency test (89). Although not clinically demented, rCBF abnormalities were present in patients impaired on letter fluency measures when compared with unimpaired ALS patients and healthy controls. Thus, the use of activation paradigms sensitive to executive dysfunction, namely verbal fluency, in ALS has described decreased CBF activation in frontal, limbic, and anterior thalamic regions associated with cognitive dysfunction (51, 89, 91).

In conclusion, activation paradigms coupled with PET measurement of CBF have found extramotor abnormalities in demented and non-demented ALS patients with executive dysfunction when compared to controls or unimpaired ALS patients. Recently, advanced functional MRI (fMRI) techniques have corroborated these results with the added benefit of increased resolution for accurate localization of brain structures (103). Together, these data demonstrate abnormal function in the extramotor cortex that is

related to the level of cognitive impairment, and in the motor cortex as evidenced by abnormal CBF response to motor activation tasks.

1.3.2.3 Metabolic Imaging

Positron emission tomography utilizes a [¹⁸F] labelled glucose analogue, [¹⁸F]fluro-2-deoxy-D-glucose (FDG), to assess regional cerebral metabolic rate of glucose (rCMRGlu). The [¹⁸F] labelled glucose analogue is transported into cells by glucose transporters and phosphorylated by hexokinase into [¹⁸F]-2-DG-phosphate. The phosphate version of FDG cannot be metabolized further and accumulates intracellularly. Accumulation of this tracer is detected as it releases positrons in the decay process, which annihilate with electrons to produce two high energy (0.51 MeV) gamma photons which in turn can be detected by a PET scanner.

The original PET FDG study of ALS found with repeat scans over time an association between worsening clinical presentation and decreasing CMRGlu throughout the cortex in 3 of 4 patients (76). Further investigation provided evidence for reduced rCMRGlu in the motor-sensory cortex of ALS associated with UMN degeneration (77). These studies provided the foundation for further metabolic investigation into extramotor involvement and associated cognitive dysfunction. It has been shown that ALS patients with mild cognitive impairment characterized by executive dysfunction have impaired glucose metabolism throughout the cortex and subcortical structures (86). In particular, hypometabolism in the right thalamus and left caudate nucleus were correlated with mild neuropsychological deficits based on word fluency tests. Increased level of impairment in ALS patients with progressive dementia is associated with decreased CMRGlu in all

four cortical regions, but not the cerebellum, when compared with non-demented ALS and controls (87, 88). Reductions in metabolism were noted in non-demented ALS patients as subtle global cortical changes (88), with only the sensorimotor cortex being significantly reduced when compared with controls (87).

Thus, changes in metabolism have been documented in patients with ALS using PET with [¹⁸F]- FDG. Hypometabolism in ALS is associated with motor and cognitive dysfunction and can be an indicator for the severity of the respective dysfunction. More importantly, the aforementioned studies provide confirmation that like the progression of motor disturbances, cognitive decline is a continuum as evidenced by similar and worsening pattern of CMRGlu among unimpaired, mildly impaired and demented ALS patients.

1.3.2.4 Perfusion Imaging

Single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) has been applied to study cortical perfusion changes associated with motor and cognitive decline in ALS. Changes in cortical perfusion have been associated with UMN involvement and motor dysfunction as rated by the ALSFRS-R or other neurological tests reflective of UMN function. In a recent study of 55 non-demented ALS patients, hypoperfusion in the motor cortex demonstrated a significant correlation with motor dysfunction and was found to be asymmetrically distributed, mainly affecting the right insular cortex and the pre-motor areas (102). However, given the well established coupling between brain function, metabolism and perfusion under steady state conditions (87, 105, 106), the focus of this

thesis will continue to build on the existing literature describing the relationship between cognitive patterns and cerebral perfusion.

The comorbid presentation of FTD and ALS is characterized by a reduction in frontotemporal perfusion (96, 100). However, akin to hypometabolism, hypoperfusion in non-demented individuals with ALS is also evident in this region (47), further arguing for the presence of a continuum towards dementia (99). An eloquent study by Waldemar et al (1992) presented one of the first systematic descriptions of differences in perfusion based on the presence or absence of dementia (94). First, the whole cohort of ALS patients was compared with normal controls and a global reduction in cerebral perfusion was present in the ALS group, with prominent reductions in the frontal cortex, subcortical white matter and hippocampus. Next, assessment of individual SPECT data determined that 8 of 14 patients had abnormal rCBF distribution maps. Of the 8 patients with abnormal rCBF, 3 were demented, yet no patient with a normal rCBF distribution map was demented. Thus, it seems possible to differentiate between demented and nondemented groups based on abnormal patterns of rCBF. The authors note that of the 8 patients with abnormal maps, the 5 non-demented patients also displayed no mild cognitive impairment, although no specific testing for frontal lobe dysfunction was Thus, without the use of testing paradigms sensitive to executive performed. dysfunction, one cannot state with certainty that the 5 remaining patients with abnormal rCBF distribution maps were not mildly cognitively impaired. As discussed above, perfusion deficits in the extramotor area were extensive and have been documented to occur in the absence of dementia (88, 93, 98).

Perfusion imaging with SPECT has provided fundamental evidence for functional changes in ALS with and without dementia. Perfusion deficits are widespread and are associated with changes in motor and cognitive function in their respective areas of the cortex. Future work is warranted to determine the temporal profile of perfusion deficits with respect to onset of disease, as well as the association between severity of perfusion deficits and cognitive impairment.

1.3.3 Advanced Computed Tomography Imaging

Historically, computed tomography (CT) imaging was used for anatomical scans in ALS to determine the extent of atrophy, but quickly lost ground to MRI with its exquisite soft tissue contrast. CT imaging for perfusion has been relatively underutilized in ALS despite its ability to perform rapid, high resolution measurements of CBF, CBV and MTT in cortical and deep subcortical structures without the need for radioactive tracers.

Xenon enhanced CT (Xe/CT) uses stable xenon gas as a diffusible tracer and as an x-ray contrast agent because its linear attenuation coefficient is similar to iodine. The gas is inhaled, dissolves in blood in the lungs, is transported to the brain via blood flow, and diffuses rapidly into the parenchyma. A Xe/CT study involves continuous inhalation of xenon (25-30% balance oxygen) to establish a steady (saturation) state in the brain before switching to room air and the desaturation phase ensues (107). Xenon concentration in a brain region is then estimated by CT scanning, as the concentration is proportional to the attenuation of x-rays passing through that region. The arterial concentration of xenon is estimated from the end-tidal concentration. The brain and blood (arterial) concentration vs time curves are then used in conjunction with the Kety equation to calculate regional cerebral blood flow (97). Kobari et al (1996) used this method to describe perfusion deficits in the frontal cortex of ALS patients with UMN dysfunction, which are in agreement with previously mentioned studies using PET and SPECT. Moreover, the frontal cortex was assessed on a regional basis and it was found that only the upper part of the posterolateral frontal cortex was reduced in ALS with UMN dysfunction when compared to ALS in the absence of UMN signs (97). Therefore, motor neuron involvement was aptly described by perfusion changes using the Xe/CT technique.

CT Perfusion (CTP) imaging is another method for measuring perfusion with a CT scanner and is the method utilized for the studies conducted in this thesis. Unlike Xe inhalation, the tracer used is ordinary iodinated x-ray contrast agent and is injected into a peripheral vein. The principle of this technique relies on the assumptions that the tracer is uniformly mixed with blood and that enhancement (increase in CT number from baseline, that is, before contrast arrival) in a brain region or blood vessel is proportional to the tracer (contrast) concentration (108). Once the tracer is injected, the scanner operates in cine mode whereby the couch remains stationary and the preselected slice location(s) of the brain is(are) scanned continuously to monitor the passage of the bolus of tracer through the brain. The passage of the tracer is made up of three distinct phases. The first phase is the baseline before the arrival of tracer, which establishes a background level of attenuation of the brain in CT number. The second phase begins at the arrival of the bolus of tracer at the brain and lasts until the start of the washout period. The third and final phase is the completion of the washout of tracer and a return toward baseline

levels of attenuation. For the purpose of this thesis, a four-slice CT scanner was used; thus a series of images covering 4 slices over a 2cm segment of the brain is produced. This image set was then transferred to a workstation for processing to calculate quantitative CBF, CBV, and MTT parametric maps.

Parametric maps are calculated on a GE workstation (GE Healthcare) using proprietary software (CT Perfusion, GE Healthcare) that uses a deconvolution method for the calculation. There are two sets of data in the raw dataset; the arterial and the tissue time vs enhancement curve (TDC) (Figure 1.1). As discussed before, enhancement is the increase in attenuation of x-rays in a brain region or blood vessel due to the presence of the iodinated contrast agent and is measured in CT numbers. The arterial and tissue time



FIGURE 1.1: Sample IRF and Arterial and Tissue Time-Density Curves (TDC).

vs enhancement curves are deconvolved to determine the blood flow scaled impulse residue function (IRF) (109). The IRF models the passage of a tracer (contrast) bolus of unity mass delivered to the brain instantaneously via the arterial input and has the general shape shown in Figure 1.1. The IRF rises instantaneously to a height of unity since the bolus of contrast is assumed to be delivered to the tissue instantaneously. After the initial rise, the IRF maintains a plateau of unity height for a period which is the minimum time for the tracer to traverse the capillary network. The plateau region is followed by a washout phase towards baseline when the tracer (contrast) exits the brain region with blood flow. The height of the blood flow scaled IRF is equal to CBF and the area is CBV. MTT is then determined from the Central Volume Principle which relates the parameters by the equation: MTT = CBV/CBF (110). The above described calculation is repeated for every region of the brain to produce parametric maps for all three parameters.

The cerebral arteries used for measuring the arterial time vs enhancement curve or arterial input function (AIF) are usually smaller than the resolving power of the scanner. Because of averaging of the true arterial enhancement with those of the surrounding pixels – partial volume averaging effect (108), the AIF will be underestimated. Partial volume averaging of the AIF is corrected by multiplying the AIF by the ratio of the area under the time vs enhancement curve for the sagittal sinus to that of the AIF, on the assumption that the sagittal sinus is larger than the resolving power of the CT scanner. The corrected AIF is then deconvolved with the individual TDC from each voxel for the calculation of the CBF, CBV and MTT parametric maps.

1.4 NEUROVASCULAR UNIT

Normal brain functioning requires a supply of oxygen and nutrients in a temporally and spatially correlated manner with respect to brain activity, a process known as neurovascular coupling. Neurovascular coupling is achieved through intercellular communication between neurons, astrocytes and blood vessels, which are functionally coupled and collectively comprise the neurovascular unit (NVU). The NVU forms where the pial arteries penetrate deeply enough into the brain that the Virchow-Robin space disappears, allowing the basement membrane of the arteriole to physically contact the astrocytic endfeet (111). Although CBF may be regulated by the individual elements of the NVU, cerebrovascular tone is most often maintained through the concerted action of the elements comprising the NVU.

1.4.1 The Astrocyte

Historically, astrocytes have been viewed as non-excitable structural cells with menial function. Astrocytes were originally described by Virchow as 'brain glue' that provided the structural scaffold of the brain (112). However, knowledge of this cell has evolved and is now widely accepted as the integral element physically bridging communication between the neuron and blood vessel (113). Astrocytes outnumber neurons in the brain 10:1, occupy up to 50% of the brain volume, and each cell has a distinct spatial domain with its processes contacting other astrocytes, neuronal synapses and blood vessels (114). These specialized cells are also responsible for controlling other non-neuronal brain cells during development and injury (112). This non-neuronal communication includes the release of chemokines that activate receptors on other cells

to signal the attraction and spatial positioning of microglia and lymphocytes during inflammatory reactions and after injury (115, 116). This may be especially pertinent when studying MND, as astrocytes are activated during neurodegeneration. In the context of this thesis, astrocytes will be reviewed with attention to their contribution to perfusion and metabolic coupling to neuronal activity.

1.4.1.1 Astrocytes in Neurovascular Coupling

Because of their anatomical attributes and proximity to contractile elements of blood vessels, astrocytes are well poised to contribute to the regulation of cerebral blood flow. Astrocytes occupy distinct spatial domains with very little overlap and thus are anatomically endowed to ransducer signal to multiple other cellular elements (112). The dentritic processes (>100,000) communicate with other astrocytes forming a syncytium for signal relay, as well as with neuronal synapses to sense brain activity (112, 117). Each astrocyte has at least one endfoot process that terminates on a blood vessel, allowing communication of signal and regulation blood flow in the wake of neuronal activity. Significant evidence has mounted over the last decade describing this new regulatory role for astrocytes. The seminal paper by Zonta et al (2003) described calcium (Ca²⁺) wave oscillations in astrocytic endfeet and postulated a neuronal trigger for this phenomenon. More specifically, experimentation described a response to neuronally released glutamate which bound to metabotropic glutamate receptors on the astrocyte. The coupling of this receptor to a G-protein complex causes a signalling cascade that terminates in an intracellular rise of astrocytic Ca²⁺. With increasing stimulus strength, these waves propagate away from the soma and into astrocytic endfeet that abut on a

microvessel, in the case of this study causing temporally and spatially related Contrary to these findings, Mulligan and MacVicar (2004) vasodilation (118). documented the opposite vascular response to increased intracellular Ca²⁺ in a more temporally related manner than previously shown (119). They proposed that Ca^{2+} elevations activated the mobilization of an arachidonic acid (AA) pathway that ultimately causes constriction by depolarizing the smooth muscle cells of the vessel wall. Both studies determined that the astrocyte was capable of transmitting signal from the neuronal synapse to the vasculature to influence vascular tone, but had inconsistent results most likely due to differences in experimental methodology. Further experimentation was performed in vivo and demonstrated the role of astrocytes in functional hyperemia by photolysis of caged Ca^{2+} (120). Uncaging of Ca^{2+} in the astrocytic endfeet caused a rapid vasodilation which was blocked by cyclooxygenase inhibitors, but again no vasoconstriction was found. Identifying the mechanism for the dichotomous vasomotor response reported in the literature was first described in an eloquent study by Metea et al (2006). It determined that the type of vasomotor response was influenced by the level of nitric oxide, a mechanism that may modulate the production of different arachidonic acid metabolites (121). Other vasogenic factors released from astrocytes that are implicated in the regulation of cerebrovascular tone include potassium (K^+) and prostaglandins (118, 122, 123).

1.4.1.2 Astrocytes in Neurometabolic Coupling

Much akin to neurovascular coupling, astrocytes also play a critical role in neurometabolic coupling to ensure that the delivery of metabolic substrates reflects the

level of neuronal activity. Astrocytes surround the neuronal synapse and actively sequester glutamate, the main excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain, from the synaptic cleft to maintain the synaptic functioning of the neuron. Clearance of glutamate by the astrocytes is accomplished through two main mechanisms. First, glutamate can bind to a metabotropic glutamate receptor which is coupled to a G-protein complex causing increased intracellular Ca^{2+} as described above, which in turn activates the mobilization and metabolism of arachidonic acid into different vasoactive compounds. Secondly, the majority of glutamate is sequestered into the astrocytes by excitatory amino acid transporters (EAAT) through the co-transport of 3 sodium ions (Na⁺) (124). The co-transported Na⁺ stimulates aerobic glycolysis in astrocytes (125), in turn producing lactate that is shuttled to the activated neuron as the primary energy source (126). Thus, functioning as part of the neurovascular unit, the astrocyte is integral in sensing neuronal activity and integrating both a vascular and metabolic response.

1.4.2 The Blood Vessel

Cerebral blood vessels are unique from most other vessels in the body; endothelial cells lining the lumen form tight junctions to create the blood brain barrier. Intracerebral arterioles consist of endothelial and smooth muscle cells, and a basement membrane, all encapsulated by astrocytic endfeet and innervated by intrinsic neurons arising from the central nervous system. Arterioles become progressively smaller and evolve into capillaries with the smooth muscle cell being replaced by pericytes, the contractile element of capillaries (111). Smooth muscle cells modulate vasogenic tone in response to chemical and mechanical stimuli. Regulatory chemical signals originating from endothelial cells include the vasodilators NO, endothelial derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF), prostacyclin and prostaglandin E_2 and I_1 , and the vasoconstrictors endothelin 1, endothelial derived constricting factors, thromboxane A_2 and prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ (111, 127-130). Furthermore, the smooth muscle cells in the blood vessel also respond to vasoactive molecules released from the astrocytes as previously described. Thus, the vessel modulates vasomotor tone by integrating signals from mechanical stimuli caused by local hemodynamics, vasoactive mediators from the endothelium and signals transduced by the astrocyte from neuronal activity. A combination of these complex signals contributes to the resting tone of the vessel and to the vasoactive response to increased neuronal activity under physiologically normal conditions. Pathological conditions affecting any one of these components may lead to compromised neurovascular coupling.

1.4.3 The Perivascular Nerves

Blood vessels located within the brain at the level of the NVU are innervated by intrinsic neurons arising from both subcortical pathways and interneurons (111). Perivascular nerves terminate within one micrometre of the vessel and act directly on the vessel or indirectly through the astrocytic endfoot as part of the NVU (131). Thus, neurotransmitters released from activated perivascular neurons may interact with receptors on either astrocytes or directly with the cells of the vasculature.

The subcortical vasoactive pathways originate from structures deep within the brain in the nucleus basalis, locus coeruleus, or raphe nucleus and contain acetycholine (ACh), norepinephrine (NE) or serotonin, respectively (131). Electrical or chemical

stimulation of these structures can elicit both an increase and decrease in cortical CBF. Furthermore, anatomical studies have found that projections from these structures terminate perivascularly, with receptors for ACh, NE and serotonin present on both smooth muscle cells and astrocytes. The presence of receptors on both cell types for said neuromodulators implicates that regulation of CBF may involve modulation of the signal by astrocytes. More specifically, projections from the basal forebrain neurons contain ACh and NO that increase cortical flow when stimulated and attenuate flow when pharmacologically inhibited or blocked. The receptors mediating this response have been identified as muscarinic M5 receptors (132, 133) and astrocytes have a multitude of muscarinic ACh receptors, further strengthening the argument that astrocytes are involved in modulating flow via neurochemical pathways.

Studying neural influence on cerebrovascular tone is difficult because many experimental preparations disrupt the neuronal tract of interest. The local interneurons present a unique way to study neurovascular coupling because brain slice preparations can be used without disruption of the neuronal tract. Brain slice preparations allow the study of single cell depolarization and simultaneous visualization of the associated vascular response. A subgroup of GABA interneurons has recently been studied and described to incite both a constrictive and dilative effect on local microvessels (134). Depending on the type of interneuron, they may release constrictive (somatostatin, GABA) or dilatory (vasoactive intestinal peptide, NO, ACh, GABA) factors. In keeping with the concept of neurovascular coupling, it is of interest that astrocytes, like endothelial and smooth muscle cells of the cortical microvessels, also express a multitude of receptors for these vasoactive agents (131, 134). Of further interest, interneurons are

not capable of producing upstream dilation due to the limited interconnectivity. However, since the majority of perivascular nerves terminate on astrocytic endfeet, and since there is a known functional syncytium of glia for transmitting signal upstream (135), interneuronal modulation of blood flow through the NVU is plausible.

1.4.4 Neurovascular Coupling

Recent advances in imaging and knowledge of the cellular biology have provided insight into our understanding of how cerebral perfusion and metabolism are regulated via inputs from the endothelium, neurons, and astrocytes. It is the close association of these elements that makes cerebral blood vessels unique from other vascular beds in the body, with the most distinctive feature being the spatial association between neurons and astrocytes (127). Collectively, these three elements regulate vascular tone as one functional unit through a series of complex interactions and maintain adequate perfusion and delivery of metabolic substrates even under normal conditions. Under disease conditions, neurovascular coupling is often disrupted because the disease may affect the functioning of one of the cell types of the NVU. Diseases that are known to disrupt neurovascular coupling include hypertension, Alzheimer's disease, ischemic stroke and hypercholesterolemia (127, 136).

1.5 CEREBRAL PERFUSION PRESSURE

Cerebral perfusion pressure is the net pressure gradient driving blood delivery to the brain and is estimated as the net difference between MAP and the intracranial pressure (ICP) (137-139). Clinically, when ICP is assumed to be within the normal physiological range, and since it is only obtained through invasive techniques, CPP is often estimated by the MAP (105). Under normal conditions when CPP is constant, any change in CBF is likely caused by an alteration in the cerebrovascular resistance (CR), which is the result of a change in vessel diameter as reflected by CBV. Thus, CBF is determined by the ratio of regional CPP (CPP) to regional cerebrovascular resistance (CR) (105), as denoted by Equation 1:

CBF = CPP/CR Equation 1.1

Under normal physiological conditions CBF is tightly regulated and remains relatively constant over a range of mean arterial pressures, a phenomenon known as autoregulation (138). Under pathological conditions causing perturbations in CPP, autoregulatory mechanisms are in place to maintain the oxygen and nutrient supply to the brain.

1.5.1 Normal CPP and Hemodynamics

Under normal conditions CPP, CBF and CBV are all tightly coupled with each other within the range of autoregulation (105). Normal values for hemodynamic and metabolic parameters of grey matter as measured by PET in humans are as follows (mean, range): CBF (50, 35-76 ml.100g⁻¹.min⁻¹), CBV (3.2, 2.2 -3.7 ml.100g⁻¹), cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen (CMRO₂) (3.3, 2.7 – 4.2 ml.100g⁻¹.min⁻¹), oxygen extraction fraction (OEF) (0.43, 0.27 – 0.67) (140).

1.5.2 Stages of Hemodynamic Compromise

Hemodynamic mechanisms for ensuring adequate delivery of nutrients are imperative to avert any potential damage to the brain under circumstances of decreased CPP. The brain is intricately designed to protect against ischemia, both morphologically and functionally. The architecture of the cerebral vasculature is such that many areas of the brain are perfused by collateral flow, a primary mechanism maintaining flow in regions compromised by occlusions or stenoses of vessels. The primary source of collateral flow comes from the vessels comprising the circle of Willis (141). Further compensation from secondary collateral flow arises from branches of the external carotid artery including the leptomeningeal and ophthalmic arteries (142). When collateral flow cannot compensate for decreases in perfusion pressure, functional mechanisms ensue, which will now be discussed.

1.5.2.1 Stage I: Autoregulation

In the normal human brain, autoregulation is a well accepted phenomenon. It can be defined as a regulatory mechanism for maintaining CBF at a constant level in the face of decreased CPP. Autoregulation operates over a wide range of MAP from 60 to 150 mmHg and fails outside of these limits (138, 139). The autoregulatory limits of MAP are often modulated by disease pathology, for example, chronic systemic hypertension may cause a shift towards a higher range of values. Furthermore, pathological states that cause local or global intracranial hypertension such as space occupying lesions or traumatic brain injury may also affect autoregulation either locally or globally. For the scope of this thesis, further review will focus on the lower limit of autoregulation when CPP is decreased below normal values.

Taking equation 1 into consideration, under conditions of decreased CPP, CBF is maintained only by a proportional change in CR facilitated by alterations in the CBV. Thus, when CPP begins to fall, CBV increases to decrease vascular resistance to maintain flow. Although CBF has been proposed to be maintained at a constant level throughout autoregulation (105), experimental data have shown otherwise (140, 143, 144). Within the limits of autoregulation, a 10% decrease in MAP produces slight decreases in CBF (2-7%), for a total decrease of 18% throughout the range (143, 143). Thus, compensation for these small changes in CBF throughout autoregulation are coupled with increases in OEF, albeit small, but adequate for maintaining normal oxygen metabolism (137). Studies of CBV with decreasing CPP have reported variable results which may be an indication of the complexity of the components comprising a measure of CBV. A measurement of CBV takes into account of arterial, capillary and venous compartments, as well as parenchymal and pial components (144). Historically, increases in CBV were well described and accepted within the autoregulatory plateau (105, 145, 146), however recent data suggests that increases in CBV may be much less pronounced or absent within this range (137, 147). It is possible that these discrepant results may be caused by differences in measurement techniques or experimental models. Furthermore, it has been proposed that within autoregulation the response to decreased CPP is inherently variable (144).

Thus, autoregulation most likely involves complex interactions of many physiological parameters to ensure normal oxygen metabolism. Decreases in CPP may cause small alterations in CBV while maintaining CBF near normal levels. Any residual decreases in CBF may be further compensated by increased OEF.

1.5.2.2 Stage II: Increased Oxygen Extraction Fraction

Beyond the lower limit of autoregulation, CBV may increase slightly (10-20%) (137, 147), stay elevated (145), or continue to increase resulting in a large magnitude of change (up to 150%) (146). Stage II is defined as the point at which changes in CBV can no longer compensate for decreases in CPP to maintain CBF and is passively decreasing with CPP. To maintain a supply of oxygen for metabolism, the brain increases the OEF in the face of decreased blood delivery (137). Thus, Stage II hemodynamic failure is marked by an exaggerated increase in OEF over that witnessed during autoregulation, and marked decreases in CBF, while CMRO₂ is maintained.

1.5.2.3 Stage III: CMRO₂ Compromise

Regulatory mechanisms ensure that $CMRO_2$ remains constant during Stage I and II of hemodynamic failure. Stage III is defined as the point at which the capacity for compensatory increases in CBV and OEF are exceeded and normal $CMRO_2$ is no longer maintained (105, 140, 144). Further reductions of CPP beyond this point will compromise $CMRO_2$ and metabolic failure will ensue leading to cellular death.

1.6 CEREBROVASCULAR RESERVE

The inherent structure and morphology of the brain is such that it maintains adequate levels of nutrient and oxygen delivery in the face of reduced perfusion pressure through the previously discussed mechanism of autoregulation. In autoregulation, vessels play a dynamic role in regulating blood delivery by reducing or increasing vascular resistance via dilation or constriction of resistance vessels. The intrinsic ability of the vessels to dilate and augment flow is known as the cerebrovascular reserve (CVR). However, there is a finite limit for reducing the cerebrovascular resistance, at which point CVR becomes exhausted with flow and nutrient delivery becoming compromised. The physiology of cerebrovascular reserve as a function of perfusion pressure is described in Figure 1.2. Assessing the status of the CVR gives an indication of the local CPP and describes areas of the brain at risk of ischemia.

1.6.1 Assessment of CVR

Understanding perfusion dynamics and the risk of hypoperfusion at the lower limit of autoregulation is clinically relevant in many diseases and is most pertinent to the research contained within this thesis. Even though reductions in CPP are characterized by changes in CBF and CBV, taking single measurements of these parameters to determine CPP status may not be the preferred approach due to the inherent measurement variability in CBF and CBV (150). There are two principal approaches for assessing the cerebral functioning along the CPP continuum with respect to cerebral perfusion. The first approach takes quantitative measures of oxygen extraction fraction (OEF), cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen (CMRO₂), and/or CBF with PET using ¹⁵O₂ and C¹⁵O₂ as the tracers. Areas with exhausted CVR will be identified by increased OEF and decreased CBF as compared with normal areas of the brain. The second method measures CVR by measuring the ratio of CBF (or CBV) at basal levels to that after the administration of a



FIGURE 1.2: Hemodynamic Response to Reductions in CPP. Illustration of hemodynamic and metabolic responses to progressive decreases in CPP, categorized as three stages of hemodynamic failure. Most investigations have found that CBV increases throughout the autoregulatory range (Stage I), with slight decreases in CBF causing compensatory increases in OEF to maintain CMRO₂. Furthermore, these small perturbations in CBV and CBF are translated into increases in MTT. Within Stage II (ischemia without infarction), MTT increases more rapidly with further increases in CBV and decreases in CBF. This stage is further marked by dramatic increases in OEF with maintenance of CMRO₂. Stage III, hemodynamic and metabolic failure, signified by decreasing CBV to near basal levels, complete dependence of CBF on CPP, continued exaggerated increases in MTT, and the collapse of OEF and CMRO₂. The behaviour of each parameter in Stage III is represented with dashed lines, as the proposed changes with CPP have yet to be experimentally validated.

*Adapted from Nemoto et al. (148) and Derdeyn (149)

physiological stimulus to ascertain information on CPP status and overcomes the previously stated variability of one-time measurements. Various vasoactive stimuli have been employed in the past to test CVR and include manipulation of blood pressure, CO_2 inhalation (151), breath holding and hyperventilation tests (152), and acetazolamide (ACZ) testing (153, 154). For the purpose of this thesis, the latter of the two methods will be discussed.

1.6.1.1 Acetazolamide: Vasoactive Stimulus for CVR Measurement

The mechanism by which ACZ incites a change in the cerebral vasculature is not completely known. ACZ is a reversible inhibitor of carbonic anhydrase, an enzyme found predominately in the erythrocytes, which catalyzes the following reaction (154):

$$CO_2 + H_2O = H_2CO_3 = H^+ + HCO_3^-$$
 Equation 1.2

It is commonly accepted that ACZ creates a metabolic disturbance through shifting the above chemical equilibrium to the left, causing an increase in CBF via increases in extracellular partial pressure of carbon dioxide (pCO_2) and decreases in extracellular pH and end-tidal pCO_2 (155-157). Vostrup et al (1989) proposed that these phenomena are explained by the fact that CO₂ and water produced by glycolysis are transformed into H⁺ and HCO₃⁻ by carbonic anhydrase located in the erythrocytes (158). Thus, if this enzyme is blocked by ACZ, the dissociation of carbonic acid into H⁺ and HCO₃⁻ is also blocked and carbonic acidosis results. Carbonic acid then easily crosses the erythrocyte membrane resulting in an increased extracellular level of carbonic acid, thus altering the extracellular pH and pCO₂. Furthermore, carbonic anhydrase in the lungs transforms H^+ and HCO₃⁻ back into water and CO₂, thus explaining decreases in end-tidal pCO₂ after the administration of ACZ. Lastly, there is evidence suggesting that carbonic anhydrase is located directly in the walls of the small cerebral arteries and arterioles (159), thus it may be possible for ACZ to alter cerebral tone by acting directly on the vasculature, however there is currently no scientific study supporting this theory (154).

Cerebrovascular tone at the level of the small resistance arterioles is regulated in part by pH and pCO₂ as previously discussed. West et al (1992) has recently described a pH-dependent mechanism regulating calcium channels in the smooth muscle cells lining small cerebral arterioles, which may be important in explaining the vasodilatory effects of ACZ (160). Thus, ACZ may have both direct and indirect (metabolic) effects on the vasculature.

1.6.1.2 Dose Dependency and Kinetics of Acetazolamide

A current review describes the dose dependency and kinetics of ACZ on CBF or cerebral blood velocity (154). Both oral and intravenous methods have been used to deliver different doses of ACZ to determine the optimal dose and time course for measuring the hemodynamic response. Dosages range from 250 - 1200 mg and are associated with increases in CBF and cerebral blood velocity changes ranging from 1.45 – 90% increases over basal levels. The current clinical protocol is to intravenously inject 1000 mg of ACZ and measure a maximal CBF response at 10-30 minutes post-ACZ administration (161-165).

1.6.2 Implications of CVR Measurements

CVR reflects the dilatory capacity of the cerebral arterioles to a vasoactive stimulus and is used to assess adequate regulatory function of CBF. A normal CVR maintains the supply of blood and nutrients to the brain under variations of MAP (CPP) within the autoregulatory plateau, while an impaired CVR is associated with increased risk of stroke or ischemia, particularly, at the lower reaches of the autoregulation (166). Evaluating CVR plays an important role in determining the pathophysiology behind cerebral hemodynamic compromise and thus provides information on possible Predominantly, CVR testing is used to identify subsequent cerebral events. hemodynamic compromise in symptomatic patients with a predisposition to increased risk of stroke due to cerebrovascular disease (166-168). A study by Yonas et al. (1993) demonstrated that patients whose blood flow fell by more than 5% after administration of ACZ had a 12.6 times greater chance of stroke in the subsequent two year period than those with CBF that increased or fell by less than 5% (166). It is this paradoxical blood flow response, known as the "steal phenomenon", that is the hallmark for increased risk of stroke as it indicates the inability of the vessels and their collaterals to adequately maintain CBF.

CVR testing has been shown to be an accurate indicator of end stage cerebrovascular compromise (161, 169, 170). The chief focus of assessing CVR is to determine the cerebral regions subject to chronic borderline hypoperfusion, usually due to occlusion or stenosis of large cerebral arteries (150). However, within the limits of autoregulation when cerebrovascular reserve is still intact, another surrogate for CPP may be needed as CVR is not reliable when the hemodynamic compromise is mild (171).

1.7 MEAN TRANSIT TIME AS AN INDICATOR OF CPP

Mean transit time, which is mathematically equivalent to CBV/CBF (172, 173), is a measure of the amount of time it takes for a blood borne agent to traverse the vascular bed. MTT is particularly advantageous as an indicator for changes in CPP because the ratio depends on the discontinuity of the coupled relationship between CBF and CBV. Within the autoregulatory range, the response to decreased CPP involves reciprocal increases in CBV and constant or decreased CBF. Thus, because MTT takes both into account, it may provide a more sensitive indicator of CPP within autoregulation. As the lower limit of autoregulation is reached MTT becomes exaggerated, as further increases or consistency in CBV cannot attenuate the fall of CBF with decreasing CPP.

MTT, or its inverse, have been widely used as a clinical marker for assessing regional CPP deficits in cerebrovascular disease and assessing regions of the brain chronically at risk of hypoperfusion (173, 174). Furthermore, it has been experimentally determined to be a sensitive marker for CPP over a wide range of perfusion pressures (137, 146). However, it is yet to be determined how measurements of MTT compare with the clinical gold standard (CVR) both within and outside of autoregulatory limits.

1.8 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

The objective of this thesis is to describe early cerebral hemodynamic disturbances with the goal to develop a marker for cognitive decline in MND. The research was divided into three scientific papers with the following individual objectives:

- Identify a relationship between cerebral hemodynamic measurements using CT Perfusion imaging and cognitive status determined by neuropsychological testing in cohort of patients with primary lateral sclerosis (Chapter 2).
- 2. Characterize the relationship between duration of disease, progression of cognitive impairment and hemodynamic disturbances in a group of cognitively intact ALS patients (Chapter 3).
- 3. Investigate biological mechanisms in an experimental model to account for increased cerebral MTT (Chapter 4).

1.9 REFERENCES

- (1) Rowland LP, Shneider NA. Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. N Engl J Med 2001 May 31;344:1688-1700.
- (2) Kew JJ, Brooks DJ, Passingham RE, Rothwell JC, Frackowiak RS, Leigh PN. Cortical function in progressive lower motor neuron disorders and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a comparative PET study. *Neurology* 1994 Jun;44:1101-1110.
- (3) Worms PM. The epidemiology of motor neuron diseases: a review of recent studies. *J Neurol Sci* 2001 Oct 15;191:3-9.
- (4) Strong MJ. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: contemporary concepts in etiopathogenesis and pharmacotherapy. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* 2004 Dec;13:1593-1614.
- (5) Irwin D, Lippa CF, Swearer JM. Cognition and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2007 Aug;22:300-312.
- (6) Brooks BR. El Escorial World Federation of Neurology criteria for the diagnosis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Subcommittee on Motor Neuron Diseases/Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis of the World Federation of Neurology Research Group on Neuromuscular Diseases and the El Escorial "Clinical limits of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis" workshop contributors. J Neurol Sci 1994 Jul;124 Suppl:96-107.
- (7) Strong MJ. The basic aspects of therapeutics in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Pharmacol Ther* 2003 Jun;98:379-414.
- (8) Gaudette M, Hirano M, Siddique T. Current status of SOD1 mutations in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord 2000 Mar;1:83-89.
- (9) Valentine JS, Doucette PA, Zittin Potter S. Copper-zinc superoxide dismutase and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 2005 Jul 18;74:563-593.
- (10) Strong MJ. Progress in clinical neurosciences: the evidence for ALS as a multisystems disorder of limited phenotypic expression. Can J Neurol Sci 2001 Nov;28:283-298.
- (11) Tartaglia MC, Rowe A, Findlater K, Orange JB, Grace G, Strong MJ. Differentiation between primary lateral sclerosis and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: examination of symptoms and signs at disease onset and during followup. Arch Neurol 2007 Feb;64:232-236.
- (12) Singer MA, Statland JM, Wolfe GI, Barohn RJ. Primary lateral sclerosis. *Muscle Nerve* 2007 Mar;35:291-302.

- (13) Pringle CE, Hudson AJ, Munoz DG, Kiernan JA, Brown WF, Ebers GC. Primary lateral sclerosis. Clinical features, neuropathology and diagnostic criteria. *Brain* 1992 Apr;115 (Pt 2):495-520.
- (14) Hudson AJ, Kiernan JA, Munoz DG, Pringle CE, Brown WF, Ebers GC. Clinicopathological features of primary lateral sclerosis are different from amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain Res Bull* 1993;30:359-364.
- (15) Swash M, Desai J, Misra VP. What is primary lateral sclerosis? J Neurol Sci 1999 Nov 15;170:5-10.
- (16) Le Forestier N, Maisonobe T, Spelle L, et al. Primary lateral sclerosis: further clarification. *J Neurol Sci* 2001 Apr 1;185:95-100.
- (17) Le Forestier N, Maisonobe T, Piquard A, et al. Does primary lateral sclerosis exist? A study of 20 patients and a review of the literature. *Brain* 2001 Oct;124:1989-1999.
- (18) Tan CF, Kakita A, Piao YS, et al. Primary lateral sclerosis: a rare upper-motorpredominant form of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis often accompanied by frontotemporal lobar degeneration with ubiquitinated neuronal inclusions? Report of an autopsy case and a review of the literature. *Acta Neuropathol (Berl)* 2003 Jun;105:615-620.
- (19) Strong MJ, Gordon PH. Primary lateral sclerosis, hereditary spastic paraplegia and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: discrete entities or spectrum? *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord* 2005 Mar;6:8-16.
- (20) Brugman F, Wokke JH, Vianney de Jong JM, Franssen H, Faber CG, Van den Berg LH. Primary lateral sclerosis as a phenotypic manifestation of familial ALS. *Neurology* 2005 May 24;64:1778-1779.
- (21) Bruyn RP, Koelman JH, Troost D, de Jong JM. Motor neuron disease (amyotrophic lateral sclerosis) arising from longstanding primary lateral sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1995 Jun;58:742-744.
- (22) Gordon PH, Cheng B, Katz IB, et al. The natural history of primary lateral sclerosis. *Neurology* 2006 Mar 14;66:647-653.
- (23) Murphy J, Henry R, Lomen-Hoerth C. Establishing subtypes of the continuum of frontal lobe impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Arch Neurol 2007 Mar;64:330-334.
- (24) Phukan J, Pender NP, Hardiman O. Cognitive impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol* 2007 Nov;6:994-1003.

- (25) Kilani M, Micallef J, Soubrouillard C, et al. A longitudinal study of the evolution of cognitive function and affective state in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord 2004 Mar;5:46-54.
- (26) Strong MJ, Lomen-Hoerth C, Caselli RJ, Bigio EH, Yang W. Cognitive impairment, frontotemporal dementia, and the motor neuron diseases. *Ann Neurol* 2003;54 Suppl 5:S20-S23.
- (27) Abe K, Fujimura H, Toyooka K, Sakoda S, Yorifuji S, Yanagihara T. Cognitive function in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci* 1997 May 1;148:95-100.
- (28) Frank B, Haas J, Heinze HJ, Stark E, Munte TF. Relation of neuropsychological and magnetic resonance findings in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: evidence for subgroups. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* 1997 May;99:79-86.
- (29) Massman PJ, Sims J, Cooke N, Haverkamp LJ, Appel V, Appel SH. Prevalence and correlates of neuropsychological deficits in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1996 Nov;61:450-455.
- (30) Lomen-Hoerth C, Murphy J, Langmore S, Kramer JH, Olney RK, Miller B. Are amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients cognitively normal? *Neurology* 2003 Apr 8;60:1094-1097.
- (31) Rippon GA, Scarmeas N, Gordon PH, et al. An observational study of cognitive impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* 2006 Mar;63:345-352.
- (32) Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state" : A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 1975 Nov;12:189-198.
- (33) Ringholz GM, Appel SH, Bradshaw M, Cooke NA, Mosnik DM, Schulz PE. Prevalence and patterns of cognitive impairment in sporadic ALS. *Neurology* 2005 Aug 23;65:586-590.
- (34) Neary D, Snowden JS, Gustafson L, et al. Frontotemporal lobar degeneration: a consensus on clinical diagnostic criteria. *Neurology* 1998 Dec;51:1546-1554.
- (35) Murphy JM, Henry RG, Langmore S, Kramer JH, Miller BL, Lomen-Hoerth C. Continuum of frontal lobe impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* 2007 Apr;64:530-534.
- (36) Hainfellner JA, Pilz P, Lassmann H, Ladurner G, Budka H. Diffuse Lewy body disease as substrate of primary lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol* 1995 Jan;242:59-63.
- (37) Piquard A, Le Forestier N, Baudoin-Madec V, et al. Neuropsychological changes in patients with primary lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler* 2006 Sep;7:150-160.

- (38) Schreiber H, Gaigalat T, Wiedemuth-Catrinescu U, et al. Cognitive function in bulbar- and spinal-onset amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A longitudinal study in 52 patients. *J Neurol* 2005 Jul;252:772-781.
- (39) Robinson KM, Lacey SC, Grugan P, Glosser G, Grossman M, McCluskey LF. Cognitive functioning in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a six month longitudinal study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 2006 May;77:668-670.
- (40) Talairach J, Tournoux P. Co-planar Stereotaxic Atlas of the Human Brain. New York: Thieme Medical Publishers, 1988.
- (41) Evan A, Collins D, Mills S, Brown E, Kelly R, Peters T. 3D statistical neuroanatomical models from 305 MRI volumes. 1993 1813-1817.
- (42) Grosskreutz J, Kaufmann J, Fradrich J, Dengler R, Heinze HJ, Peschel T. Widespread sensorimotor and frontal cortical atrophy in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *BMC Neurol* 2006;6:17.
- (43) Beal MF, Richardson EP, Jr. Primary lateral sclerosis: a case report. Arch Neurol 1981 Oct;38:630-633.
- (44) Kuipers-Upmeijer J, de Jager AE, Hew JM, Snoek JW, van Weerden TW. Primary lateral sclerosis: clinical, neurophysiological, and magnetic resonance findings. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 2001 Nov;71:615-620.
- (45) Smith CD. Serial MRI findings in a case of primary lateral sclerosis. *Neurology* 2002 Feb 26;58:647-649.
- (46) Chan S, Shungu DC, Douglas-Akinwande A, Lange DJ, Rowland LP. Motor neuron diseases: comparison of single-voxel proton MR spectroscopy of the motor cortex with MR imaging of the brain. *Radiology* 1999 Sep;212:763-769.
- (47) Kokubo Y, Kuzuhara S. Neuroradiological study of patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and parkinsonism-dementia complex on the Kii peninsula of Japan. Arch Neurol 2003 Sep;60:1257-1261.
- (48) Varma AR, Adams W, Lloyd JJ, et al. Diagnostic patterns of regional atrophy on MRI and regional cerebral blood flow change on SPECT in young onset patients with Alzheimer's disease, frontotemporal dementia and vascular dementia. Acta Neurol Scand 2002;105:261-269.
- (49) Chang JL, Lomen-Hoerth C, Murphy J, et al. A voxel-based morphometry study of patterns of brain atrophy in ALS and ALS/FTLD. *Neurology* 2005 Jul 12;65:75-80.
- (50) Comi G, Rovaris M, Leocani L. Review neuroimaging in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Eur J Neurol* 1999 Nov;6:629-637.

- (51) Kalra S, Arnold D. Neuroimaging in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord 2003 Dec;4:243-248.
- (52) Ashburner J, Friston KJ. Voxel-based morphometry the methods. *Neuroimage* 2000;11:805-821.
- (53) Abrahams S, Goldstein LH, Suckling J, et al. Frontotemporal white matter changes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol* 2005 Mar;252:321-331.
- (54) Agosta F, Pagani E, Rocca MA, et al. Voxel-based morphometry study of brain volumetry and diffusivity in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients with mild disability. *Hum Brain Mapp* 2007 Dec;28:1430-1438.
- (55) Ellis CM, Suckling J, Amaro E Jr, et al. Volumetric analysis reveals corticospinal tract degeneration and extramotor involvement in ALS. *Neurology* 2001 Nov 13;57:1571-1578.
- (56) Kato S, Hayahi H, Yagishita A. Involvement of the frontotemporal lone and limbic system in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: As assessed by serial computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging. *J Neurol Sci* 1993;116:52-58.
- (57) Turner MR, Hammers A, Allsop J, et al. Volumetric cortical loss in sporadic and familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler* 2007 Dec;8:343-347.
- (58) Wang S, Melhem ER. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and primary lateral sclerosis: The role of diffusion tensor imaging and other advanced MR-based techniques as objective upper motor neuron markers. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2005 Dec;1064:61-77.
- (59) Kaufmann P, Mitsumoto H. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: objective upper motor neuron markers. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* 2002 Jan;2:55-60.
- (60) Basser PJ, Pierpaoli C. Microstructural and physiological features of tissues elucidated by quantitative-diffusion-tensor MRI. J Magn Reson B 1996 Jun;111:209-219.
- (61) Hong YH, Lee KW, Sung JJ, Chang KH, Song IC. Diffusion tensor MRI as a diagnostic tool of upper motor neuron involvement in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol Sci 2004 Dec 15;227:73-78.
- (62) Ellis CM, Simmons A, Jones DK, et al. Diffusion tensor MRI assesses corticospinal tract damage in ALS. *Neurology* 1999 Sep 22;53:1051-1058.
- (63) Graham JM, Papadakis N, Evans J, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging for the assessment of upper motor neuron integrity in ALS. *Neurology* 2004 Dec 14;63:2111-2119.

- (64) Sach M, Winkler G, Glauche V, et al. Diffusion tensor MRI of early upper motor neuron involvement in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain* 2004 Feb;127:340-350.
- (65) Toosy AT, Werring DJ, Orrell RW, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging detects corticospinal tract involvement at multiple levels in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 2003 Sep;74:1250-1257.
- (66) Ulug AM, Grunewald T, Lin MT, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging in the diagnosis of primary lateral sclerosis. *J Magn Reson Imaging* 2004 Jan;19:34-39.
- (67) Yin H, Lim CCT, Ma L, et al. Combined MR spectroscopic imaging and diffusion tensor MRI visualizes corticospinal tract degeneration in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology* 2004 Oct 1;251:1249-1254.
- (68) Iwata NK, Aoki S, Okabe S, et al. Evaluation of corticospinal tracts in ALS with diffusion tensor MRI and brainstem stimulation. *Neurology* 2008 Feb 12;70:528-532.
- (69) Kalra S, Arnold DL. Imaging: MRS, MRI, PET/SPECT: con. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord 2002;3 Suppl 1:S73-S74.
- (70) Pioro EP, Antel JP, Cashman NR, Arnold DL. Detection of cortical neuronal loss in motor neuron disease by proton magnetic resonance spectroscopic imaging in vivo. *Neurology* 1994;44:1933-1938.
- (71) Mitsumoto H, Ulug AM, Pullman SL, et al. Quantitative objective markers for upper and lower motor neuron dysfunction in ALS. *Neurology* 2007 Apr 24;68:1402-1410.
- (72) Suhy J, Miller RG, Rule R, et al. Early detection and longitudinal changes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis by (1)H MRSI. *Neurology* 2002 Mar 12;58:773-779.
- (73) Unrath A, Ludolph AC, Kassubek J. Brain metabolites in definite amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A longitudinal proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. J Neurol 2007 Aug;254:1099-1106.
- (74) Bradley WG, Bowen BC, Pattany PM. 1H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci* 1999;169:84-86.
- (75) Rooney WD, Miller RG, Gelinas D. Decreased N-acetylaspartate in motor cortex and corticospinal tract in ALS. *Neurology* 1998;50:1800-1805.
- (76) Dalakas MC, Hatazawa J, Brooks RA, Di Chiro G. Lowered cerebral glucose utilization in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Ann Neurol 1987;22:580-586.
- (77) Hatazawa J, Brooks BR, Dalakas MC, Mansi L, Di Chiro G. Cortical motorsensory hypometabolism in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a PET study. J Comput Assist Tomogr 1988;12:630-636.
- (78) Lloyd CM, Richardson MP, Brooks DJ, Al Chalabi A, Leigh PN. Extramotor involvement in ALS: PET studies with the GABA(A) ligand [(11)C]flumazenil. Brain 2000 Nov;123 (Pt 11):2289-2296.
- (79) Turner MR, Hammers A, Al Chalabi A, et al. Cortical involvement in four cases of primary lateral sclerosis using [(11)C]-flumazenil PET. J Neurol 2007 Aug;254:1033-1036.
- (80) Turner MR, Osei-Lah AD, Hammers A, et al. Abnormal cortical excitability in sporadic but not homozygous D90A SOD1 ALS. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2005 Sep;76:1279-1285.
- (81) Turner MR, Rabiner EA, Al Chalabi A, et al. Cortical 5-HT1A receptor binding in patients with homozygous D90A SOD1 vs sporadic ALS. *Neurology* 2007 Apr 10;68:1233-1235.
- (82) Turner MR, Rabiner EA, Hammers A, et al. [11C]-WAY100635 PET demonstrates marked 5-HT1A receptor changes in sporadic ALS. *Brain* 2005 Apr;128:896-905.
- (83) Turner MR, Hammers A, Al Chalabi A, et al. Distinct cerebral lesions in sporadic and 'D90A' SOD1 ALS: studies with [11C]flumazenil PET. Brain 2005 Jun;128:1323-1329.
- (84) Wicks P, Turner MR, Abrahams S, et al. Neuronal loss associated with cognitive performance in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an (11C)-flumazenil PET study. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler* 2008 Feb;9:43-49.
- (85) Turner MR, Cagnin A, Turkheimer FE, et al. Evidence of widespread cerebral microglial activation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an [11C](R)-PK11195 positron emission tomography study. *Neurobiol Dis* 2004 Apr;15:601-609.
- (86) Ludolph AC, Langen KJ, Regard M, et al. Frontal lobe function in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a neuropsychologic and positron emission tomography study. *Acta Neurol Scand* 1992 Feb;85:81-89.
- (87) Tanaka M, Ichiba T, Kondo S, Hirai S, Okamoto K. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen metabolism in patients with progressive dementia and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurol Res* 2003 Jun;25:351-356.
- (88) Tanaka M, Kondo S, Hirai S, Sun X, Yamagishi T, Okamoto K. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen metabolism in progressive dementia associated with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci* 1993 Dec 1;120:22-28.

- (89) Abrahams S, Goldstein LH, Kew JJ, et al. Frontal lobe dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A PET study. *Brain* 1996 Dec;119 (Pt 6):2105-2120.
- (90) Abrahams S, Leigh PN, Kew JJ, Goldstein LH, Lloyd CM, Brooks DJ. A positron emission tomography study of frontal lobe function (verbal fluency) in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci* 1995 May;129 Suppl:44-46.
- (91) Kew JJ, Goldstein LH, Leigh PN, et al. The relationship between abnormalities of cognitive function and cerebral activation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A neuropsychological and positron emission tomography study. *Brain* 1993 Dec;116 (Pt 6):1399-1423.
- (92) Kew JJ, Leigh PN, Playford ED, et al. Cortical function in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A positron emission tomography study. *Brain* 1993 Jun;116 (Pt 3):655-680.
- (93) Ludolph AC, Elger CE, Bottger IW, Kuttig AG, Lottes G, Brune GG. Nisopropyl-p-123I-amphetamine single photon emission computer tomography in motor neuron disease. *Eur Neurol* 1989;29:255-260.
- (94) Waldemar G, Vorstrup S, Jensen TS, Johnsen A, Boysen G. Focal reductions of cerebral blood flow in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a [99mTc]-d,l-HMPAO SPECT study. J Neurol Sci 1992 Jan;107:19-28.
- (95) Kumar M, Abdel-Dayem HM. Three generations of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in a family: SPECT brain perfusion findings. *Clin Nucl Med* 1999 Jul;24:539-540.
- (96) Beall DP, Martin D, Chin BB. Decreased bilateral frontal lobe perfusion in dementia of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Clin Nucl Med* 1998 Dec;23:855-856.
- (97) Kobari M, Obara K, Watanabe S, Dembo T, Fukuuchi Y. Local cerebral blood flow in motor neuron disease: correlation with clinical findings. *J Neurol Sci* 1996 Dec;144:64-69.
- (98) Ishikawa T, Morita M, Nakano I. Constant blood flow reduction in premotor frontal lobe regions in ALS with dementia a SPECT study with 3D-SSP. Acta Neurol Scand 2007 Nov;116:340-344.
- (99) Talbot PR, Goulding PJ, Lloyd JJ, Snowden JS, Neary D, Testa HJ. Inter-relation between "classic" motor neuron disease and frontotemporal dementia: neuropsychological and single photon emission computed tomography study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1995 May;58:541-547.
- (100) Vercelletto M, Ronin M, Huvet M, Magne C, Feve JR. Frontal type dementia preceding amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a neuropsychological and SPECT study of five clinical cases. *Eur J Neurol* 1999 May;6:295-299.

- (101) Guedj E, Le Ber I, Lacomblez L, et al. Brain spect perfusion of frontotemporal dementia associated with motor neuron disease. *Neurology* 2007 Jul 31;69:488-490.
- (102) Habert MO, Lacomblez L, Maksud P, El Fakhri G, Pradat JF, Meininger V. Brain perfusion imaging in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: extent of cortical changes according to the severity and topography of motor impairment. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler* 2007 Feb;8:9-15.
- (103) Abrahams S, Goldstein LH, Simmons A, et al. Word retrieval in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Brain* 2004 Jul;127:1507-1517.
- (104) Logothetis NK. The underpinnings of the BOLD functional magnetic resonance imaging signal. *J Neurosci* 2003 May 15;23:3963-3971.
- (105) Powers WJ. Cerebral hemodynamics in ischemic cerebrovascular disease. Ann Neurol 1991 Mar;29:231-240.
- (106) Bentourkia M, Bol A, Ivanoiu A, et al. Comparison of regional cerebral blood flow and glucose metabolism in the normal brain: effect of aging. *J Neurol Sci* 2000;181:19-28.
- (107) Dirnagl U, Edvinsson L, Villringer A. Measuring cerebral blood flow and metabolism. In: Edvinsson L, Krause DN, eds. Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism, 2 ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins, 2002:371-383.
- (108) Cenic A, Nabavi DG, Craen RA, Gelb AW, Lee TY. Dynamic CT measurement of cerebral blood flow: a validation study. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 1999 Jan;20:63-73.
- (109) Nabavi DG, Cenic A, Craen RA, et al. CT assessment of cerebral perfusion: experimental validation and initial clinical experience. *Radiology* 1999 Oct;213:141-149.
- (110) Meier P, Zierler KL. On the theory of the indicator-dilution method for measurement of blood flow and volume. *J Appl Physiol* 1954 Jun;6:731-744.
- (111) Iadecola C. Neurovascular regulation in the normal brain and in Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2004 May;5:347-360.
- (112) Volterra A, Meldolesi J. Astrocytes, from brain glue to communication elements: the revolution continues. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2005 Aug;6:626-640.
- (113) Parri R, Crunelli V. An astrocyte bridge from synapse to blood flow. Nat Neurosci 2003 Jan;6:5-6.

- (114) Tower DB, Young OM. The activities of butyrylcholinesterase and carbonic anhydrase, the rate of anaerobic glycolysis, and the question of a constant density of glial cells in cerebral cortices of various mammalian species from mouse to whale. J Neurochem 1973 Feb;20:269-278.
- (115) Marella M, Chabry J. Neurons and astrocytes respond to prion infection by inducing microglia recruitment. *J Neurosci* 2004 Jan 21;24:620-627.
- (116) Babcock AA, Kuziel WA, Rivest S, Owens T. Chemokine expression by glial cells directs leukocytes to sites of axonal injury in the CNS. *J Neurosci* 2003 Aug 27;23:7922-7930.
- (117) Magistretti PJ, Ransom BR. Astrocytes. In: Davis KL, Charney D, Coyle JT, Nemeroff C, eds. Neuropsychoparmacology: The Fifth Generation of Progress, 5th ed Lipincott, Williams and Wilkins, 2002:133-145.
- (118) Zonta M, Angulo MC, Gobbo S, et al. Neuron-to-astrocyte signaling is central to the dynamic control of brain microcirculation. *Nat Neurosci* 2003 Jan;6:43-50.
- (119) Mulligan SJ, MacVicar BA. Calcium transients in astrocyte endfeet cause cerebrovascular constrictions. *Nature* 2004 Sep 9;431:195-199.
- (120) Takano T, Tian GF, Peng W, et al. Astrocyte-mediated control of cerebral blood flow. *Nat Neurosci* 2006 Feb;9:260-267.
- (121) Metea MR, Newman EA. Glial cells dilate and constrict blood vessels: a mechanism of neurovascular coupling. *J Neurosci* 2006 Mar 15;26:2862-2870.
- (122) Filosa JA, Bonev AD, Straub SV, et al. Local potassium signaling couples neuronal activity to vasodilation in the brain. *Nat Neurosci* 2006 Nov;9:1397-1403.
- (123) Zonta M, Sebelin A, Gobbo S, Fellin T, Pozzan T, Carmignoto G. Glutamatemediated cytosolic calcium oscillations regulate a pulsatile prostaglandin release from cultured rat astrocytes. *J Physiol* 2003 Dec 1;553:407-414.
- (124) Bernardinelli Y, Magistretti PJ, Chatton JY. Astrocytes generate Na+-mediated metabolic waves. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2004 Oct 12;101:14937-14942.
- (125) Pellerin L, Magistretti PJ. Glutamate uptake into astrocytes stimulates aerobic glycolysis: a mechanism coupling neuronal activity to glucose utilization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1994 Oct 25;91:10625-10629.
- (126) Deitmer JW. Glial strategy for metabolic shuttling and neuronal function. Bioessays 2000 Aug;22:747-752.

- (127) Girouard H, Iadecola C. Neurovascular coupling in the normal brain and in hypertension, stroke, and Alzheimer disease. J Appl Physiol 2006 Jan;100:328-335.
- (128) Golding EM, Marrelli SP, You J, Bryan RM, Jr. Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor in the brain: a new regulator of cerebral blood flow? *Stroke* 2002 Mar;33:661-663.
- (129) Faraci FM, Heistad DD. Regulation of the cerebral circulation: role of endothelium and potassium channels. *Physiol Rev* 1998 Jan;78:53-97.
- (130) Andresen J, Shafi NI, Bryan RM, Jr. Endothelial influences on cerebrovascular tone. J Appl Physiol 2006 Jan;100:318-327.
- (131) Hamel E. Perivascular nerves and the regulation of cerebrovascular tone. J Appl Physiol 2006 Mar;100:1059-1064.
- (132) Yamada M, Lamping KG, Duttaroy A, et al. Cholinergic dilation of cerebral blood vessels is abolished in M(5) muscarinic acetylcholine receptor knockout mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2001 Nov 20;98:14096-14101.
- (133) Elhusseiny A, Hamel E. Muscarinic--but not nicotinic--acetylcholine receptors mediate a nitric oxide-dependent dilation in brain cortical arterioles: a possible role for the M5 receptor subtype. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2000 Feb;20:298-305.
- (134) Cauli B, Tong XK, Rancillac A, et al. Cortical GABA interneurons in neurovascular coupling: relays for subcortical vasoactive pathways. J Neurosci 2004 Oct 13;24:8940-8949.
- (135) Xu HL, Mao L, Ye S, Paisansathan C, Vetri F, Pelligrino DA. Astrocytes are a key conduit for upstream signaling of vasodilation during cerebral cortical neuronal activation in vivo. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2008 Feb;294:H622-H632.
- (136) Kitayama J, Faraci FM, Lentz SR, Heistad DD. Cerebral vascular dysfunction during hypercholesterolemia. *Stroke* 2007 Jul;38:2136-2141.
- (137) Schumann P, Touzani O, Young AR, Morello R, Baron JC, MacKenzie ET. Evaluation of the ratio of cerebral blood flow to cerebral blood volume as an index of local cerebral perfusion pressure. *Brain* 1998 Jul;121 (Pt 7):1369-1379.
- (138) Paulson OB, Strandgaard S, Edvinsson L. Cerebral autoregulation. Cerebrovasc Brain Metab Rev 1990;2:161-192.
- (139) Lassen NA. Cerebral Blood Flow and Oxygen Consumption in Man. *Physiol Rev* 1959 Apr 1;39:183-238.

- (140) Zazulia AR, Powers WJ. PET in Cerebrovascular Disease. In: Valk PE, Baliey DL, Townsend DW, Maisey MN, eds. Positron Emission Tomography: Basic Science and Clinical Practice. London, UK: Springer-Verlag, 2003:375-397.
- (141) Furst G, Steinmetz H, Fischer H, et al. Selective MR angiography and intracranial collateral blood flow. *J Comput Assist Tomogr* 1993 Mar;17:178-183.
- (142) Wu B, Wang X, Guo J, et al. Collateral Circulation Imaging: MR Perfusion Territory Arterial Spin-Labeling at 3T. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2008 Sep 10;ajnr.
- (143) Dirnagl U, Pulsinelli W. Autoregulation of cerebral blood flow in experimental focal brain ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 1990 May;10:327-336.
- (144) Derdeyn CP, Videen TO, Yundt KD, et al. Variability of cerebral blood volume and oxygen extraction: stages of cerebral haemodynamic impairment revisited. *Brain* 2002 Mar;125:595-607.
- (145) Grubb RL, Jr., Phelps ME, Raichle ME, Ter Pogossian MM. The effects of arterial blood pressure on the regional cerebral blood volume by X-ray fluorescence. *Stroke* 1973 May;4:390-399.
- (146) Ferrari M, Wilson DA, Hanley DF, Traystman RJ. Effects of graded hypotension on cerebral blood flow, blood volume, and mean transit time in dogs. Am J Physiol 1992 Jun;262:H1908-H1914.
- (147) Zaharchuk G, Mandeville JB, Bogdanov AA, Jr., Weissleder R, Rosen BR, Marota JJ. Cerebrovascular dynamics of autoregulation and hypoperfusion. An MRI study of CBF and changes in total and microvascular cerebral blood volume during hemorrhagic hypotension. *Stroke* 1999 Oct;30:2197-2204.
- (148) Nemoto EM, Yonas H, Chang Y. Stages and thresholds of hemodynamic failure. Stroke 2003 Jan;34:2-3.
- (149) Derdeyn CP. Positron emission tomography imaging of cerebral ischemia. Neuroimaging Clin N Am 2005 May;15:341-3xi.
- (150) Eskey CJ, Sanelli PC. Perfusion imaging of cerebrovascular reserve. Neuroimaging Clin N Am 2005 May;15:367-81, xi.
- (151) Widder B, Kleiser B, Krapf H. Course of cerebrovascular reactivity in patients with carotid artery occlusions. *Stroke* 1994 Oct;25:1963-1967.
- (152) Settakis G, Lengyel A, Molnar C, Bereczki D, Csiba L, Fulesdi B. Transcranial Doppler study of the cerebral hemodynamic changes during breath-holding and hyperventilation tests. *J Neuroimaging* 2002 Jul;12:252-258.

- (153) Sorteberg W, Lindegaard KF, Rootwelt K, et al. Effect of acetazolamide on cerebral artery blood velocity and regional cerebral blood flow in normal subjects. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 1989;97:139-145.
- (154) Settakis G, Molnar C, Kerenyi L, et al. Acetazolamide as a vasodilatory stimulus in cerebrovascular diseases and in conditions affecting the cerebral vasculature. *Eur J Neurol* 2003 Nov;10:609-620.
- (155) Vorstrup S, Henriksen L, Paulson OB. Effect of acetazolamide on cerebral blood flow and cerebral metabolic rate for oxygen. J Clin Invest 1984 Nov;74:1634-1639.
- (156) Bickler PE, Litt L, Banville DL, Severinghaus JW. Effects of acetazolamide on cerebral acid-base balance. J Appl Physiol 1988 Jul;65:422-427.
- (157) Bickler PE, Litt L, Severinghaus JW. Effects of acetazolamide on cerebrocortical NADH and blood volume. *J Appl Physiol* 1988 Jul;65:428-433.
- (158) Vorstrup S, Jensen KE, Thomsen C, Henriksen O, Lassen NA, Paulson OB. Neuronal pH regulation: constant normal intracellular pH is maintained in brain during low extracellular pH induced by acetazolamide--31P NMR study. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 1989 Jun;9:417-421.
- (159) Ridderstrale Y, Hanson M. Histochemical study of the distribution of carbonic anhydrase in the cat brain. Acta Physiol Scand 1985 Aug;124:557-564.
- (160) West GA, Leppla DC, Simard JM. Effects of external pH on ionic currents in smooth muscle cells from the basilar artery of the guinea pig. *Circ Res* 1992 Jul;71:201-209.
- (161) Okazawa H, Yamauchi H, Sugimoto K, Takahashi M. Differences in vasodilatory capacity and changes in cerebral blood flow induced by acetazolamide in patients with cerebrovascular disease. *J Nucl Med* 2003 Sep;44:1371-1378.
- (162) Ringelstein EB, Van Eyck S, Mertens I. Evaluation of cerebral vasomotor reactivity by various vasodilating stimuli: comparison of CO2 to acetazolamide. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 1992 Jan;12:162-168.
- (163) Dahl A, Russell D, Rootwelt K, Nyberg-Hansen R, Kerty E. Cerebral vasoreactivity assessed with transcranial Doppler and regional cerebral blood flow measurements. Dose, serum concentration, and time course of the response to acetazolamide. *Stroke* 1995 Dec;26:2302-2306.
- (164) Ogasawara K, Ito H, Sasoh M, et al. Quantitative measurement of regional cerebrovascular reactivity to acetazolamide using 123I-N-isopropyl-piodoamphetamine autoradiography with SPECT: validation study using H2 150 with PET. J Nucl Med 2003 Apr;44:520-525.

- (165) Yonas H, Pindzola RR, Meltzer CC, Sasser H. Qualitative versus quantitative assessment of cerebrovascular reserves. *Neurosurgery* 1998 May;42:1005-1010.
- (166) Yonas H, Smith HA, Durham SR, Pentheny SL, Johnson DW. Increased stroke risk predicted by compromised cerebral blood flow reactivity. *J Neurosurg* 1993 Oct;79:483-489.
- (167) Vorstrup S. Tomographic cerebral blood flow measurements in patients with ischemic cerebrovascular disease and evaluation of the vasodilatory capacity by the acetazolamide test. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl 1988;114:1-48.
- (168) Yonas H, Pindzola RR. Physiological determination of cerebrovascular reserves and its use in clinical management. *Cerebrovasc Brain Metab Rev* 1994;6:325-340.
- (169) Derdeyn CP, Grubb RL, Jr., Powers WJ. Cerebral hemodynamic impairment: methods of measurement and association with stroke risk. *Neurology* 1999 Jul 22;53:251-259.
- (170) Yamauchi H, Okazawa H, Kishibe Y, Sugimoto K, Takahashi M. Reduced blood flow response to acetazolamide reflects pre-existing vasodilation and decreased oxygen metabolism in major cerebral arterial occlusive disease. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2002 Oct;29:1349-1356.
- (171) Orosz L, Fulesdi B, Hoksbergen A, et al. Assessment of cerebrovascular reserve capacity in asymptomatic and symptomatic hemodynamically significant carotid stenoses and occlusions. *Surg Neurol* 2002 May;57:333-339.
- (172) Powers WJ, Grubb RL, Jr., Raichle ME. Physiological responses to focal cerebral ischemia in humans. *Ann Neurol* 1984 Nov;16:546-552.
- (173) Sette G, Baron JC, Mazoyer B, Levasseur M, Pappata S, Crouzel C. Local brain haemodynamics and oxygen metabolism in cerebrovascular disease. Positron emission tomography. *Brain* 1989 Aug;112 (Pt 4):931-951.
- (174) Gibbs JM, Wise RJ, Leenders KL, Jones T. Evaluation of cerebral perfusion reserve in patients with carotid-artery occlusion. *Lancet* 1984 Feb 11;1:310-314.

CHAPTER 2

CEREBRAL HEMODYNAMIC CHANGES ACCOMPANYING COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT IN PRIMARY LATERAL SCLEROSIS

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Primary lateral sclerosis (PLS) is a rare neurodegenerative disease, comprising about 5% of all MND cases presenting at neuromuscular clinics (1). Since its first formal description, the issue of whether PLS is a discrete nosologic entity or a disorder that inevitably converges into ALS has remained a topic of controversy (2-8). Because of the rarity of PLS, there are few reported studies that describe its full clinicopathological spectrum and particularly the extent to which nonmotor manifestations may occur. Brain perfusion studies are perhaps the least explored facet of this disease, even though in a related MND such as ALS, significant changes in cerebral perfusion and metabolism have been documented (9-16).

Typically, the cardinal features of PLS consist of insidiously progressive spasticity with pseudobulbar affect and spastic dysarthria. The failure to develop signs of lower motor neuron dysfunction, either clinically or electrophysiologically, within 3 years of symptom onset differentiates this entity from the more common disorder amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Although PLS is classically described as sparing intellect (2), there is evidence that cognition may be affected during the disease course. In a study of 9 patients, Caselli and colleagues observed mild cognitive deficits most reflective of frontal lobe dysfunction in all (17). In a study of 20 PLS patients, Le Forestier and colleagues found that 16 had moderate deficits in frontal and/or premotor functions (7). More recently, these results were corroborated in an extensive neuropsychological study examining 20 patients with PLS (18). This study described qualitatively similar dysfunction to ALS with all but three patients having signs of premotor and/or prefrontal cortical deficits.

Many authors consider PLS and ALS to be closely related disorders, if not two diseases within a continuum of age-dependant motor neuron degenerations. Although classical descriptions of ALS focused on degeneration of motor neurons, it is now recognized as a multisystems disorder in which cognitive impairment may be part of the pathological spectrum of the disease process (19, 20). The neuropsychological deficits in ALS range from mild cognitive or behavioural impairment to a more progressive form of frontotemporal dementia (FTD) in which the Neary criteria are fulfilled (20-25). Although cognitive impairment in ALS was once thought to be rare, the current literature indicates that when tested using paradigms sensitive to frontal lobe dysfunction, upwards of 50% of ALS patients exhibit some degree of impairment with up to 20-30% of the patients fulfilling the criteria for FTD (21, 26-28).

Cognitive changes in ALS have been associated with alterations in cerebral perfusion and metabolism as demonstrated using functional neuroimaging techniques, including PET (9, 11, 13-15), and [^{99m}Tc]-d,l-HMPAO (16) or N-Isopropyl-p-¹²³-iodoamphetamine (¹²³I-IMP) (10, 12, 29) SPECT. Given the large pool of literature concerning cerebral perfusion and related cognitive impairment in ALS, there is comparatively little known regarding these changes in PLS. In order to examine the association between cognitive dysfunction and cerebral perfusion in PLS, we have carried out a study of eighteen PLS patients and seven non-PLS controls to assess the degree of cognitive impairment and associated hemodynamic changes.

2.2 METHODS

2.2.1 Participants

Eighteen PLS patients (9 male, 9 female) meeting the Pringle criteria (2) and seven controls subjects (4 male, 3 female) were recruited from the Motor Diseases Clinic at the University of Western Ontario from 2003-2005. All patients signed a consent form for research approved by the University of Western Ontario Human Research Ethics Board. Disease severity was measured using the ALSFRS-R (30). All patients and controls underwent the same battery of neuropsychological tests (NT) followed by a CT perfusion (CTP) head scan. NT were used to stratify PLS patients into two groups based on the number of abnormal test scores; Cognitively-intact PLS patients (PLS) - those having zero or one abnormal score (n=14) and PLS patients with cognitive impairment (PLSci) - those having 2 or more abnormal test scores (n=4).

2.2.2 Neuropsychological Evaluation

Neuropsychological functioning was assessed in all subjects using 9 neuropsychological tests with 13 variables to address four major domains of cognitive functioning, focusing particularly on frontal-executive skills (Table 2.1). Tests were chosen to minimize the requirements for speech production and upper limb motor skills.

2.2.3 Imaging and Analysis

A 4-slice CT scanner (GE LightSpeed Plus; GE Healthcare, Waukesha, Wis) was used for the CTP scan, during which time blood pressure (BP), end tidal CO_2 (EtCO₂), oxygen saturation (O₂sat), breathing frequency (BF) and heart rate (HR) were monitored. **Table 2.1:** Summary of Neuropsychological Tests and Variables. Testing battery consisting of 9 neuropsychological tests with 13 variables to address four major domains of cognitive functioning in all PLS and control subjects.

Domain	Test	Measured Variable		
Executive Skills	Controlled Oral Word Fluency (49)	Total number of words		
、 、	Thurstone Written Word Fluency (50)	Total number of words		
	Delayed Alteration Test (51)	Number of errors		
	Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (52)	Perseverative responses		
		Total errors		
Attention and Concentration	Consonant Trigrams Test (53)	Mean score - 3 conditions		
Visual-Perception/	Block Design (WAIS-III) (54)	Age scaled score		
Visual-Construction	Motor Free Visual Perception Test - Revised (55)	Number correct		
Memory	Recognition Memory Test (56)	Number of words correct		
		Number of faces correct		
······································		Number of words: Trials 1-5		
		Delayed recognition		
		Delayed recall - number of words		

Blood gases were taken in the clinic before and after the study to control for oxygen, carbon dioxide, bicarbonate, and pH levels. Four 5mm slices were localized to the level of the basal ganglia using a non-enhanced CT head scan. Once the appropriate slices had been determined patients were scanned continuously at this table location for 49 seconds at 80 kVp and 190 mA and with an intravenous injection of 50mL of iodinated contrast agent (Omnipaque 300, GE Healthcare) at a rate of 2-3.5 ml·s⁻¹ using a methodology previously described (31). The software CT Perfusion (GE Healthcare) was used to

calculate cerebral blood flow (CBF), cerebral blood volume (CBV), and mean transit time (MTT) from dynamic images acquired with the CTP scan(32). Hemodynamic parametric maps were regionally analyzed based on the segmentation of constituent lobes of the cortex (frontal, temporal, parietal, and occipital), deep grey matter structures (basal ganglia and thalamus), and deep white matter using a custom program written in IDL (Version 5.6, Research Systems Inc., 2002).

2.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Differences in neuropsychological test scores were determined by converting test scores into T-scores (mean of 50, SD of 10) based on normative samples stratified for age and when available for education. A T-score less than 30 (i.e., more than 2 SD below the mean) on a specific measure was considered an abnormal score. Results for physiological and hemodynamic measurements are given as the mean \pm SD values. Since assumptions of normality were violated in the PLSci group non-parametric statistical methods were employed. A Kruskal-Wallis analysis was used as the omnibus test with post hoc Wilcoxon tests where appropriate, with p < 0.05 considered significant. A Pearson correlation was performed to determine an association between hemodynamic parameters with disease duration and education, with p < 0.05 considered significant.

2.3 **RESULTS**

2.3.1 Clinical Characteristics

The clinical characteristics of patients are presented in Table 2.2. PLS patients ranged in age from 44 to 72 years (mean, 59.1 ± 8.7 years), whereas the control subjects

age ranged from 34 to 63 years (mean, 52.8 ± 9.9 years). No significant difference in age was reported between groups.

		Age at	Age of	Site of	Symptom	Current	Overt	Cardio-	
Patient	Sex	Onset	Diagnosis	Onset	at Onset	Symptom	Diabetes	Disease	Smoker
1	М	35.3	53.3	B	D	Yes	No	Yes	No
2	М	47.8	57.9	r/lL	W	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
3	F	56.6	67.7	IL	W	No	No	Yes	No
4	F	55.8	60.7	IL	S	No	No	No	Yes
5	Μ	29.1	43.2	В	D	Yes	No	No	Yes
6	F	51.6	63.4	r/lL	W	No	No	No	No
7	М	41.3	48.6	IL	W	No	No	No	Yes
8	F	47.8	55.4	r/iL	S	No	Yes	Yes	No
9	М	34.3	41.6	r/IL	S	Yes	No	No	No
10	М	56.7	62.9	IL	S	Yes	No	No	Yes
. 11	F	36.0	64.9	r/IL	S	Yes	No	No	Yes
12	F	58.1	68.3	В	D	Yes	No	No	Yes
13	M	29.8	45.8	r/IL	S	Yes	No	Yes	No
14	F	58.4	67.8	rL	W	Yes	No	Yes	No
15	М	32.4	40.4	rL	W	No	No	No	No
16	F	51.4	58.3	IL	W	Yes	No	No	No
17	Μ	50.3	56.1	rĽ	S	Yes	No	Yes	No
18	F	44.5	53.8	r/lL	W	Yes	Yes	No	No

Table 2.2: Demographics and Clinical Characteristics of PLS Patients.

B = bulbar; r = right; l = left; L = Leg(s); D = dysarthria; W = weakness; S = spasticity

2.3.2 Neuropsychological Results

The neuropsychological studies were performed on all 18 PLS patients. As a group, PLS patients scored broadly within normal limits (mean T-scores greater than 40) on all cognitive measures. However, there was considerable heterogeneity observed in scores when the data were examined on a case by case basis. Neuropsychological data were analyzed using a stringent threshold of 2 SD below the mean for impairment criteria, resulting in 4 PLS patients (or 22 %) being rated as impaired. In the PLSci group, abnormal scores were found on tests measuring executive functions including, in order of frequency, oral word fluency, source memory (recognition memory trial of the

Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test), problem-solving ability (Wisconsin Card Sorting Test – Total errors), nonverbal working memory (Delayed Alternation Test), and verbal learning efficiency (Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test – Number of Words Trials 1-5). The cognitive test scores for each of the four PLSci patients is presented in Table 2.3. All other PLS patients had zero or only one abnormal score. All control subjects in this study were cognitively normal, with no abnormal neuropsychological scores.

2.3.3 Imaging Results

No hemispheric differences existed within groups for all hemodynamic parameters measured. Thus, the data presented are cerebral regions averaged over both hemispheres. PLS patients and control subjects were found to be statistically similar for all hemodynamic parameters in all regions analyzed. The majority of the differences of this study were found between the PLSci and control groups. Eight of the PLS patients had concomitant cerebrovascular disease or diabetes as described in the patient's medical **Table 2.3:** Cognitive Results of PLSci Patients. Cognitive results of 4 PLSci patients showing that verbal word fluency was the most commonly observed test with a deficit. Bolded T-scores signify scores that are greater than 2 SD below the mean, indicating an abnormal test score.

Test	Measured Variable	T-Scores of PLSci Patients (N = 4)				
		#1	#2	#3	#4	
Controlled Oral Word Fluency	Total number of words	27	27	27	50	
Thurstone Written Word Fluency	Total number of words	35		31	49	
Delayed Alteration Test	Number of errors	16			57	
Wisconsin Card Sorting Test	Perseverative responses	58	51	32	39	
	Total errors	55	51	28	43	
Consonant Trigrams Test	Mean score - 3 conditions		31	33	48	
Block Design (WAIS-III)	Age scaled score	53		43	53	
Motor Free Visual Perception Test - Revised	Number correct	60	47	47	63	
Recognition Memory Test	Number of words correct		43	50	50	
	Number of faces correct		57	57	40	
Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test	Number of words: Trials 1-5	44	31	35	26	
	Delayed recall - number of words	41	37	41	37	
	Delayed recognition	47	10	40	23	

vascular cognitive impairment. However, when the data was analyzed both as a whole cohort and with the removal of those with concomitant cerebrovascular risk factors, there was no significant impact of either cerebrovascular disease or diabetes on the cerebral perfusion study results of the whole cohort. Hence, the whole cohort of 18 PLS patients was used for analysis. Implications of this approach in our analysis will be examined in the discussion.

2.3.3.1 Grey Matter Analysis

Hemodynamic parameters for each group are presented in Table 2.4A. Global trends of decreased CBF and increased CBV and MTT were evident in the PLSci group when compared with the other two groups. In the frontotemporal region CBV was significantly increased in PLSci compared with controls. However, MTT proved to the most sensitive in detecting differences based on cognitive status as shown by significantly elevated values in all regions of the PLSci group when compared to controls with the exception of the temporal lobe (p=0.055). Figure 2.1 displays the hemodynamic trends as mentioned with MTT being the most pronounced.

2.3.3.2 White Matter Analysis

White matter hemodynamic changes between groups closely resembled those in the grey matter and are presented in Table 2.4B. MTT was again found to be the most sensitive indicator of changes between groups with significant increases reported in the frontal and occipital regions of the PLSci group as compared with contros. The temporal and parietal region did not reach significance, but displayed the same trend.

Furthermore, a Pearson correlation analysis was performed to determine if the difference between groups for hemodynamic parameters could be explained by group differences in disease duration or education. Neither age nor the number of years of education provided a significant relationship with any hemodynamic parameter measured in any region of interest. Lastly, since the groups were stratified based on neuropsychological performance, it was of interest to determine if an interaction existed between disease duration or education with group membership. There existed no

		Control		PLS		PLSci			Wilcoxon	
Parameter	Region	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Kruskal- Wallis	Control vs PLSci	PLS vs PLSci
CBF	Frontal	38.7	3.5	38.6	4.3	36.2	5.5	-	-	-
	Temporal	39.5	4.3	39.8	3.9	36.4	6.2	-	-	-
	Parietal	44.2	4.8	41.8	4.4	36.5	5.5	-	-	-
	Occipital	39.6	4.2	37.3	4.9	32.1	4.3	-	-	-
	Basal Ganglia	40.5	5.9	40.6	3.6	36.4	5.2	-	-	-
	Thalamus	37.6	6.0	37.2	5.2	31.6	5.2	-	-	-
CBV	Frontal	1.52	0.17	1.68	0.18	1.82	0.12	*	*	*
	Temporal	1.61	0.20	1.83	0.20	1.89	0.16	*	*	*
	Parietal	1.82	0.31	1.83	0.26	1.97	0.15	-	-	+
	Occipital	1.83	0.24	1.97	0.23	2.04	0.18	-	-	-
	Basal Ganglia	1.48	0.18	1.67	0.17	1.73	0.10	*	-	*
	Thalamus	1.55	0.21	1.75	0.22	1.87	0.09	*	*	*
MTT	Frontal	2.37	0.29	2.63	0.34	3.04	0.27	*	*	-
	Temporal	2.47	0.41	2.78	0.41	3.17	0.44	-	-	-
······································	Parietal	2.47	0.34	2.65	0.44	3.27	0.26	*	*.	-
	Occipital	2.82	0.60	3.22	0.59	3.84	0.42	*	*	-
	Basal Ganglia	2.22	0.28	2.48	0.32	2.88	0.25	*	*	-
	Thalamus	2.50	0.45	2.88	0.56	3.60	0.39	*	*	-

 Table 2.4A:
 Comparison of Cerebral Hemodynamic Results for Grey Matter

 According to Group.
 Image: Comparison of Cerebral Hemodynamic Results for Grey Matter

CBF (ml/100g/min); CBV (ml/100g); MTT (seconds); * = significant (P <0.05); - = not significant

Table 2.4B: Comparison of Cerebral Hemodynamic Results for White Matter According to Group. Image: Comparison of Cerebral Hemodynamic Results for White Matter

		Con	trol	PL	S	PLSci			Wilco	xon
								5	Control	PLS
								Kruskal-	vs	vs
Parameter	Region	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Wallis	PLSci	PLSci
CBF	Frontal	22.4	3.9	22.8	3.1	20.7	4.3	-	-	-
	Temporal	22.9	4.9	22.8	3.5	20.4	3.9	-	-	1
	Parietal	23.5	3.9	23.7	3.2	17.8	3.0	*	-	•
	Occipital	24.2	3.8	22.3	3.3	18.4	3.8	-	-	1
CBV	Frontal	0.92	0.11	1.04	0.10	1.10	0.12	-	-	-
	Temporal	1.02	0.14	1.14	0.14	1.15	0.07	•	-	-
	Parietal	1.08	0.17	1.11	0.13	1.14	0.07	-	-	-
	Occipital	1.06	0.12	1.13	0.14	1.13	0.13	-	-	
MTT	Frontal	2.50	0.32	2.77	0.44	3.24	0.32	*	*	-
	Temporal	2.78	0.60	3.07	0.61	3.49	0.59	-	-	-
	Parietal	2.81	0.57	3.84	0.51	3.89	0.47	*	-	-
	Occipital	2.69	0.49	3.10	0.59	3.76	0.45	*	*	-

CBF (ml/100g/min); CBV (ml/100g); MTT (seconds); * = significant (P <0.05); - = not significant



Figure 2.1: Hemodynamic Parametric Maps by Group. Hemodynamic parametric maps of patients from the Control (A), PLS (B), and PLSci (C) groups demonstrating a decreasing trend of CBF and an increasing trend of MTT. Changes in trends of CBV are much less pronounced. CBF, cerebral blood flow (range: 0-120 ml/100g/min); CBV, cerebral blood volume (range: 0-6ml/100g); MTT, mean transit time (range: 0-12 secs).

statistical difference between the two PLS groups with respect to disease duration or between the controls and the two PLS groups for education. Blood gases were analyzed in a similar manner and there was no statistical difference between either PLS group. Physiological parameters measured during the CT scan are presented in Table 2.5. PLSci had significantly elevated mean arterial pressure when compared with the controls, but otherwise was similar to both groups in all other parameters.

	Control		PLS		PLSci			Wilcoxon		
Parameter	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Kruskal- Wallis	Control vs PLSci	PLS vs PLSci	
EtCO ₂	39.6	2.5	38.4	3.7	42.4	1.7	-	-	-	
BF	15.8	1.5	18.6	2.4	12.8	1.2	*	-	-	
BP	91.8	9.3	106.1	10.4	108.7	9.9	*	*	-	
HR	63.0	9.5	79.0	7.7	72.7	21. 0	*	-	-	
O ₂ sat	96.8	1.9	95.5	2.0	97.3	1.3	-		_	

Table 2.5: Physiological Data During CT Scan.

EtCO₂, end tidal CO₂ (mmHg); BF = breathing frequency (breaths/min); BP = blood pressure (mmHg); HR = heart rate (beats/min); O₂sat = tissue oxygen saturation (% oxygenated hemoglobin); * = significant (P <0.05); - = not significant

2.4 DISCUSSION

We have investigated the relationship between cognitive function and cerebral hemodynamics in 18 PLS patients. We found that cognitive impairment was associated with hemodynamic compromise, including significant increases in MTT and trends of increasing CBV and decreasing CBF. Overall, 22% of our patients were classified as cognitively impaired based on our relatively stringent criteria. However, none of these patients were considered to demonstrate a frontotemporal dementia. Consistent with previous studies in ALS(33), the cognitive impairment was generally absent or subtle for the majority of PLS patients. When impairment was present, it was characterized by executive dysfunction, with oral word fluency being the most frequently impaired measure.

The neuropsychological assessment utilized in this study minimized the impact of speech and motor dysfunction in testing outcomes, with many of the tests requiring no speech production and minimal motor requirements (Motor Free Visual Perception Test -Revised, Delayed Alternation Test, and Recognition Memory Test). Other tests requiring motor ability were adapted if necessary to reduce motor requirements (e.g., Wisconsin Card Sorting Test cards were placed by the examiner). In addition, some tasks allowed for either written or oral responses depending on the patient's capabilities (e.g., Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test, Consonant Trigrams Test, Thurstone Written Word Fluency). The only task that required significant manual control, Block Design, did not result in abnormal scores in either the patient or control subjects. Although oral-motor dysfunction may affect a patient's performance on the timed oral word fluency task (Controlled Oral Word Fluency), it has been previously shown for ALS patients that the vast majority of words (90 percent) are generated in the first half or 30 seconds of the oral word fluency task (21). This suggests that the limiting factor in this task is associated with thought production of the words rather than oral-motor speed in speaking the words. Previous studies are also consistent with this finding, noting a lack of effect of bulbar dysfunction (34) or specifically dysarthria (35) on oral word fluency results.

Similar to ALS (9, 11-15), PLS patients in this study exhibit cognitive dysfunction associated with disturbances of cerebral hemodynamics that are

proportionate to the level of cognitive impairment. When 8 PLS patients with concomitant cerebrovascular disease or diabetes were removed from the analysis this remained true. In the aforementioned 8 PLS patients, group membership was split between the PLS (n=7) and the PLSci (n=1). Since the majority of these patients were from the cognitively intact group, it provides evidence that their concomitant disease pathology may be mild in nature since both are known risk factors for vascular cognitive impairment (VCI) (36), thus helping to explain the similar hemodynamic outcome between the analyses.

The observed tendency for lower CBF in PLSci versus PLS is consistent with literature regarding CBF in ALS (9, 16), but perhaps did not reach significance due to the small sample size. Of note, Tanaka *et al.* (13) observed that regional CBF (rCBF) and cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen (CMRO₂) were significantly lower in ALS patients with dementia in all four cortices of the brain when compared to healthy controls and ALS patients without dementia. These authors suggested that in the absence of distinct neurological differences between ALS patients with cognitive impairment and those without, abnormalities in CBF and CMRO₂ may be reflective of intellectual deterioration. Although we do not have direct evidence to support this statement, our findings of hemodynamic compromise in PLSci are consistent with this.

Since differences in perfusion parameters are reported to be associated with both age (37) and gender (38) the current study aimed to minimize the influence of both. There were no significant differences for age between groups, thus not influencing perfusion measurements in this study. Gender-matching between groups was more difficult with fewer controls than patients participating in the study, although similar proportions of males to females were maintained between groups. Slight differences in group gender composition should have little influence on perfusion measurements as described by a recent study that found 13% greater whole brain and grey matter perfusion in a group of women when compared with a group of age-matched men.(37) Thus. given similar group gender composition in this study and reportedly marginal and controversial gender differences in perfusion (39), perfusion measurements made herein are believed to be minimally influenced by these slight group differences. Recently, Le Forestier et al. (6) examined 9 PLS patients with PET using the early uptake of [¹¹C]-Flumazenil to estimate the distribution of rCBF as compared with healthy volunteers. The patient group had foci of abnormally low blood flow bilaterally in the frontoopercular region, predominantly in the precentral gyrus, but not limited to this area. The distribution of the PET tracer described in this study was further corroborated in a small study of 4 PLS patients (40) describing a qualitatively similar pattern to that seen in sporadic ALS (41). Similarly, using HMPAO-SPECT, Caselli et al. (17) observed hypoperfusion bilaterally in the posterior frontal cortex in all 6 patients studied, with temporal involvement in 2 patients. Pringle et al. (2) observed diminished FDG uptake in the pericentral cortex in two patients with PLS in association with frontal lobe dysfunction.

We have observed that hemodynamic changes in PLSci are not confined to a single anatomic or functional region, but in fact are seen to extend globally throughout all four cortices and the underlying white matter, as well as into the deep grey matter structures of the brain. The frontotemporal region had the most prominent perfusion deficit with cortical decreases in CBV, with associated frontal lobe changes in MTT in

both cortical and subcortical regions when compared with controls. These results are in agreement with similar studies examining regional differences in perfusion and metabolism in cognitive impairment in ALS (9, 11, 13) and PLS (2, 17).

Although CBV is rarely addressed in neuroimaging studies of MND, it is of interest as it provides insight into the autoregulatory state. CBV is altered by dilation of resistance vessels to reduce cerebrovascular resistance, thereby counteracting reductions in cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) in a phenomenon known as autoregulation (42). Cerebral perfusion pressure is the net difference between the arterial pressure driving blood into the cerebral circulation and the microvascular resistance opposing it (43). We observed an increasing trend of CBV in the PLSci patients when compared to the PLS and control group. Interestingly, with respect to the cortex only the frontotemporal region in the PLSci group had significantly increased blood volume when compared with the control group. This is of particular interest since many studies indicate that this area is predominantly affected in executive dysfunction and can be visualized with CBF or CMRO₂ measurements, albeit many of these studies describe patients with more pronounced cognitive deficits. Thus, in cases of mild cognitive impairment as presented in this study, changes in CBF and CMRO₂ may not be readily apparent as this mechanism of preferential cerebral dilation allows CBF to stay within the normal range, although slight changes in CBF are documented to occur during autoregulation (44, 45). The autoregulatory mechanism just described was observed in our PLSci group, and has been elucidated in experimentation of decreased CPP using primates (46) and suggested in humans (47). Thus, it is plausible to consider that the change in CBV observed in our patients may be indicative of changes in CPP.

We have also observed increases in MTT in PLSci patients. Defined as the ratio of CBV:CBF, MTT is measured in time and is an indicator of flow velocity (42, 43) and quantifies the average amount of time that it takes the contrast agent in blood to move from the arterial input, through the capillary network, and exit via a venous output. A change in MTT is inversely related to CPP and is a sensitive measure to hemodynamic change as the resultant MTT is amplified by small reductions in CBF and increases in CBV (48). Furthermore, in an unpublished data set using CTP imaging, our group has demonstrated that MTT is an accurate surrogate marker for CPP and may be indicative of early endothelial dysfunction.

CTP scanning was used in this study as a novel technique to describe cerebral perfusion in PLS. The findings of this study are similar to other imaging modalities used describing decreased perfusion in ALS patients with cognitive impairment when compared to cognitively intact ALS and control groups. One advantage of CTP is that it not only provides high resolution anatomical images of cortical and subcortical structures, but is capable of producing parametric measurements of CBF, CBV and MTT with one rapid scanning procedure (49-sec) without the need of any radioisotopes. (31) Furthermore, a short scan time may be more comfortable for patients with dysphagia while facilitating less movement during the scan. A possible drawback of our technique may be the limited coverage as compared with other imaging modalities such as PET and MRI, which are capable of whole brain imaging. Thus, our 2-cm slab of cerebral tissue is carefully selected to ensure a scan plane with representation from all cortical lobes and deep grey matter structures. In the present study, MTT was significantly higher in the PLSci group in all grey matter regions when compared with the controls, save the

temporal lobe, as was the trend when compared with the PLS group. The white matter analysis supported this trend with significantly higher MTT in the frontal and temporal subcortical regions when compared to the control group. To our knowledge this is the first study assessing MTT differences in PLS or cognitive impairment. Given our findings showing the increased sensitivity of MTT over CBF, which is predominantly employed in hemodynamic studies, we believe that MTT may be a valuable tool for assessing mild changes in cognitive impairment that may otherwise be overlooked with CBF and CBV.

The current study has demonstrated that PLS patients are subject to cognitive decline in association with changes in cerebrovascular hemodynamic parameters, and most specifically alterations in MTT. Although many of the clinical characteristics of cognition and changes in hemodynamic status in PLS are similar to those documented in ALS, this study does not necessarily suggest that these two diseases lie on the same continuum, nor can it suggest that they are distinct entities. These data demonstrate only that many of the clinical characteristics found in ALS are also present in PLS, although to a lesser degree. Of note however, we have observed that the analysis of MTT provided a sensitive indicator correlated with cognitive change in PLS, suggesting that studies of MTT may provide clinicians and researchers with a valuable surrogate marker for the presence of cognitive impairment in PLS, and by extension, ALS.

2.5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research conducted in this Chapter was funded by the ALS Association (USA). M. Freedman was supported by the Saul A. Silverman Family Foundation, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, as part of a Canada International Scientific Exchange Program (CISEPO) project.

2.6 REFERENCES

- (1) Singer MA, Statland JM, Wolfe GI, Barohn RJ. Primary lateral sclerosis. *Muscle Nerve* 2007 Mar;35:291-302.
- (2) Pringle CE, Hudson AJ, Munoz DG, Kiernan JA, Brown WF, Ebers GC. Primary lateral sclerosis. Clinical features, neuropathology and diagnostic criteria. *Brain* 1992 Apr;115 (Pt 2):495-520.
- (3) Gordon PH, Cheng B, Katz IB, et al. The natural history of primary lateral sclerosis. *Neurology* 2006 Mar 14;66:647-653.
- (4) Tartaglia MC, Rowe A, Findlater K, Orange JB, Grace G, Strong MJ. Differentiation between primary lateral sclerosis and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: examination of symptoms and signs at disease onset and during followup. Arch Neurol 2007 Feb;64:232-236.
- (5) Hudson AJ, Kiernan JA, Munoz DG, Pringle CE, Brown WF, Ebers GC. Clinicopathological features of primary lateral sclerosis are different from amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain Res Bull* 1993;30:359-364.
- (6) Le Forestier N, Maisonobe T, Spelle L, et al. Primary lateral sclerosis: further clarification. *J Neurol Sci* 2001 Apr 1;185:95-100.
- (7) Le Forestier N, Maisonobe T, Piquard A, et al. Does primary lateral sclerosis exist? A study of 20 patients and a review of the literature. *Brain* 2001 Oct;124:1989-1999.
- (8) Strong MJ, Gordon PH. Primary lateral sclerosis, hereditary spastic paraplegia and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: discrete entities or spectrum? *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord* 2005 Mar;6:8-16.
- (9) Abrahams S, Goldstein LH, Kew JJ, et al. Frontal lobe dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A PET study. *Brain* 1996 Dec;119 (Pt 6):2105-2120.
- (10) Ishikawa T, Morita M, Nakano I. Constant blood flow reduction in premotor frontal lobe regions in ALS with dementia a SPECT study with 3D-SSP. Acta Neurol Scand 2007 Nov;116:340-344.
- (11) Ludolph AC, Langen KJ, Regard M, et al. Frontal lobe function in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a neuropsychologic and positron emission tomography study. *Acta Neurol Scand* 1992 Feb;85:81-89.
- (12) Ludolph AC, Elger CE, Bottger IW, Kuttig AG, Lottes G, Brune GG. Nisopropyl-p-123I-amphetamine single photon emission computer tomography in motor neuron disease. *Eur Neurol* 1989;29:255-260.

- (13) Tanaka M, Ichiba T, Kondo S, Hirai S, Okamoto K. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen metabolism in patients with progressive dementia and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurol Res* 2003 Jun;25:351-356.
- (14) Tanaka M, Kondo S, Hirai S, Sun X, Yamagishi T, Okamoto K. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen metabolism in progressive dementia associated with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci* 1993 Dec 1;120:22-28.
- (15) Kew JJ, Goldstein LH, Leigh PN, et al. The relationship between abnormalities of cognitive function and cerebral activation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A neuropsychological and positron emission tomography study. *Brain* 1993 Dec;116 (Pt 6):1399-1423.
- (16) Waldemar G, Vorstrup S, Jensen TS, Johnsen A, Boysen G. Focal reductions of cerebral blood flow in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a [99mTc]-d,l-HMPAO SPECT study. J Neurol Sci 1992 Jan;107:19-28.
- (17) Caselli RJ, Smith BE, Osborne D. Primary lateral sclerosis: a neuropsychological study. *Neurology* 1995 Nov;45:2005-2009.
- (18) Piquard A, Le Forestier N, Baudoin-Madec V, et al. Neuropsychological changes in patients with primary lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler* 2006 Sep;7:150-160.
- (19) Strong MJ. Progress in clinical neurosciences: the evidence for ALS as a multisystems disorder of limited phenotypic expression. *Can J Neurol Sci* 2001 Nov;28:283-298.
- (20) Wilson CM, Grace GM, Munoz DG, He BP, Strong MJ. Cognitive impairment in sporadic ALS: a pathologic continuum underlying a multisystem disorder. *Neurology* 2001 Aug 28;57:651-657.
- (21) Lomen-Hoerth C, Murphy J, Langmore S, Kramer JH, Olney RK, Miller B. Are amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients cognitively normal? *Neurology* 2003 Apr 8;60:1094-1097.
- (22) Strong MJ, Lomen-Hoerth C, Caselli RJ, Bigio EH, Yang W. Cognitive impairment, frontotemporal dementia, and the motor neuron diseases. *Ann Neurol* 2003;54 Suppl 5:S20-S23.
- (23) Abrahams S, Leigh PN, Goldstein LH. Cognitive change in ALS: a prospective study. *Neurology* 2005 Apr 12;64:1222-1226.
- (24) Strong MJ, Grace GM, Orange JB, Leeper HA, Menon RS, Aere C. A prospective study of cognitive impairment in ALS. *Neurology* 1999 Nov 10;53:1665-1670.
- (25) Neary D, Snowden JS, Gustafson L, et al. Frontotemporal lobar degeneration: a consensus on clinical diagnostic criteria. *Neurology* 1998 Dec;51:1546-1554.

- (26) Murphy JM, Henry RG, Langmore S, Kramer JH, Miller BL, Lomen-Hoerth C. Continuum of frontal lobe impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* 2007 Apr;64:530-534.
- (27) Rippon GA, Scarmeas N, Gordon PH, et al. An observational study of cognitive impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* 2006 Mar;63:345-352.
- (28) Ringholz GM, Appel SH, Bradshaw M, Cooke NA, Mosnik DM, Schulz PE. Prevalence and patterns of cognitive impairment in sporadic ALS. *Neurology* 2005 Aug 23;65:586-590.
- (29) Guedj E, Le Ber I, Lacomblez L, et al. Brain spect perfusion of frontotemporal dementia associated with motor neuron disease. *Neurology* 2007 Jul 31;69:488-490.
- (30) Cedarbaum JM, Stambler N. Performance of the Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Functional Rating Scale (ALSFRS) in multicenter clinical trials. J Neurol Sci 1997 Oct;152 Suppl 1:S1-S9.
- (31) Murphy BD, Fox AJ, Lee DH, et al. Identification of penumbra and infarct in acute ischemic stroke using computed tomography perfusion-derived blood flow and blood volume measurements. *Stroke* 2006 Jul;37:1771-1777.
- (32) Cenic A, Nabavi DG, Craen RA, Gelb AW, Lee TY. Dynamic CT measurement of cerebral blood flow: a validation study. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* 1999 Jan;20:63-73.
- (33) Kilani M, Micallef J, Soubrouillard C, et al. A longitudinal study of the evolution of cognitive function and affective state in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord 2004 Mar;5:46-54.
- (34) Rippon GA, Scarmeas N, Gordon PH, et al. An observational study of cognitive impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* 2006 Mar;63:345-352.
- (35) Massman PJ, Sims J, Cooke N, Haverkamp LJ, Appel V, Appel SH. Prevalence and correlates of neuropsychological deficits in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1996 Nov;61:450-455.
- (36) O'Brien JT, Erkinjuntti T, Reisberg B, et al. Vascular cognitive impairment. Lancet Neurol 2003 Feb;2:89-98.
- (37) Parkes LM, Rashid W, Chard DT, Tofts PS. Normal cerebral perfusion measurements using arterial spin labeling: reproducibility, stability, and age and gender effects. *Magn Reson Med* 2004 Apr;51:736-743.
- (38) Cosgrove KP, Mazure CM, Staley JK. Evolving knowledge of sex differences in brain structure, function, and chemistry. *Biol Psychiatry* 2007 Oct 15;62:847-855.

- (39) Van Laere KJ, Dierckx RA. Brain perfusion SPECT: age- and sex-related effects correlated with voxel-based morphometric findings in healthy adults. *Radiology* 2001 Dec;221:810-817.
- (40) Turner MR, Hammers A, Al Chalabi A, et al. Cortical involvement in four cases of primary lateral sclerosis using [(11)C]-flumazenil PET. J Neurol 2007 Aug;254:1033-1036.
- (41) Turner MR, Hammers A, Al Chalabi A, et al. Distinct cerebral lesions in sporadic and 'D90A' SOD1 ALS: studies with [11C]flumazenil PET. *Brain* 2005 Jun;128:1323-1329.
- (42) Powers WJ, Press GA, Grubb RL, Jr., Gado M, Raichle ME. The effect of hemodynamically significant carotid artery disease on the hemodynamic status of the cerebral circulation. *Ann Intern Med* 1987 Jan;106:27-34.
- (43) Powers WJ. Cerebral hemodynamics in ischemic cerebrovascular disease. Ann Neurol 1991 Mar;29:231-240.
- (44) Harper AM. Autoregulation of cerebral blood flow: influence of the arterial blood pressure on the blood flow through the cerebral cortex. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1966 Oct;29:398-403.
- (45) Fitch W, Ferguson GG, Sengupta D, Garibi J, Harper AM. Autoregulation of cerebral blood flow during controlled hypotension in baboons. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1976 Oct;39:1014-1022.
- (46) Schumann P, Touzani O, Young AR, Morello R, Baron JC, MacKenzie ET. Evaluation of the ratio of cerebral blood flow to cerebral blood volume as an index of local cerebral perfusion pressure. *Brain* 1998 Jul;121 (Pt 7):1369-1379.
- (47) Powers WJ, Grubb RL, Jr., Raichle ME. Physiological responses to focal cerebral ischemia in humans. *Ann Neurol* 1984 Nov;16:546-552.
- (48) Sette G, Baron JC, Mazoyer B, Levasseur M, Pappata S, Crouzel C. Local brain haemodynamics and oxygen metabolism in cerebrovascular disease. Positron emission tomography. *Brain* 1989 Aug;112 (Pt 4):931-951.
- (49) Ruff RM, Light RH, Parker SB, Levin HS. Benton Controlled Oral Word Association Test: reliability and updated norms. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 1996;11:329-338.
- (50) Heaton RK, Miller SW, Taylor MJ, Grant I. Revised Comprehensive Norms for an expanded Halstead-Reitan Battery: Demographically adjusted neuropsychological norms for African American and Caucasian Adults, Professional Manual. Lutz: Psychological Assessment Resources, 2004.

- (51) el Awar M, Kish S, Oscar-Berman M, Robitaille Y, Schut L, Freedman M. Selective delayed alternation deficits in dominantly inherited olivopontocerebellar atrophy. *Brain Cogn* 1991 Jul;16:121-129.
- (52) Axelrod BN, Jiron CC, Henry RR. Performance of adults ages 20 to 90 on the abbreviated Wisconsin Card Sorting Test. *Clinical Neuropsychol* 1993;7:205-209.
- (53) Stuss DT, Stethem LL, Pelchat G. Three tests of attention and rapid information processing: An extension. *Clin Neuropsychol* 1988;2:246-250.
- (54) Wechsler D. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale 3^{rd ed}. San Antonio: The Psychological Corporation, 1997.
- (55) Colarusso RP, Hammill DD. Motor-Free Visual Perception Test Revised. Novato: Academic Therapy Publications, 1996.
- (56) Warrington EK. Recognition Memory Test Manual. Windsor: NFER-Nelson Publishing Company, 1984.
- (57) Geffen G, Moar KJ, O'Hanlon AP, Clark CR, Geffen LB. Performance measures of 16- to 86-year-old males and females on the Auditory Verbal Learning Test. *Clin Neuropsychol* 1990;4:45-63.

CHAPTER 3

WIDESPREAD CEREBRAL HEMODYNAMICS DISTURBANCES OCCUR EARLY IN AMYOTROPHIC LATERAL SCLEROSIS

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Historically, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) has been viewed as a progressive neurodegenerative disease confined to the voluntary motor system giving rise to diffuse muscle wasting, weakness and spasticity. A growing body of evidence now describes widespread manifestations of the disease outside of the motor system. Moreover, studies in neuroimaging (1, 2), pathology (3) and neuropsychology (4, 5) have provided a fundamental description of changes in extramotor regions, both cortical and subcortical in nature.

Contemporary views of ALS now assert that cognitive change is a prominent extramotor manifestation and part of the clinical characterization of the disease. To this end, studies have stratified patients based on the presence or absence of overt frontotemporal dementia (FTD) in an attempt to elucidate possible mechanistic differences in pathology between the two groups. As a first approximation, it was successful and provided a basis for current knowledge and gave a first description of differences between the two clinical phenotypes. However, it is now recognized that impairment levels are variable and can range from mild cognitive or behavioural impairment to FTD, and may in fact represent a continuum of dysfunction (6, 7). When cognitive change is prospectively tested with paradigms sensitive to frontal lobe dysfunction, upwards of 50% of ALS patients exhibit some degree of impairment short of dementia, while up to 20-30% fulfil the criteria for FTD (7-9).

Perfusion and neuroimaging studies have provided evidence for the link between neuropsychology and pathology in cognitive impairment. When ALS is accompanied by cognitive impairment or dementia, as demonstrated by specific neuropsychological testing, concomitant changes in cerebral perfusion and metabolism have been noted. These results have been suggested using various imaging methodologies including positron emission tomography (PET) (10-14), [^{99m}Tc]-d,l-HMPAO (15) or N-Isopropyl-p-¹²³-iodoamphetamine (¹²³I-IMP) (16-18) single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT). A preponderance of the dysfunction described in the literature focuses on the prefrontal cortex when examining extramotor involvement in ALS (5, 10, 13, 14, 19). Much less is known about early perfusion changes in the extramotor area away from the frontal lobe, although studies have demonstrated widespread cortical and subcortical involvement in the disease through pathology (3) and advanced MRI techniques (1, 2).

Furthermore, imaging and cognitive studies in ALS have predominantly employed cross sectional methods at discrete time points to resolve changes in their respective areas with few focusing on the temporal course of these changes. Even less is known about the association between cognitive decline and cerebral hemodynamics in ALS with respect to time, even though longitudinal studies have been highlighted (20) as a necessary step to help define and understand disease progression and its manifestations. We thus assessed regional cerebral perfusion as a function of cognitive dysfunction in

ALS. We used CT perfusion (GE Healthcare) (21) to examine hemodynamic changes in a prospective longitudinal study that systematically assessed cognitive function in ALS.

3.2 METHODS

3.2.1 Participants

Fourteen ALS patients (9 men, 5 women), age 34 to 69 years (mean, 52.4 ± 9.4 years) and eleven spousal controls (6 men, 5 woman), age 34 to 63 years (mean, 53.9 ± 8.2 years) were recruited from the Motor Diseases Clinic at the University of Western Ontario from 2003-2007 to study the possible relationship between cognitive and hemodynamic changes that occur during disease progression. All subjects gave informed consent for the study which was approved by the University of Western Ontario Heath Sciences Research Ethics Board. Disease severity was measured using the revised ALS functional rating scale (ALSFRS-R) (22) and diagnosed as clinically definite for having the disease based on the El Escorial criteria (23). Upon admission to the study, both groups completed an initial assessment consisting of a cognitive test battery and a CT Perfusion (CTP) head scan. Patients and controls completed follow-up visits involving the same tests, although some withdrew early from the study due to medical or personal reasons. Time periods for analyses were stratified as initial assessment and periods post initial assessment: T0; initial assessment ($n_{ALS} = 14$, $n_C = 9$), T1; 0-12 months ($n_{ALS} = 8$, $n_{C}=5$), T2; ≥ 13 months ($n_{ALS}=6$, $n_{C}=4$).

3.2.2 Neuropsychological Evaluation

Nine neuropsychological tests consisting of 13 variables were employed to assess four major domains of cognitive functioning, with a particular emphasis on frontal-executive skills as described in Table 3.1.

Tests were specifically chosen to minimize the requirements of speech production and upper limb motor skills. All patients and controls completed neuropsychological testing on the morning of CTP scanning at all time points. Neuropsychological data were analyzed using a threshold of 2 SD below the mean to determine impairment for a specific test score, with two abnormal test scores being the criteria for CI (24).

3.2.3 Imaging and Analysis

A 4-slice CT scanner (GE LightSpeed Plus; GE Healthcare, Waukesha, Wisconsin) was used for the CTP scan, during which time blood pressure (BP), end tidal CO_2 (EtCO₂), oxygen saturation (O₂sat), breathing frequency (BF) and heart rate (HR) were monitored. Blood gases were taken before and after the study to control for oxygen, carbon dioxide, bicarbonate, and pH levels. Four 5mm slices were localized to the level of the basal ganglia using a non-enhanced CT head scan. Once the appropriate slices had been determined patients were scanned continuously at this location for 49 seconds at 80 kVp and 190 mA and with an intravenous injection of 50mL of iodinated contrast agent (Omnipaque 300, GE Healthcare) at a rate of 2-3.5 ml·s⁻¹ using a methodology previously described (21). The software CT Perfusion (version 3, GE Healthcare) was
Domain	Test	Measured Variable		
Executive Skills	Controlled Oral Word Fluency	Total number of words		
	Thurstone Written Word Fluency	Total number of words		
	Delayed Alteration Test	Number of errors		
	Wisconsin Card Sorting Test	Perseverative responses		
		Total errors		
Attention and Concentration	d Consonant Trigrams Test Mean score – 3			
Visual-perception/	Block Design (WAIS-III)	Age scaled score		
Visual-construction	Motor Free Visual Perception Test - Revised	Number correct		
Memory	Recognition Memory Test	Number of words correct		
		Number of faces correct		
	Rey Auditory Verbal	Number of words: Trials 1-5		
	Learning Test	Delayed recognition		
		Delayed recall - number of words		

 Table 3.1:
 Summary of Neuropsychological Tests and Variables.

used to calculate parametric maps of hemodynamics: cerebral blood flow (CBF), cerebral blood volume (CBV), and mean transit time (MTT) from dynamic images acquired with the CTP scan (25). MTT, defined as the ratio of CBV:CBF, is an indicator of flow velocity and quantifies the average time period for blood borne contrast agent to move from the arterial input, through the capillary network, to a venous output.

Cortical lobes (frontal, temporal, parietal, and occipital), deep grey matter structures (basal ganglia and thalamus), and subcortical white matter were segmented manually according anatomical landmarks. Average values in the manually drawn regions of interests (ROIs) were determined with a custom program written in IDL (Interactive Data Language, Version 5.6, Research Systems Inc., 2002) from the hemodynamic parametric maps.

3.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Neuropsychological test scores were converted to T-scores (mean of 50, SD of 10) and the difference of the T-scores was calculated based on normative samples stratified for age and when available for education. A T-score less than 30 (i.e., more than 2 SD below the mean) on a specific measure was considered to an abnormal score. Results for physiological and hemodynamic measurements are given as the mean \pm SD values. Since assumptions for normality were violated within groups, a nonparametric analysis was employed. Comparison of ALS and control groups were made with a Wilcoxon test with p < 0.05 considered significant.

3.3 **RESULTS**

3.3.1 Clinical Characteristics

Fourteen ALS patients and 11 controls were studied at T0, all completing neuropsychology and cerebral perfusion assessments. T0 was assessed on average 11.8 months (range, SD; 1-62, 19.5 months) post diagnosis, with T1 and T2 being assessed at 6.1 (4-8, 1.4) and 17.0 (13–25, 4.3) months post T0, respectively.

There was no significant difference in age at the time of study between the patient and control groups. The mean age of onset at the first symptom for ALS patients was 49.8 ± 9.7 years, with the nature of the first symptom being bulbar in 5 patients and limb-onset in 9 patients. At the time of testing, all patients had bulbar symptoms.

3.3.2 Neuropsychological Results

The results of the neuropsychological tests indicated that all 14 ALS patients were cognitively normal at T0. In the control group at T0, neuropsychological testing identified two controls as cognitively impaired and were subsequently excluded from the study; leaving nine cognitively normal controls included. For T1 and T2, all patients and controls remained cognitively normal with the exception of two ALS patients. These two patients achieved the minimum threshold for consideration of CI by scoring abnormally on two tests, at which point they were excluded from the ALS group analysis. Unfortunately, a grouping of 2 patients is insufficient to perform statistical procedures on as a separate group and thus is further excluded from any formal statistical analysis.

3.3.3 Imaging Results

No hemispheric differences were found in each of the hemodynamic parameters. Thus data is presented as the average of both hemispheres for the cerebral region of interest. Values of physiological parameters measured during the CTP scan are displayed in Table 3.2. No significant differences existed between groups with the exception of mean arterial pressure at T0.

For time period T0, no significant differences or trends were apparent in any hemodynamic parameter measured for any region between the ALS and control groups. The follow up T1 measurements were assessed on average 6.1 and 6.2 months after T0 for ALS and control groups, respectively. The temporal region had significantly increased MTT in the ALS group compared with controls; otherwise no significant

Parameter	TO		T1		T2	
	ALS	Control	ALS	Control	ALS	Control
EtCO ₂	39 ± 4	39 ± 3	39 ± 2	40 ± 3	37 ± 1	40 ± 3
BF	19 ± 4	16 ± 4	21 ± 8	15 ± 4	21 ± 7	16 ± 4
MAP	$106 \pm 7*$	93 ± 7	97 ± 12	93 ± 3	98 ± 7	95 ± 5
HR	79 ± 13	69 ± 11	83 ± 17	70 ± 13	83 ± 18	69 ± 4
O ₂ sat	95 ± 3	97 ± 2	95 ± 3	93 ± 3	94 ± 2	95 ± 2

 Table 3.2: Physiological Data During CT Scan.

 $EtCO_{2}$ end tidal CO₂ (mmHg); BF = breathing frequency (breaths/min); MAP = mean arterial pressure (mmHg); HR = heart rate (beats/min); O₂sat = tissue oxygen saturation (% oxygenated haemoglobin); mean \pm SD; * = significant (P < 0.05).

differences existed between the two groups at T1. However, it is noteworthy that ALS patients had trends of reduced CBF and increased MTT in all regions without exception when compared with the control subjects. Lastly, T2 was assessed on average 17.0 and 15.5 months post T1 for ALS and controls, respectively. At T2, in all regions measured for both grey and white matter, the ALS group had trends of decreased CBF and increased CBV. The MTT was significantly higher in all cortical regions and the thalamus of the ALS group when compared with the controls, although significant differences were not found for white matter regions during this time period. Trends of differences in hemodynamic parameters between ALS and controls at T1 and T2 were most pronounced in the cortex.

Figure 3.1 compares the four cortical regions in both groups for MTT.

3.4 DISCUSSION

In this study we measured cerebral hemodynamic parameters in both cortical and subcortical regions in early stage ALS and compared them to normal age matched controls using CT Perfusion imaging over three time periods. Furthermore, an inclusion



Figure 3.1: Comparison of MTT Between Groups by Region at T2. Mean MTT values (\pm SD) for the 6 grey matter regions measured between ALS patients and controls at T2. MTT was significantly increased in all regions of the ALS group except basal ganglia when compared with controls (* p < 0.05).

criterion at the onset of the study was that patients, when tested with a battery sensitive to frontal executive function, had normal neuropsychological profiles. This criterion has merit in that it allows a prospective account of the incidence of cognitive impairment. As well, it ensures early changes in cerebral perfusion are not confounded by impairment level, thus allowing comparison of cognitively intact ALS patients with controls with certainty.

Once thought to be rare, cognitive impairment is now considered as a component of the clinical pathology of ALS. Of the 14 patients studied, two (14%) patients progressed to mild cognitive impairment without developing overt dementia. The incidence of cognitive dysfunction in this study is lower than expected and may be

related to the prospective study design in which patients had no cognitive deficits at baseline. This eliminated patients in whom cognitive dysfunction developed before symptoms of ALS. Secondly, it is possible that the 6 patients that remained cognitively intact to the last time period represent a more stable disease course (24) and may not show cognitive signs within the given time period. With this noted, other longitudinal studies have shown development of cognitive dysfunction similar to ours with little or no progression of cognitive decline over a similar time interval (26, 27).

Pathological studies of cerebral tissue in ALS are predominantly limited to the premotor and motor cortex. However, a limited number of studies have described extramotor involvement that is in agreement with the findings of the current study. Smith et al. (1960) noted degeneration of fibres extending into the frontal (prefrontal cortex) and parietal (precentral gyrus) regions away from the motor cortex. Furthermore, degeneration was noted in the temporal lobe, corpus callosum, and anterior cingulate gyrus (28). Both the thalamus and basal ganglia have also been implicated in ALS in a related study (29). Although histopathology is an excellent technique for accurately quantifying tissue changes, it is an end stage metric that only provides a description of the cumulative changes that occur throughout the disease. The advent of advanced imaging techniques allows visualization of morphological and functional changes *in vivo* throughout disease progression (30).

Our study measured changes in cerebral perfusion parameters (CBF, CBV and MTT) of cortical grey matter, and subcortical grey and white matter at the level of the basal ganglia. We observed no significant differences in any of these parameters in the white matter throughout the duration of the study. Similarly, we found no differences in

96

the grey matter at T0 and T1 between ALS and control groups. In contrast, at T2 the trend of increased CBV and decreased CBF in all regions in the cortical grey matter leads to a significant increase in the MTT in ALS patients when compared to controls. Our findings are in agreement with those of Tanaka et al. (1993) who described mild reductions in regional CBF (rCBF) and cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen (CMRO₂) in non-demented patients with ALS, and significant reductions of both parameters in the majority of cortical regions measured in ALS with dementia when compared with healthy controls (12). Nakano et al. (2007) described significant decreases in rCBF in ALS patients with associated dementia, but only subtle changes in the non-demented ALS group when compared with controls using SPECT (17). These studies also described subtle changes in cerebral perfusion in ALS patients without dementia in which extramotor areas including the anterior portion of the cingulate gyrus and posterior part of the corpus callosum were involved.

Previous studies have focused largely on CBF and less frequently on CBV. We have shown that while separately these two parameters are not sensitive markers of altered cerebral perfusion in ALS, when used in conjunction with each other and expressed as MTT, which is quantitatively equivalent to CBV/CBF, significant differences between the groups become apparent. This is most evident at T2 and is present throughout the cortex. These findings are also consistent with automated voxel based morphometry (VBM) MRI studies in ALS patients with or without dementia. Abrahams et al. (2005) observed decreased white matter volume in non-demented ALS patients affecting both motor and extramotor regions (1). When the non-demented group from this latter study was further stratified into cognitively impaired and intact ALS

individuals, based on verbal fluency tests, both groups had similar patterns of white matter loss as compared to controls, although more pronounced in impaired ALS patients. The authors concluded that a loss of white matter volume was present early in the disease course of ALS, and that this may precede cognitive impairment. Although VBM studies have documented subtle grey matter structural changes extending beyond the motor cortex that are not obvious on routine visual inspection of T2- and proton-weighted MRI images (2), there are inconsistencies in this technique (31). These inconsistencies may arise from differences due to the study of small patient cohorts or methodological differences. Our study is however in agreement with the majority of studies(1-5, 10, 13, 14, 17, 29, 32) in describing hemodynamic changes outside of the motor cortex, and suggest hemodynamic change, like structural abnormalities, occur early in the disease process and may precede cognitive decline.

Elucidating the cause of these hemodynamic changes and their relationship to cognitive impairment in ALS presents a complex challenge. Our findings suggest that increases in MTT may indicate that vascular compromise is present in ALS. If alterations in vascular perfusion contribute to cognitive decline in ALS, then parallels between perfusion changes in ALS with mild cognitive impairment and vascular cognitive impairment or dementia might be expected.

It is pertinent to this study then that Neary et al. (2002) have described altered vascular perfusion with both MRI and SPECT in the three most common causes of young onset dementia including Alzheimer's disease (AD), FTD, and vascular dementia (VaD) (33). The overlap of atrophy and altered perfusion patterns was similar in many regions between FTD and VaD. FTD had more pronounced changes confined to the

frontotemporal lobe, while VaD displayed more subtle changes in this region and extended diffusely to other regions. More specifically, FTD had severe frontotemporal lobe atrophy, whereas only mild atrophy was observed in VaD in frontal, temporal and parietal regions. In keeping with this finding, in ALS the presence of overt atrophy is only documented in ALS/FTD (31) whereas ALS without dementia have only subtle cortical changes (2, 31, 34) similar to those described for VaD. Furthermore, in a separate study using VBM to compare ALS/FTD and ALS, a similar pattern of grey matter atrophy was found between the two groups, with the ALS/FTD group having significantly increased atrophy of the frontal region (35). When Neary et al. (2002) compared rCBF of FTD and VaD, a similar pattern was present in both dementias, again with more marked reductions in frontotemporal regions of FTD, distinguishing it from AD but to a lesser extent from VaD. VaD had mild changes in rCBF in all cortical regions measured with the most pronounced decreases in the frontal and temporal regions. These findings are similar to the previously described patterns of rCBF in ALS and ALS/FTD. While FTD is undoubtedly part of the pathological spectrum for a subset of patients with ALS (18, 36, 37), the description for VaD provided by Neary et al. (2002) closely resembles accounts of mild cognitive impairment in ALS.

A possible mechanism relating hypoperfusion to cognitive dysfunction may involve astrocytic degeneration and gliosis. Astrocytes lie in close proximity to neurons, are in direct apposition with vessel walls and are now considered important mediators of neurovascular coupling (38). In response to injury, as in neuronal degeneration, astrocytes become reactive and disruption of astrocyte-neural connections may have significant consequences on neuronal integrity and cerebral perfusion (39). Cotman and colleagues (2001) described global trends for increased astrogliosis in patients with FTD with the most prominent changes in the frontal and temporal region (39). They noted that while the total number of astrocytes was similar in FTD and control brains, the number of degenerating astrocytes was elevated in FTD, although not reaching significance due to the variability within FTD cases. The number of degenerating astrocytes had a significant inverse relationship with cerebral perfusion measured with SPECT. In a related study, astrocytic cell degeneration and death was correlated with disease stage and neuronal loss in the progression of FTD (40). Thus, by extension, if a continuum of cognitive impairment exists that terminates in FTD, the perfusion deficits would also represent a continuum, with mild changes present in early ALS as documented in the current study.

In summary, we have observed early widespread cerebral hemodynamic changes in a group of cognitively intact ALS patients. Differences in MTT between groups became progressively apparent with increased time from baseline measurements in the absence of cognitive impairment. Although these findings cannot implicate vascular compromise as having a causal role in ALS, they do raise the possibility that vascular compromise may contribute to cognitive impairment in ALS. This study also demonstrated that MTT is a more sensitive indicator of perfusion deficits compared with CBF which is commonly used in neuroimaging and perfusion studies. Further research is needed to longitudinally assess patients who progress to cognitive impairment and FTD to help determine a possible relationship between vascular compromise and cognitive dysfunction in ALS.

100

3.5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research conducted in this Chapter was funded by the ALS Association (USA). M. Freedman was supported by the Saul A. Silverman Family Foundation, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, as part of a Canada International Scientific Exchange Program (CISEPO) project.

3.6 REFERENCES

- (1) Abrahams S, Goldstein LH, Suckling J, et al. Frontotemporal white matter changes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol* 2005 Mar;252:321-331.
- (2) Ellis CM, Suckling J, Amaro E Jr, et al. Volumetric analysis reveals corticospinal tract degeneration and extramotor involvement in ALS. *Neurology* 2001 Nov 13;57:1571-1578.
- (3) Nagy D, Kato T, Kushner PD. Reactive astrocytes are widespread in the cortical gray matter of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurosci Res* 1994 Jun 15;38:336-347.
- (4) Massman PJ, Sims J, Cooke N, Haverkamp LJ, Appel V, Appel SH. Prevalence and correlates of neuropsychological deficits in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1996 Nov;61:450-455.
- (5) Abrahams S, Goldstein LH, Al Chalabi A, et al. Relation between cognitive dysfunction and pseudobulbar palsy in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1997 May;62:464-472.
- (6) Strong MJ, Lomen-Hoerth C, Caselli RJ, Bigio EH, Yang W. Cognitive impairment, frontotemporal dementia, and the motor neuron diseases. *Ann Neurol* 2003;54 Suppl 5:S20-S23.
- (7) Murphy JM, Henry RG, Langmore S, Kramer JH, Miller BL, Lomen-Hoerth C. Continuum of frontal lobe impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Arch Neurol 2007 Apr;64:530-534.
- (8) Lomen-Hoerth C, Murphy J, Langmore S, Kramer JH, Olney RK, Miller B. Are amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients cognitively normal? *Neurology* 2003 Apr 8;60:1094-1097.
- (9) Rippon GA, Scarmeas N, Gordon PH, et al. An observational study of cognitive impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* 2006 Mar;63:345-352.
- (10) Abrahams S, Goldstein LH, Kew JJ, et al. Frontal lobe dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A PET study. *Brain* 1996 Dec;119 (Pt 6):2105-2120.
- (11) Tanaka M, Ichiba T, Kondo S, Hirai S, Okamoto K. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen metabolism in patients with progressive dementia and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurol Res* 2003 Jun;25:351-356.
- (12) Tanaka M, Kondo S, Hirai S, Sun X, Yamagishi T, Okamoto K. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen metabolism in progressive dementia associated with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci* 1993 Dec 1;120:22-28.

- (13) Kew JJ, Goldstein LH, Leigh PN, et al. The relationship between abnormalities of cognitive function and cerebral activation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A neuropsychological and positron emission tomography study. *Brain* 1993 Dec;116 (Pt 6):1399-1423.
- (14) Ludolph AC, Langen KJ, Regard M, et al. Frontal lobe function in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a neuropsychologic and positron emission tomography study. *Acta Neurol Scand* 1992 Feb;85:81-89.
- (15) Waldemar G, Vorstrup S, Jensen TS, Johnsen A, Boysen G. Focal reductions of cerebral blood flow in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a [99mTc]-d,1-HMPAO SPECT study. J Neurol Sci 1992 Jan;107:19-28.
- (16) Ludolph AC, Elger CE, Bottger IW, Kuttig AG, Lottes G, Brune GG. Nisopropyl-p-123I-amphetamine single photon emission computer tomography in motor neuron disease. *Eur Neurol* 1989;29:255-260.
- (17) Ishikawa T, Morita M, Nakano I. Constant blood flow reduction in premotor frontal lobe regions in ALS with dementia a SPECT study with 3D-SSP. Acta Neurol Scand 2007 Nov;116:340-344.
- (18) Guedj E, Le Ber I, Lacomblez L, et al. Brain spect perfusion of frontotemporal dementia associated with motor neuron disease. *Neurology* 2007 Jul 31;69:488-490.
- (19) Kew JJ, Leigh PN, Playford ED, et al. Cortical function in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A positron emission tomography study. *Brain* 1993 Jun;116 (Pt 3):655-680.
- (20) Robinson KM, Lacey SC, Grugan P, Glosser G, Grossman M, McCluskey LF. Cognitive functioning in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a six month longitudinal study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 2006 May;77:668-670.
- (21) Murphy BD, Fox AJ, Lee DH, et al. Identification of penumbra and infarct in acute ischemic stroke using computed tomography perfusion-derived blood flow and blood volume measurements. *Stroke* 2006 Jul;37:1771-1777.
- (22) Cedarbaum JM, Stambler N. Performance of the Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Functional Rating Scale (ALSFRS) in multicenter clinical trials. J Neurol Sci 1997 Oct;152 Suppl 1:S1-S9.
- (23) Brooks BR. El Escorial World Federation of Neurology criteria for the diagnosis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Subcommittee on Motor Neuron Diseases/Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis of the World Federation of Neurology Research Group on Neuromuscular Diseases and the El Escorial "Clinical limits of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis" workshop contributors. J Neurol Sci 1994 Jul;124 Suppl:96-107.

- (24) Mitsumoto H, Ulug AM, Pullman SL, et al. Quantitative objective markers for upper and lower motor neuron dysfunction in ALS. *Neurology* 2007 Apr 24;68:1402-1410.
- (25) Cenic A, Nabavi DG, Craen RA, Gelb AW, Lee TY. Dynamic CT measurement of cerebral blood flow: a validation study. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* 1999 Jan;20:63-73.
- (26) Kilani M, Micallef J, Soubrouillard C, et al. A longitudinal study of the evolution of cognitive function and affective state in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord 2004 Mar;5:46-54.
- (27) Schreiber H, Gaigalat T, Wiedemuth-Catrinescu U, et al. Cognitive function in bulbar- and spinal-onset amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A longitudinal study in 52 patients. *J Neurol* 2005 Jul;252:772-781.
- (28) Smith MC. Nerve fibre degeneration in the brain in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1960;23:269-282.
- (29) Brownell B, Oppenheimer DR, Hughes JT. The central nervous system in motor neurone disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1970 Jun;33:338-357.
- (30) Strong MJ. The syndromes of frontotemporal dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler (in press)* 2008.
- (31) Turner MR, Hammers A, Allsop J, et al. Volumetric cortical loss in sporadic and familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler* 2007 Dec;8:343-347.
- (32) Kew JJ, Brooks DJ, Passingham RE, Rothwell JC, Frackowiak RS, Leigh PN. Cortical function in progressive lower motor neuron disorders and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a comparative PET study. *Neurology* 1994 Jun;44:1101-1110.
- (33) Varma AR, Adams W, Lloyd JJ, et al. Diagnostic patterns of regional atrophy on MRI and regional cerebral blood flow change on SPECT in young onset patients with Alzheimer's disease, frontotemporal dementia and vascular dementia. Acta Neurol Scand 2002;105:261-269.
- (34) Kassubek J, Unrath A, Huppertz HJ, et al. Global brain atrophy and corticospinal tract alterations in ALS, as investigated by voxel-based morphometry of 3-D MRI. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord 2005 Dec;6:213-220.
- (35) Chang JL, Lomen-Hoerth C, Murphy J, et al. A voxel-based morphometry study of patterns of brain atrophy in ALS and ALS/FTLD. *Neurology* 2005 Jul 12;65:75-80.

- (36) Talbot PR, Goulding PJ, Lloyd JJ, Snowden JS, Neary D, Testa HJ. Inter-relation between "classic" motor neuron disease and frontotemporal dementia: neuropsychological and single photon emission computed tomography study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1995 May;58:541-547.
- (37) Vercelletto M, Ronin M, Huvet M, Magne C, Feve JR. Frontal type dementia preceding amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a neuropsychological and SPECT study of five clinical cases. *Eur J Neurol* 1999 May;6:295-299.
- (38) Iadecola C, Nedergaard M. Glial regulation of the cerebral microvasculature. *Nat Neurosci* 2007;10:1369-1376.
- (39) Martin JA, Craft DK, Su JH, Kim RC, Cotman CW. Astrocytes degenerate in frontotemporal dementia: possible relation to hypoperfusion. *Neurobiology of Aging* 2001;22:195-207.
- (40) Broe M, Kril J, Halliday GM. Astrocytic degeneration relates to the severity of disease in frontotemporal dementia. *Brain* 2008;127:2214-2220.

CHAPTER 4

EVALUATION OF MEAN TRANSIT TIME AS INDEX OF CEREBRAL PERFUSION PRESSURE IN EXPERIMENTALLY GRADED SYSTEMIC HYPOTENSION

4.1 INTRODUCTION

A reliable and clinically applicable surrogate of regional cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) would be of substantial benefit to the diagnosis and treatment of cerebrovascular diseases since a predominant hallmark of cerebrovascular disease is a regional decrease in CPP downstream from the site of pathological origin. As the direct measurement of CPP can only be obtained through invasive techniques, it is not clinically practical. Thus, indirect measurements that are sensitive to hemodynamic compensatory mechanisms brought about by the presence of decreased CPP must be used to distinguish areas of the brain at risk. With decreasing CPP, there are two mechanisms that can be recruited to ensure the adequate delivery of substrates to the brain is not compromised. First, if the extent of reduced CPP is within the autoregulatory range (Stage I), vasodilation can be employed to reduce cerebrovascular resistance and maintain flows near the normal range (1, 2). Second, in the case where the reduction in CPP is more severe (Stage II), the fraction of oxygen extracted from the blood can be increased in an attempt to maintain normal levels of cerebral metabolism (1, 3-5). A third stage, Stage III, is defined as the point of failure of all compensatory mechanisms with ensuing metabolic failure.

It follows that the degree of hemodynamic compromise may be used as an indicator of CPP impairment (3). Cerebral hemodynamic compromise caused by a

decrease in CPP is commonly inferred from measurements of cerebral blood flow (CBF), cerebral blood volume (CBV), oxygen extraction fraction (OEF), and/or the cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen (CMRO₂). Several strategies have been developed to assess regional cerebral hemodynamic status *in vivo* for diagnosis of cerebrovascular disease; however, particularly with respect to Stage I cerebrovascular disease when autoregulation remains effective, blood flow effects can be subtle and difficult to distinguish. Within the range of autoregulation, CBV may be more sensitive as it responds inversely to alterations in CPP and thus may provide an indication of hemodynamic status. However, both CBF and CBV values may be reduced under circumstances of reportedly normal CPP when metabolic demands of the tissue are low (3).

Measurement of cerebrovascular reserve (CVR) was proposed as a more accurate method of interrogating cerebral hemodynamics and is currently widely accepted as a clinical method for diagnosing hemodynamic compromise (reduction in CPP) in cerebrovascular disease (6, 7). CVR reflects the dilatory capacity of cerebral arterioles and is determined as the ratio of CBF or CBV at baseline to that after administration of a vasodilatory stimulus (i.e., hypercapnia or acetazolamide). Theoretically, a blunted, nonexistent or paradoxical CVR, that is a CVR value less than normal, equal to or less than unity respectively, would suggest the presence of chronic vasodilation prior to the dilatory stimulus, presumably associated with reduced CPP.

Despite the clinical acceptance of CVR as a marker of CPP in cerebrovascular disease, a major drawback of the technique is its reliance on stressing the vasodilatory capacity of the brain, a procedure that may precipitate a stroke in patients with compromised hemodynamics. In response, the measure of the basal mean transit time (MTT) of blood for a given volume of brain tissue has been proposed as a preferential surrogate of CPP. Under conditions of normal CPP, CBF and CBV are tightly coupled (8); however, this strict coupling is disrupted under conditions of reduced CPP (9). By the Central Volume Principle, MTT is the ratio of CBV to CBF (10). It is particularly sensitive to any disturbances in the coupling between CBF and CBV and has been shown to be sensitive to disturbances in CPP (9, 11). The purpose of the present study was to compare CT Perfusion measurements of both MTT and CVR to a range of CPP in male New Zealand White rabbits.

4.2 METHODS

4.2.1 Animals and Anaesthesia

Ethics approval for all experimental procedures was obtained from the Animal Use Subcommittee of the Canadian Council on Animal Care at the University of Western Ontario. All studies were conducted in male New Zealand White (NZW) rabbits weighing 2.5-3.5 kg. Rabbits were housed throughout the duration of the experiment in separate cages in the animal care facility and provided standard rabbit chow and water *ad libitum*. Prior to all scanning protocols, anesthesia was induced with 3-5% isoflurane. Ketamine (3.0 mg/kg) and diazepam (0.3 mg/kg) boluses were given during intubation to maintain anaesthesia. During scanning, anesthesia was maintained with isoflurane (2.75%), and vecuronium bromide (0.15 mg/kg) was used during acetazolamide (ACZ) challenge to suppress spontaneous respiration caused by increased arterial CO₂ tensions. During each scan, physiological parameters were measured and maintained within normal ranges when possible.

4.2.2 Experimental Design

4.2.2.1 Acetazolamide Time Course

The blood flow and CVR response to ACZ were investigated in a group of normotensive (normal mean arterial pressure) rabbits (n = 15). Basal hemodynamic parameters (CBF, CBV, and MTT) were determined by averaging results of two CT perfusion (CTP) scans separated by 10 minutes just prior to *i.v.* infusion of 20 mg/kg ACZ (Sigma). Subsequent scans were performed at 5, 15, 25, 40, and 60 minutes post-ACZ infusion to assess the temporal course of the hemodynamic response. Cerebrovascular reserve was calculated as the percentage-increase in CBF at 25 minutes after the administration of ACZ over basal levels.

4.2.2.2 Acetazolamide and CTP Reproducibility

The previous procedure was repeated in ten rabbits one week later to assess the reproducibility of CTP measurements and the hemodynamic response to ACZ (scanning protocol was truncated to 25 minutes post-ACZ infusion). Two basal measurements were made on each testing day to determine intra- and inter-day variability of CTP measurement. Interday variability of the blood flow response to ACZ was also assessed between testing days.

4.2.2.3 Intracranial Pressure with Varying MAP

Variations in intracranial pressure (ICP) with arterial pressure were investigated. ICP was measured directly via an intraventricular cannula (IVC) in a separate group of rabbits (n = 8) that underwent both normotensive and hypotensive conditions on separate testing days. For chronic implantation of the IVC, anesthesia was induced with 3-5% isoflurane and the scalp was prepared for surgery with a subcutaneous injection of 0.25% bupivacaine (Sensocaine). The central ear vein was then cannulated for constant infusion of a mixture of ketamine (20mg/kg/hr) and diazepam (2.0mg/kg/hr), while isoflurane was turned off for the remainder of the procedure. The scalp over the superior aspect of the skull was excised to expose an area between the coronal sutures, bregma and lambda. A guide cannula (C313G/FS, Plastics One, Roanoke, Virginia) was stereotaxically (Stoelting Co., Wood Dale, Illinois) implanted into the right lateral ventricle of the brain and secured with 3 nylon screws and cyanoacrylate adhesive. For continuous monitoring of ICP an internal cannula (CS313/FS), coupled to a pressure transducer, was fitted to the guide cannula.

4.2.2.4 Hemodynamic Measurements with Varying MAP

In a separate study, rabbits were divided into three groups: normotensive (n = 14), mild hypotensive (n = 6), and moderate hypotensive (n = 9) to investigate the relationship between the hemodynamic parameters: CBF, CBV and MTT and CPP over a range of mean arterial pressures (MAP). Mild and moderate hypotension was induced by an intravenous infusion of prostaglandin E_1 (PGE₁, Alprostadil, 500 µg/ml) at 1.5 µg/kg/min and 3.0 µg/kg/min, respectively. All groups of rabbits received two basal CTP scans. Both groups of hypotensive rabbits then received their respective hypotensive treatment, followed by a basal hypotensive CTP scan once a steady state MAP was post basal and basal hypotensive CTP scans, respectively. All groups were then scanned

at 5, 15, 25, 40, and 60 minutes post ACZ. The temporal scanning protocol is given in Figure 4.1.

4.2.3 CT Imaging

All imaging was conducted on a LightSpeed Plus 4-slice CT scanner (GE Healthcare, Waukesha, Wisconsin). Rabbits were placed in the prone position on a custom-made jig and a routine scout was used to localize a 2-cm slab that maximized cortical grey matter volume. The selected slab was used for all subsequent CTP scans in the experiment. The CTP scanning protocol consisted of a continuous 32-second scan using 80 kVp, 80 mA and 1-sec rotation speed while the couch remained stationary. One hundred twenty-five 512 x 512 images were reconstructed with the detail algorithm (reconstruction filter) and a 10 cm field-of-view at 0.25 s intervals for each of the four 5 mm thick slice locations. The limiting resolution of the detail algorithm is ~10 lp/mm or 0.5 mm. Upon commencement of the scan, a bolus injection of 5 ml of contrast agent (iohexol [Orninpaque], 300 mgI/mL; GE Healthcare, Piscataway, NJ) was given at a rate of 0.5 ml/s into the femoral vein with an automatic injector (Medrad, Indianola, Pa).

CT Perfusion calculations of parametric maps are theoretically based on the central volume principle relating CBF to the ratio of CBV to MTT (10). Within a given network of brain capillaries, CBF is the rate of flowing blood per unit time and mass of tissue, CBV is the volume of (flowing) blood in that capillary network per unit mass of tissue and MTT is the average time for the blood to traverse the differential vascular path lengths of the given network. To calculate these parameters from data acquired by CT scanning, blood is rendered detectable by the CT scanner with the injection of



Figure 4.1: CT Perfusion Scanning Protocol. All groups of animals received 2 basal scans to measure normal cerebral hemodynamics. After basal scanning was completed, normotensive animals continued with ACZ administration (ACZ Tx) and CVR scans while hypotensive animals received hypotensive treatment () and a basal hypotensive scan before ACZ Tx and subsequent CVR scans. Hypotensive treatment lasted the duration of CVR testing for these animals.

contrast agent as previously discussed. Furthermore, the calculation relies on the assumptions that the contrast concentration in the blood is proportional to the increase in attenuation of x-rays by blood and that the contrast has the same hemodynamic properties of blood. To calculate perfusion, the deposition (concentration) of the contrast within individual regions of the brain, is measured as increases in CT number (also known as Hounsfield Units - HU) by the CT scanner. The kinetics of the tracer (contrast), that is, the time course of the concentration of contrast in a region, is captured by the CT scanner and can be separated into three distinct phases - baseline, wash-in and washout, as previously described in Chapter 1 (Section 1.3.3). The raw data set is transferred to a GE workstation (GE Healthcare) for calculation of parametric maps using proprietary software (CT Perfusion, GE Healthcare).

112

4.2.4 Data Analysis

Calculation of parametric maps is made possible by analyzing the time concentration curves or time density curves (TDCs) of tissue regions and an artery region, the arterial input function (AIF), according to a kinetics model. In CT Perfusion, the model used is the Johnson and Wilson model (12). This model has the advantage that it can account for the kinetics of contrast independent of the leakage rate of contrast through the capillary endothelium relative to the blood flow. Thus, it can be applied to cases where the blood-brain barrier is intact, as in the current studies, as well as to cases where the BBB is disrupted, as in brain tumors. In each of the four slices scanned by the CT scanner, a 2 X 2 pixel region was defined in the internal carotid artery to obtain the corresponding arterial TDC. Among the four arterial TDCs generated, the one with the earliest arrival of contrast was used as the arterial input function (AIF). The AIF was then deconvolved with all tissue TDC according to the Johnson and Wilson model to determine the blood flow-scaled impulse residue function (IRF) for individual tissue regions in the brain. It follows that, as discussed in Chapter 1 Section 3.3, the height of the IRF is equal to the CBF, while the area under the IRF is the CBV. Additionally, given the relationship of MTT = CBV/CBF from the central volume principle, MTT can be calculated. Parametric maps of CBF, CBV and MTT were constructed by assembling the corresponding values of each parameter for all tissue regions in a brain slice into an image. An average map was also constructed by averaging all the CT images of a slice together. Parametric maps were analyzed using a region of interest analysis program developed in our lab using IDL (Research Systems, Boulder, Colorado). Large regions of interest (ROI) were hand drawn over the entire cortical grey matter of all four slices with

the help of the corresponding average map and were automatically propagated onto CBF and CBV parametric maps. To reduce the influence of large blood vessels on the average value of CBF and CBV in the defined grey matter ROIs, any vascular pixel with CBV > 8.0 mL/100 g or CBF > 250 mL/100 g/min within a ROI was eliminated from the calculation of the mean (13, 14). Average mean transit time of a ROI was calculated as the ratio of the corresponding ROI average of CBV to CBF.

4.2.5 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS for Windows (Version 15.0, SPSS, Chicago, Illinois). Determination of significant changes in CBF for the ACZ timecourse was calculated using paired T-tests (Bonferroni-corrected) for each time point compared with the basal CBF measurement. A repeated-measures analysis of variance design was employed to determine the reproducibility of CT Perfusion measurements as well as CVR and was assessed using the coefficient of variation (CV). The relationships between CBF, CBV, MTT and CVR with MAP were assessed using a non-parametric Spearman's rank correlation, as it does not depend on assumptions of linearity. Significant differences for all analyses were defined by p < 0.05.

4.3 **RESULTS**

4.3.1 Acetazolamide Time Course and CTP Reproducibility

The time course of the CBF-response to ACZ is given in Figure 4.2. A significant increase in CBF was observed immediately following injection of ACZ and was sustained until 60 min post-injection. There was no significant difference between



Figure 4.2: Graph of CBF Response to ACZ in Control Animals. Graph of the CBF (mean \pm SD) response to ACZ (20 µg/kg) for a group of animals (n = 15) under normotensive conditions. CBF at all time points post ACZ are statistically similar to each other and are significantly greater than basal levels (* P < 0.05)

any time point between 5 and 60 minutes post ACZ. The 25-min time point had the greatest increase from the basal CBF (21.3%) and thus, was used for all calculations of CVR. Within the same testing day (intra-day), the two basal CBF, CBV, and MTT measurements acquired prior to ACZ injection were not significantly different from each other, with a CV of 9.0%, 5.6%, and 7.6%, respectively. The effect of scan day (interday) was also found to be non-significant for basal CBF, CBV, MTT and ACZ response measurements with a CV of 16.6%, 10.6%, 17.4% and 8.9%, respectively. Measurements of basal CBF and its response to ACZ for inter- and intra-testing days are shown in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4.3: Reproducibility Graph of Intra- and Inter-Test Day Variability in CBF and CBF Response to ACZ. Reproducibility analysis of intra- and inter-test CTP measurements of CBF (basal scans) and inter-test CBF response to ACZ (5, 15, 25-mins following ACZ administration). Test 1 and 2 were separated by 7 days. Intra-Test basal CBF measurements were not significantly different and had a CV of 9.0%. Inter-Test measurements were also non-significant for Basal and post ACZ time points with a CV of 16.6% and 8.9%, respectively.

4.3.2 Intracranial Pressure with Varying MAP

Intracranial pressure (ICP), MAP and CPP measurements made at baseline and 25-min post-ACZ for both MAP states are displayed in Table 4.1. ICP remained steady at 9 ± 3 mmHg (mean \pm SD) both before and after ACZ administration and there were no significant differences between normotensive and hypotensive states. Since MAP did not influence ICP, as evidenced by no ICP changes between normotensive and hypotensive states and hypotensive states, MAP can be used as a surrogate for global CPP. MAP and CPP both before and

significant differences in the percentage or absolute increase of CBV in response to ACZ

116

	Norma	otensive	Hypotensive		
	Basal	25 min	Basal	25 min	
MAP	49 ± 11	45 ± 10	32 ± 7 *	36 ± 7*	
ICP	9±3	9±3	9 ± 4	9 ± 3	
CPP	40 ± 12	36 ± 12	$23 \pm 10^*$	$27 \pm 10*$	

Table 4.1: Pressure Measurements with Varying MAP.

MAP, ICP, CPP (mmHg); mean \pm SD; * = significant different from Normotensive - Basal (P < 0.05)

after ACZ administration were significantly lower in the hypotensive group compared to the normotensive group.

4.3.3 Hemodynamic Measurements with Varying MAP

Physiologic parameters measured at baseline (before ACZ admininistration) for normo and hypotensive groups are summarized in Table 4.2. There were no significant differences between the parameters of each group. Significant differences after ACZ injection between groups were only reported for end-tidal CO₂, with a reduction in the moderate ($35 \pm 1 \text{ mmHg}$) group when compared with the normotensive group ($36 \pm 1 \text{ mmHg}$) (data not shown). The hemodynamic measurements from CTP scans are presented in Table 4.3 for normo and hypotensive groups. At baseline, CBV was not significantly different between groups. Basal CBF and MTT were statistically similar between both mild and moderate hypotensive groups but CBF was significantly reduced (~15%) while MTT was significantly elevated (~16%) in comparison to the normotensive group. Administration of ACZ did not significantly alter the MAP of any group with respect to their respective basal measurement. The difference between CVR of each group was not statistically significant (range; 16.3-22.0%). Similarly, there were no significant differences in the percentage or absolute increase of CBV in response to ACZ

	NT	Hypotension		
	Normotension	Mild	Moderate	
MAP (mmHg)	53 ± 12	35 ± 3*	28 ± 6*	
HR (min ⁻¹)	273 ± 33	259 ± 34	222 ± 31	
Temp (°C)	39 ± 1	39 ± 1	39 ± 1	
Ht (%)	34 ± 4	32 ± 2	31 ± 2	
EtCO ₂ (mmHg)	40 ± 1	40 ± 2	39 ± 1	
p _a O ₂ (mmHg)	314.9 ± 31.5	299.2 ± 55.3	288.9 ± 31.2	
p _a CO ₂ (mmHg)	41.8 ± 3.4	41.3 ± 3.3	43.2 ± 3.7	
HCO ₃ (mmol/L)	25.7 ± 1.8	25.8 ± 3.6	26.0 ± 2.4	
рН	7.42 ±0.03	7.42 ± 0.05	7.40 ± 0.04	
Glu (mmol/L)	6.3 ± 1.5	6.4 ± 1.8	6.9 ± 2.7	

 Table 4.2: Basal Physiological Measurements with Varying MAP.

MAP = mean arterial pressure; HR = heart rate; Temp = temperature; Ht = hematocrit; EtCO₂ = End tidal CO₂; p_aO_2 = arterial oxygen; p_aCO_2 = arterial carbon dioxide; HCO₃ = bicarbonate; Glu = glucose; mean ± SD; * = P < 0.05 compared with Normotension.

1 adie 4.5: Hemodynamic Parametric Measurements with varying M
--

	Normotension		Hypotension			
			Mild		Moderate	
	Basal	25 min	Basal	25 min	Basal	25 min
MAP	53 ± 12	49 ± 13	35 ± 3 **	38 ± 3*	28 ± 6 **	33 ± 7**
CBF	126 ± 11	149 ± 10**	107 ± 7**	125 ± 5	108 ± 7 **	131 ± 9
CBV	2.17 ± 0.21	$2.47 \pm 0.19*$	2.17 ± 0.16	2.47 ± 0.16*	2.17±0.21	$2.44 \pm 0.18*$
MTT	1.04 ± 0.08	1.02 ± 0.08	1.21 ± 0.03 **	1.19 ± 0.09*	1.21 ± 0.15 **	1.12 ± 0.11
CVR		16.3 ± 9.0		16.7 ± 8.6		22.0 ± 14.4

MAP = mean arterial pressure (mmHg); CBF = cerebral blood flow (ml/100g/min); CBV = cerebral blood volume (ml/100g); MTT = mean transit time (sec); CVR = cerebrovascular reserve (% increase above own group basal measurement), * = P < 0.05, ** = P < 0.01 compared with normotensive basal levels

between groups (range; 12.4-13.8%). Figure 4.4 displays the correlations between all hemodynamic data and MAP. Both MTT and CBF demonstrated statistically significant (P < 0.005) Spearman's rank correlation coefficients of $\rho = -0.642$ and 0.575, respectively. Correlations of CBV and CVR with MAP were not significant over the range of pressures tested.

4.4 **DISCUSSION**

Over the range of MAP tested in this study, it was shown that MTT provided a significant correlate for MAP, the main physiological component comprising CPP. Furthermore, changes in MAP did not significantly alter ICP. By extension, since ICP was constant, MTT is also significantly correlated to changes in CPP. These results indicate that basal levels of MTT may be useful for determining regions of compromised CPP.

Our study employed global changes in CPP by manipulating MAP pharmacologically. Two dosages of PGE₁ were used to create varying levels of CPP in groups defined as mild and moderate hypotension. Both hypotensive groups had significantly lower MAP from the normotensive group but were not significantly different from each other, potentially due to the heterogeneous response of individual animals to the two dosages of PGE₁. PGE₁ and its dosage were carefully selected to ensure that they did not confound the results with unexpected changes in cerebrovascular tone, thereby modifying basal levels and the relationship between CBV and CBF. Dosages of $\leq 3.0 \ \mu g/kg/min$ of PGE₁ in rabbits are suitable for creating hypotension without significant changes in the diameter of cerebral arterioles and venules (15, 16).

Furthermore, PGE_1 has been confirmed in both rabbits (15, 16) and in humans (17, 18) to maintain local CBF at rest and not to impair CVR to hypercapnia. Thus, PGE_1 is a suitable hypotensive drug for lowering MAP and testing CVR without affecting cerebral hemodynamic parameters measured in this study.

119



Figure 4.4: Scatter Plots of CBV, CBF, MTT and CVR Against MAP. MTT and CBF produce significant (P < 0.005) correlations ($\rho = -0.642$ and 0.575, respectively) with MAP when normotensive (closed circles), mild (open triangles) and moderate (open squares) hypotensive groups where analyzed together to provide a spectrum of MAPs.

At the first CTP measurement 5-min after administration of ACZ, CBF was significantly increased above the corresponding baseline value and remained significantly elevated until 60-min post in agreement with other experimental data (6). We standardized the measurement of CVR at 25-min post ACZ because that time yielded the greatest increase in CBF (Figure 4.2) and is in close agreement with that used in clinical studies (19). The mean CVR at 25-min post ACZ was 21.3% in a group of control animals; this was less than those measured with a dose that incites a maximal dilation in other experimental designs (6, 20). Furthermore, this study assessed the biological reproducibility of the response to ACZ, which is important in the evaluation of the

efficacy of bypass surgery or endovascular treatment in the clinical setting, or when using a repeated measures experimental design. The coefficient of variation of CBF response to ACZ for individual rabbits was 9.8%. Although our CVR response was lower than expected, the variability in the response is less than the magnitude of response (21 %) and is deemed adequate for repeated studies. ACZ was chosen to test CVR as it is commonly used in the clinical setting and is well characterized in the literature. Alternatively, breathing an increased content of carbon dioxide (CO₂) in air is another method that is used to test CVR (21). A recent study compared the cerebrovascular response of both methods in an animal model and found that both CO₂ and ACZ produced similar results for CVR in all regions of the brain. Moreover, they were significantly correlated (r= 0.93) with each other, with a regression line not significantly different from the line of identity (20). This data is corroborated by two other studies indicating good correlation between the two methods and thus validate the usage of ACZ in our studies (22, 23).

Global measurement of CPP is defined as the difference between the MAP and the ICP (24), assuming that the venous backpressure is negligible (1). In a previous study, global CPP was estimated to be a function of MAP, as negligible changes in CBV during profound hypotension should not influence changes in ICP (24). To validate this assumption, we measured ICP in a group of normotensive animals followed one week later by hypotensive treatment to ensure that changes in MAP did not alter ICP over the range of MAP to be tested. ICP's, steady in the range of expected values, were not different between both levels of MAP as previously reported in the literature (15, 25). As such, we deemed that further investigation of ICP was not warranted and that all associations between hemodynamic parameters and MAP also apply to CPP.

Measurements of cerebral hemodynamic parameters are used as indicators of cerebrovascular status to determine areas of the brain with altered CPP. During autoregulation, CBF and OEF are maintained within a fairly constant. Constancy of CBF and OEF during decreasing CPP throughout the autoregulatory plateau is largely attributed to the decrease in cerebrovascular resistance facilitated by the dilation of resistance vessels (2). Recently, the relationship between these parameters and CPP has been revised to acknowledge gradual changes occurring throughout the range of autoregulation (26). The authors found that small increases in OEF were present during autoregulation and occurred in the absence of measurable changes in CBV. Furthermore, in the revised autoregulatory model, the authors acknowledged slight reductions in CBF with decreasing CPP as demonstrated in previous work (27). Additionally, the authors pointed out that the autoregulatory mechanism for bringing about these changes, CBV, has recently been a point of controversy. Measurement of compensatory changes in CBV due to decreased CPP within the autoregulatory range have had mixed results; classical views have described an increase in CBV during decreasing CPP (8, 28), while more recently CBV has been demonstrated to stay relatively constant with any changes being insignificant (24, 29). Schumann et al (1998) described significant increases outside the lower limit of autoregulation, with subtle but insignificant differences within the autoregulatory plateau in a PET study of experimental hypotension in baboons (24). The authors found that decreases in MAP during profound hypotension (53%) caused a significant increase in CBV, while moderate reductions in hypotension (43%) produced insignificant CBV changes. However, it is noteworthy to mention that average CBV increase in both groups had a similar magnitude, but only the profound group reached

significance, which may signify variability of the CBV response within the autoregulatory range. Furthermore, measurement of CBV is inherently difficult due to the morphological composition of components comprising this parameter. CBV is a complex summation of arterial, capillary, and venule compartments in addition to parencyhmal and pial components while current methods only measure total CBV rather than its individual compartments/components. In addition to the inaccessibility of the individual compartments/components of CBV, the vasodilatory response to decreased perfusion pressure is variable within these different compartments (29). Our study described similar reductions in MAP in minor and moderate hypotension groups, 34% and 47%, respectively, with no significant changes in CBV when compared to the normotension group. Interestingly, similar to Schumann et al. (1998), we reported significant decreases in CBF accompanying the minor and moderate hypotension groups in the absence of any changes in CBV. Discrepancy of documented change in CBV may be a result of experimental design. Insignificant changes in CBV may be due to the variability of CBV response, difficulty in accurately measuring CBV, or an indication of a pre-dilated state, the latter of which would be associated with a reduction or abolishment of a response to a vasodilatory stimulus.

The reactivity of blood vessels to a vasodilatory stimulus indicates the cerebrovascular status and is reflected by changes in CBV and CBF. Our study found no differences among the three groups (normotensive and both hypotensive groups) with respect to basal CBV and increases in CBV measured at 25-mins post ACZ, which resulted in statistically similar increases in CBF. The response to ACZ was much less than expected and was equivalent in all groups. The constancy in basal CBV among the

three groups, as well as similar magnitude of change in response to the administration of ACZ, may well reflect a predilatory state, as differences would be expected between the normotensive and hypotensive states. One limitation of the current study was the use of isoflurane to maintain anaesthesia for the duration of the study. Animals were maintained at 2.75% as required by the Canadian Council on Animal Care and the Animal Use Subcommittee at the University of Western Ontario to ensure an adequate plane of anaesthesia. Isoflurane is a peripheral and cerebral vasodilator associated with decreases in MAP and small increases in ICP (18) and thus may account for lower basal levels of MAP then expected in the rabbit (16). Furthermore, isoflurane has a dose dependent degree of dilation of pial arteries and arterioles (30). At low levels of isoflurane (1.4%) cerebrovascular reserve to changes in arterial CO₂ are maintained, whereas high levels of isoflurane (2.8%), similar to that of the current study, have been shown to attenuate such responses in a canine model (31). Thus, the similarity of CBF response to ACZ in all three groups may indicate existing vasodilation from isoflurane, thus masking differences caused by hypotensive treatment, thereby explaining the similar values of basal levels in all groups.

Autoregulation, by definition, is dependent on MAP. MAP measurement, compared to previous studies in rabbits investigating the lower limit of autoregulation at MAP of 40 mmHg or lower (32, 33), indicated that the normotensive group was approaching the lower limits of autoregulation and the hypotensive groups were below the lower limit of autoregulation. In addition to the low MAP, constant CBV and CVR across all pressures tested were not expected. It would follow that isoflurane may have caused a dilation that was near the physiological maximum, such that further lowering of MAP was unable to cause additional dilation.

The current study has provided a model for global reductions in CPP causing vasodilation near the maximum physiological dilation of vessels. The inability of reduced perfusion pressure to cause further vasodilation indicates that these areas may be within Stage II of hemodynamic failure. These areas experience "misery perfusion" and are at the highest risk of ischemic incidents as compensatory mechanisms near exhaustion. Clinically, these are considered the border zones of chronic hypoperfusion and may be caused by large artery occlusions, often identified by testing the CVR. The results of this study indicate that MTT may be a more sensitive marker to changes in CPP under these conditions. In the current study we found that CVR had no significant association with CPP, as evidenced by a correlation coefficient (ρ) of only 0.024. Testing was performed in anaesthetized animals with near maximal cerebral vasodilation in all animal groups, as a result CVR was unable to differentiate between different MAP groups. Thus under the experimental conditions used in our studies, CVR was not related to CPP, and could not reveal hemodynamic compromise. Even though isoflurane may not be ideal due to its cerebrovascular effects, it has allowed us to examine global or large regional increases in CBV with concomitant decreases in CPP, as may be seen in large hemispheric occlusions or cerebral edema. MTT was capable of describing a relationship with CPP ($\rho = -0.642$) based on its inherent characteristics that account for changes in both CBF and CBV. Thus, MTT is capable of acting as a surrogate for cerebral hemodynamic compromise in response to decreased CPP. Further study is

needed to investigate the relationship between CVR and MTT with CPP under conditions that more closely mimic the awake state without anaesthetic induced vasodilation.
4.5 **REFERENCES**

- (1) Powers WJ. Cerebral hemodynamics in ischemic cerebrovascular disease. Ann Neurol 1991 Mar;29:231-240.
- (2) Paulson OB, Strandgaard S, Edvinsson L. Cerebral autoregulation. Cerebrovasc Brain Metab Rev 1990;2:161-192.
- (3) Derdeyn CP, Grubb RL, Jr., Powers WJ. Cerebral hemodynamic impairment: methods of measurement and association with stroke risk. *Neurology* 1999 Jul 22;53:251-259.
- (4) Powers WJ, Press GA, Grubb RL, Jr., Gado M, Raichle ME. The effect of hemodynamically significant carotid artery disease on the hemodynamic status of the cerebral circulation. *Ann Intern Med* 1987 Jan;106:27-34.
- (5) Powers WJ, Grubb RL, Jr., Raichle ME. Physiological responses to focal cerebral ischemia in humans. *Ann Neurol* 1984 Nov;16:546-552.
- (6) Demolis P, Florence G, Thomas L, et al. Is the acetazolamide test valid for quantitative assessment of maximal cerebral autoregulatory vasodilation? An experimental study. *Stroke* 2000 Feb;31:508-515.
- (7) Eskey CJ, Sanelli PC. Perfusion imaging of cerebrovascular reserve. Neuroimaging Clin N Am 2005 May;15:367-81, xi.
- (8) Grubb RL, Jr., Phelps ME, Raichle ME, Ter Pogossian MM. The effects of arterial blood pressure on the regional cerebral blood volume by X-ray fluorescence. *Stroke* 1973 May;4:390-399.
- (9) Sette G, Baron JC, Mazoyer B, Levasseur M, Pappata S, Crouzel C. Local brain haemodynamics and oxygen metabolism in cerebrovascular disease. Positron emission tomography. *Brain* 1989 Aug;112 (Pt 4):931-951.
- (10) Meier P, Zierler KL. On the theory of the indicator-dilution method for measurement of blood flow and volume. *J Appl Physiol* 1954 Jun;6:731-744.
- (11) Gibbs JM, Wise RJ, Leenders KL, Jones T. Evaluation of cerebral perfusion reserve in patients with carotid-artery occlusion. *Lancet* 1984 Feb 11;1:310-314.
- (12) Johnson JA, Wilson TA. A model for capillary exchange. Am J Physiol 1966 Jun;210:1299-1303.
- (13) Laslo AM, Eastwood JD, Pakkiri P, Chen F, Lee TY. CT perfusion-derived mean transit time predicts early mortality and delayed vasospasm after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* 2008 Jan;29:79-85.

- (14) Kudo K, Terae S, Katoh C, et al. Quantitative cerebral blood flow measurement with dynamic perfusion CT using the vascular-pixel elimination method: comparison with H2(15)O positron emission tomography. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2003 Mar;24:419-426.
- (15) Miyabe M, Fukuda T, Saito S, Tajima K, Toyooka H. Effect of intravenous prostaglandin E1 on pial vessel diameters and intracranial pressure in rabbits. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2001 Nov;45:1271-1275.
- (16) Takenaka M, Iida H, Iida M, Uchida M, Dohi S. The comparative effects of prostaglandin E1 and nicardipine on cerebral microcirculation in rabbits. *Anesth Analg* 2003 Apr;96:1139-44, table.
- (17) Abe K, Yoshiya I. Effects of prostaglandin E1 or trimethaphan on local cerebral blood flow and carbon dioxide reactivity during cerebral aneurysm surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol 1993;5:143-150.
- (18) Abe K. Vasodilators during cerebral aneurysm surgery. Can J Anaesth 1993;40:775-790.
- (19) Yonas H, Pindzola RR, Meltzer CC, Sasser H. Qualitative versus quantitative assessment of cerebrovascular reserves. *Neurosurgery* 1998 May;42:1005-1010.
- (20) Csete K, Vezekenyi Z, Doczi T, Papp JG, Bodosi M, Barzo P. Comparison of regional vasomotor responses to acetazolamide and CO2 in rabbit cerebrum and cerebellum, measured by a hydrogen clearance method. Acta Physiol Scand 2004 Nov;182:287-294.
- (21) Widder B, Kleiser B, Krapf H. Course of cerebrovascular reactivity in patients with carotid artery occlusions. *Stroke* 1994 Oct;25:1963-1967.
- (22) Ringelstein EB, Van Eyck S, Mertens I. Evaluation of cerebral vasomotor reactivity by various vasodilating stimuli: comparison of CO2 to acetazolamide. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 1992 Jan;12:162-168.
- (23) Dahl A, Russell D, Nyberg-Hansen R, Rootwelt K, Mowinckel P. Simultaneous assessment of vasoreactivity using transcranial Doppler ultrasound and cerebral blood flow in healthy subjects. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 1994 Nov;14:974-981.
- (24) Schumann P, Touzani O, Young AR, Morello R, Baron JC, MacKenzie ET. Evaluation of the ratio of cerebral blood flow to cerebral blood volume as an index of local cerebral perfusion pressure. *Brain* 1998 Jul;121 (Pt 7):1369-1379.
- (25) Taplu A, Gokmen N, Erbayraktar S, et al. Effects of pressure- and volumecontrolled inverse ratio ventilation on haemodynamic variables, intracranial pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure in rabbits: a model of subarachnoid haemorrhage under isoflurane anaesthesia. *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2003 Sep;20:690-696.

- (26) Derdeyn CP, Videen TO, Yundt KD, et al. Variability of cerebral blood volume and oxygen extraction: stages of cerebral haemodynamic impairment revisited. *Brain* 2002 Mar;125:595-607.
- (27) Dirnagl U, Pulsinelli W. Autoregulation of cerebral blood flow in experimental focal brain ischemia. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 1990 May;10:327-336.
- (28) Grubb RL, Jr., Raichle ME, Phelps ME, Ratcheson RA. Effects of increased intracranial pressure on cerebral blood volume, blood flow, and oxygen utilization in monkeys. *J Neurosurg* 1975 Oct;43:385-398.
- (29) Zaharchuk G, Mandeville JB, Bogdanov AA, Jr., Weissleder R, Rosen BR, Marota JJ. Cerebrovascular dynamics of autoregulation and hypoperfusion. An MRI study of CBF and changes in total and microvascular cerebral blood volume during hemorrhagic hypotension. *Stroke* 1999 Oct;30:2197-2204.
- (30) Iida H, Ohata H, Iida M, Watanabe Y, Dohi S. Isoflurane and sevoflurane induce vasodilation of cerebral vessels via ATP-sensitive K+ channel activation. Anesthesiology 1998 Oct;89:954-960.
- (31) McPherson RW, Briar JE, Traystman RJ. Cerebrovascular responsiveness to carbon dioxide in dogs with 1.4% and 2.8% isoflurane. Anesthesiology 1989;70:843-850.
- (32) Cranston WI, Rosendorff C. Local blood flow, cerebrovascular autoregulation and CO2 responsiveness in the rabbit hypothalamus. *J Physiol* 1971 Jul;215:577-590.
- (33) Tuor UI, Grewal D. Autoregulation of cerebral blood flow: influence of local brain development and postnatal age. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 1994 Dec 1;267:H2220-H2228.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

5.1 SUMMARY

The introduction of this thesis provided an overview of the clinical characteristics of motor neuron disease, in particular ALS and PLS. Furthermore, a detailed account of past imaging studies provided a background on perfusion and metabolic deficits related to the disease, with a particular emphasis on changes accompanying cognitive decline. Few mechanisms have been advanced in the literature to facilitate a mechanistic understanding of perfusion deficits occurring in ALS. Chapter 1 reviewed the regulation of cerebral perfusion at the structural and cellular level and also included compensatory mechanisms responsible for maintaining adequate perfusion. In doing so, it provided a framework to discuss the implications of our findings in the context of the known pathology present in the disease. Collectively, the objective of this thesis was to prospectively measure cerebral perfusion parameters to investigate an association with cognitive decline and unveil a possible biomarker for monitoring disease progression.

The conclusion of this thesis will review the outcome of the three research papers and incorporate their findings and implications into the current clinical view of the disease. Furthermore, this Chapter will discuss the collective findings of this thesis and highlight future areas of research. Although largely successful, the possible limitations of the research contained within this thesis will also be discussed.

5.2 PERFUSION CHANGES WITH COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT

Chapter 2 prospectively studied cognition and cerebral perfusion in PLS. Past studies of cognition in MND have been hampered by insensitive neuropsychological testing paradigms that prevented accurate stratification of patient cohorts based on cognitive profile, with resultant groups coarsely stratified by the presence or absence of overt dementia. Chapter 2 also describes a more accurate method of patient stratification based on neuropsychological tests specific to frontotemporal dysfunction characteristic of MND. Once stratified into PLS and PLSci, analysis of hemodynamic parameters in the latter grouping showed significant global increases in MTT, with the exception of the temporal lobe. Additionally, the frontotemporal region, an area shown to be most affected by cognitive testing, also exhibited significantly increased CBV. The outcome of this study represented the first time that a prospective analysis produced an association between hemodynamic measures and cognitive decline in PLS.

The use of a single neuropsychological test for cognitive dysfunction that correlates with cerebral perfusion deficits would be convenient for monitoring disease progression, and possibly eliminate the need to employ a full neuropsychological test battery. Previous MND studies have indicated that Verbal Word Fluency is the most sensitive indicator of executive dysfunction in dementia and is significantly correlated with cerebral perfusion deficits (1). Thus, we sought to determine if a similar relationship existed for less advanced cognitive dysfunction present in our study. Consistent with previous studies of dementia in MND, we found that Verbal Word Fluency was the most frequently impaired test in our patient cohort, although no correlation between it and any cerebral hemodynamic parameters was present. Even though no significant correlations were revealed, we do not feel that this result distracts from the reliability of the relationship between cognitive impairment and hemodynamics found in this study based on the following rationale. First, cognitive changes in this study were subtle with only the minimum criterion being achieved in the PLSci patients. Second, impairment criteria in this study are based on the combination of at least two abnormal test scores. Thus, determining a correlation with only one neuropsychological test in mild cognitive impairment may prove difficult, whereas a correlation with the total number of abnormal tests may be more reliable. To defend this rationale and our findings, we performed a correlation analysis between the total number of abnormal neuropsychological test scores and MTT for all regions. We found a significant correlation between the degree of cognitive impairment and MTT in all regions tested. Thus, in contrast to dementia in ALS, for less extensive cognitive dysfunction found in our study it was not possible to determine a single neuropsychological test that was associated with perfusion deficits.

5.3 WIDESPREAD PERFUSION CHANGES OCCUR EARLY IN DISEASE

In addition to the findings associated with cognitive impairment, Chapter 2 also described our finding of global trends of increased MTT in the cognitively intact patient group. Uncertain whether these changes were indicative of future impairment or the duration of disease at the time of study (36.5 ± 47.4 months), we longitudinally examined a group of cognitively intact ALS patients from disease onset (11.8 ± 19.5 months). Results of this study (Chapter 3) described similar hemodynamic patterns between both normal controls and ALS patients at study onset and T1 (6 months post T0). At the last time point in the study, T2 (17 months post T0), trends of perfusion measurements

observed at earlier time points in the ALS patient group had become significant, in particular, MTT increased in all cortical and thalamic regions compared to controls. These findings demonstrated that perfusion deficits occur early in disease in the absence of cognitive impairment. Only two patients became cognitively impaired during the study period, thus, this study lacked statistical power necessary to determine if any perfusion parameters can be an early indicator of progression to cognitive impairment. To our knowledge this was the first time that a prospective, longitudinal study of ALS incorporated neuropsychological testing and perfusion measurements on the same day. Furthermore, this study found widespread grey and white matter changes in perfusion, involving both motor and non-motor areas, in the absence of any cognitive deficits.

5.4 IMPLICATIONS OF INCREASED MTT

Findings from both Chapters 2 and 3 indicate that cerebral MTT is affected globally in PLS and ALS, both in the presence and absence of cognitive impairment. This is a novel finding for MND, and to our knowledge has not been associated with cognitive impairment in other neurodegenerative diseases. Using an animal model, Chapter 4 explored the relationship between cerebral MTT and cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP).

We created a model of graded hypotension to test the hypothesis that global changes in MTT of the cerebral circulation were related to changes in CPP. While, MTT has been investigated as a marker of CPP in both clinical (2, 3) and experimental (4, 5) studies, it has not been compared against cerebral vascular reserve (CVR), the clinical gold standard for assessing changes in cerebral hemodynamics induced by perturbations

in CPP. This study validated the assumption that global CPP could be approximated by the MAP, as evidenced by constant ICP in the face of moderate decreases in systemic pressure. Furthermore, this study found that MTT ($\rho = -0.642$) and CBF ($\rho = 0.575$) were significantly correlated (P < 0.005) with CPP over the range of pressures studied, while CVR did not provide a significant correlation with CPP ($\rho = 0.024$). Thus, MTT provides a non-invasive index of CPP, and may assist in defining areas of the brain at risk of hypoperfusion due to decreased CPP.

Our findings concerning CVR are not consistent with literature and thus deserve some explanation. A limitation of this study was the choice of isoflurane as the anesthetic, as it is a known cerebrovascular dilator (6) that blunts the cerebrovascular response to a vasodilatory stimulus (7). The use of isoflurane suppressed the MAP before the study onset, causing a shift towards the lower limit of autoregulation, reducing the range for study. However, in doing so it has provided a model of near maximal dilation to study the hemodynamic effects of further decreasing CPP.

5.5 EXPERIMENTAL & CLINICAL RELEVANCE

While past studies of ALS and PLS have focused primarily on motor disability and the associated cerebral areas, this thesis has contributed to the mounting evidence of involvement of non-motor areas in the brain. Findings from the PLS study described cognitive change associated with widespread perfusion deficits, most notably in the frontotemporal region, also the area implicated by the cognitive abnormality. The pattern of executive dysfunction and associated perfusion change are characteristic of those described in ALS but less pronounced, lending support to the argument that the two diseases may share a common pathogenetic pathway. Understanding whether these two diseases are part of the same spectrum of disease processes is paramount, as the prognosis for ALS is much more morbid with a more rapidly progressing disease course than PLS.

Biomarkers to monitor disease progression of PLS and ALS are necessary to determine efficacy of treatment in future clinical trials. The study presented in Chapter 3 focused on recruiting cognitively intact patients near the time of diagnosis to determine if baseline perfusion measurements differed from normal controls, then longitudinally followed these groups to assess cognition and perfusion changes. This study was unique in that it attempted to determine the temporal association between cognition and cerebral perfusion. However, fewer patients became cognitively impaired than expected, with only two reaching the minimum criteria for this designation. These findings, while keeping in mind the exclusion criteria of cognitive impairment at study onset, indicate that cognitive decline may precede clinical presentation of ALS. Furthermore, this study provided evidence for evolution of perfusion deficits that were not present at onset over the time course of the study in the absence of cognitive impairment. Measurements of MTT provide a more sensitive indicator than measurements of CBF or CBV alone, and may provide a means to monitor disease progression.

Lastly, the results of this thesis may indicate that changes in MTT present in our clinical studies are associated with endothelial dysfunction. This postulation was elucidated using an animal model of graded hypotension where MTT was significantly associated with changes in CPP. Furthermore, this study described that near the lower limit of autoregulation, where risk of hypoperfusion is a primary concern, that CVR did not provide an accurate indicator of CPP. Identifying areas of the brain at risk of chronic hypoperfusion is important if intervention is required to prevent ischemia. Furthermore,

CVR was highly variable across the range of pressures tested and not different across all groups. Since CVR is an individualized approach to assess risk of stroke and is the clinical gold standard, it should be predictive across the full range of autoregulation, thus, more work should be done to validate the insensitivity of CVR to CPP drops at the lower limit of autoregulation. Most importantly, this study determined that MTT provides an index of CPP from basal measurements without necessitating two perfusion measurements and a pharmacological dilatory stimulus.

5.6 FUTURE WORK

The work contained within this thesis has provided a better understanding of the clinical, physiological and functional phenotype of MND. It has provided a novel marker of disturbed cerebral hemodynamics in disease progression, which is associated with subtle cognitive change. However, many questions remain. This last section will discuss possible research directions that may help resolve some of the unanswered queries.

5.6.1 Multimodality imaging

The study of cerebral perfusion/hemodynamics in this thesis was limited by the ability to distinguish a pathophysiological mechanism for the documented changes. The use of multiple imaging techniques, such as PET, SPECT, CTP and MRI, would be beneficial to help co-localize regions of functional, metabolic, neurochemical and perfusion change. Recently, the PET radioligand [¹¹C]-flumazenil was used to detect reductions in interneuron population in ALS (8). Based on the literature reviewed in Chapter 1, interneurons abut against astrocytic endfect and vessel walls to influence

cerebrovascular tone. Thus, using an imaging technique capable of defining areas of the brain with reduced interneuron populations in conjunction with perfusion imaging would help elucidate the possible mechanism behind changes in cerebral perfusion, as noted in this thesis.

Furthermore, loss of astrocytic glutamate transport protein EAAT2 is one of the hallmarks of ALS pathology (9), with up to 95% loss of expression and activity in affected areas of the central nervous system (10). This protein is responsible for removing glutamate from the synaptic cleft and preventing chronic glutamate neurotoxicity, imperative for neuronal survival (11, 12). As previously discussed in Chapter 1, glutamate is co-transported into the cell with 3 Na⁺ ions, a process that has been shown to stimulate glycolysis in astrocytes to produce lactate to meet the energy requirement of activated neurons. Currently, a PET ligand is being developed to target EAAT2 transporters in vivo to determine areas of the brain with decreased expression of this protein (personal communication with Dr. Jeffery Rothstein). Using this novel ligand, if available, in conjunction with a metabolic imaging technique, would be of tremendous benefit to our understanding of EAAT2 and metabolic coupling in ALS. Furthermore, it would provide concrete evidence of the protective effect EAAT2 proteins have on motor neuron survival, as documented in a recent mouse model over-expressing this protein (13).

5.6.2 Cerebrovascular Reserve Testing in MND

We have described encouraging results with respect to MTT as a possible marker for cognitive impairment in MND and have suggested that there may be a vascular component involved. If in fact there is a vascular component that contributes to cognitive impairment or is active in the disease progression, it may be unveiled by testing the cerebrovascular reserve. The CTP technique can sensitively reveal cerebral hemodynamic impairments in patients with stenooclusive disease, which is associated with increases in MTT, by testing the CVR. Thus, it follows that regions with increased MTT in MND may also display a blunted CVR. Testing of CVR in MND would provide a corroborative measure of hemodynamic compromise documented in our study, further implicating endothelial dysfunction as having a causative role in cognitive impairment in MND. The clinical significance of such a finding would highlight the contribution of vascular factors to the disease, and possibly create a therapeutic target for clinical trials.

5.6.3 Mean Transit Time as an Indicator of Cerebral Perfusion Pressure

Lastly, this thesis has presented work that describes MTT as an indicator of CPP in a model of graded hypotension. However, we realize that the choice of anesthetic may not have been ideal for assessing a full range of vascular responses due to the vasodilatory effect of isoflurane. Future work should involve the development of a new experimental anesthetic protocol that is well tolerated by rabbits with minimal cerebrovascular or systemic effects. Once developed, repetition of the study presented in Chapter 4, would permit MTT to be tested over a wider range of CPP, with greater vasodilatory capacity within the range of autoregulation. To date, no study has provided an association of hemodynamic measurements with CPP over a large experimental range and compared it to the gold standard of CVR.

5.7 **REFERENCES**

- (1) Abrahams S, Goldstein LH, Kew JJ, et al. Frontal lobe dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A PET study. *Brain* 1996 Dec;119 (Pt 6):2105-2120.
- (2) Sette G, Baron JC, Mazoyer B, Levasseur M, Pappata S, Crouzel C. Local brain haemodynamics and oxygen metabolism in cerebrovascular disease. Positron emission tomography. *Brain* 1989 Aug;112 (Pt 4):931-951.
- (3) Gibbs JM, Wise RJ, Leenders KL, Jones T. Evaluation of cerebral perfusion reserve in patients with carotid-artery occlusion. *Lancet* 1984 Feb 11;1:310-314.
- (4) Schumann P, Touzani O, Young AR, Morello R, Baron JC, MacKenzie ET. Evaluation of the ratio of cerebral blood flow to cerebral blood volume as an index of local cerebral perfusion pressure. *Brain* 1998 Jul;121 (Pt 7):1369-1379.
- (5) Ferrari M, Wilson DA, Hanley DF, Traystman RJ. Effects of graded hypotension on cerebral blood flow, blood volume, and mean transit time in dogs. Am J Physiol 1992 Jun;262:H1908-H1914.
- (6) Iida H, Ohata H, Iida M, Watanabe Y, Dohi S. Isoflurane and sevoflurane induce vasodilation of cerebral vessels via ATP-sensitive K+ channel activation. Anesthesiology 1998 Oct;89:954-960.
- (7) McPherson RW, Briar JE, Traystman RJ. Cerebrovascular responsiveness to carbon dioxide in dogs with 1.4% and 2.8% isoflurane. Anesthesiology 1989;70:843-850.
- (8) Lloyd CM, Richardson MP, Brooks DJ, Al Chalabi A, Leigh PN. Extramotor involvement in ALS: PET studies with the GABA(A) ligand [(11)C]flumazenil. Brain 2000 Nov;123 (Pt 11):2289-2296.
- (9) Maragakis NJ, Rothstein JD. Mechanisms of Disease: astrocytes in neurodegenerative disease. *Nat Clin Pract Neurol* 2006 Dec;2:679-689.
- (10) Bristol LA, Rothstein JD. Glutamate transporter gene expression in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis motor cortex. *Ann Neurol* 1996 May;39:676-679.
- (11) Chu K, Lee ST, Sinn DI, et al. Pharmacological Induction of Ischemic Tolerance by Glutamate Transporter-1 (EAAT2) Upregulation. Stroke 2007 Jan 1;38:177-182.
- (12) Suchak SK, Baloyianni NV, Perkinton MS, Williams RJ, Meldrum BS, Rattray M. The 'glial' glutamate transporter, EAAT2 (Glt-1) accounts for high affinity glutamate uptake into adult rodent nerve endings. J Neurochem 2003 Feb;84:522-532.

(13) Guo H, Lai L, Butchbach ME, et al. Increased expression of the glial glutamate transporter EAAT2 modulates excitotoxicity and delays the onset but not the outcome of ALS in mice. *Hum Mol Genet* 2003 Oct 1;12:2519-2532.

Appendix A – Human Primary Lateral Sclerosis Ethics Approval



Office of Research Ethics

The University of Western Ontario Room 00045 Dental Sciences Building, London, ON, Canada N&A 5C1 Telephone: (519) 651-3036 Fax: (519) 850-2486 Email: ethics@uwo.ca Website: www.uwo.ca/research/ethics

Use of Human Subjects - Ethics Approval Notice

rincipal Investigator: Dr. M. Strong Review Number: 09671 Revision Number: 2 Protocol Title: Perfusion and Metabolic Imaging in Primary Lateral Sciencels (PLS)

Department and Institution: Clinical Neurological Sciences, London Health Sciences Centre - University Campus

> Sponsor: Approval Date: 02-Oct-03 End Date: 01-Apr-04

Documents Reviewed and Approved: revised study and date

Documents Received for Information:

This is to notify you that the University of Western Ontario Research Ethics Board for Health Sciences Research involving Human Subjects (HSREB) which is organized and operates according to the Tri-Council Policy Statement and the Health Canada/ICH Good Clinical Practice Practices: Consolidated Guidelines; and the applicable laws and regulations of Ontario has received and granted full board approval to the above named research study on the date noted above. The membership of this REB also complies with the membership requirements for REB's as defined in Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations.

This approval shall remain valid until end date noted above assuming timely and acceptable responses to the HSREB's periodic requests for surveillance and monitoring information. If you require an updated approval notice prior to that time you must request it using the UWO Updated Approval Request Form.

During the course of the research, no deviations from, or changes to, the protocol or consent form may be initiated without prior written approval from the HSREB except when necessary to eliminate immediate hezards to the subject or when the change(s) involve only logistical or administrative aspects of the study (e.g. change of monitor, telephone number). Expedited review of minor change(s) in ongoing studies will be considered. Subjects must receive a copy of the signed information/consent documentation.

investigators must promptly also report to the HSREB:

a) changes increasing the risk to the participant(s) and/or affecting significantly the conduct of the study;

b) all adverse and unexpected experiences or events that are both serious and unexpected;

c) new information that may adversely affect the safety of the subjects or the conduct of the study.

If these changes/adverse events require a change to the information/consent documentation, and/or recruitment advertisement, the newly revised information/consent documentation, and/or advertisement, must be submitted to this office for approval.

Members of the HSREB who are named as investigators in research studies, or declare a conflict of interest, do not participate in discussion related to, nor vote on, such studies when they are presented to the HSREB.

Chair of HSREB: Or. Paul Harding

Lenora Peny. BHSc., Monitoring Officer

Fared STN Data: Off-2/03

This is an official document. Please retain the original in your files. UWO HSREB Ethics Approval 69871

Page 1 of 1

Appendix B - Human Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Ethics Approval



Office of Research Ethics

The University of Western Ontario Room 00045 Dental Sciences Building, London, ON, Canada N6A 5C1 Telephone: (519) 661-3035 Fax: (519) 850-2455 Email: ethics@uwo.ca Website: www.uwo.ca/research/ethics

Use of Human Subjects - Ethics Approval Notice

Principal Investigator:	Dr. M.J. Strong				
Review Number:	09541	Revision Number: 3			
Review Date:	August 07, 2007	Review Level: Expedited			
Protocol Title:	A prospective study of rap impairment in sporadic arr	id CT cerebral blood flow imaging in the detection of cognitive systrophic lateral acterosis			
Department and Institution:	: Clinical Neurological Sciences, London Heelth Sciences Centre				
Sponsor:	THE AMYOTROPHIC LAT	ERAL SCLEROSIS ASSOCIATION			
Ethics Approval Date:	August 07, 2007	Expiry Date: December 31, 2007			
ocuments Reviewed and Approved:	End Date Revision				

Documents Received for Information:

This is to notify you that The University of Western Ontario Research Ethics Board for Health Sciences Research Involving Human Subjects (HSREB) which is organized and operates according to the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct of Research Involving Humans and the Health Canada/ICH Good Clinical Practices Practices: Consolidated Guidelines; and the spplicable laws and regulations of Ontario has reviewed and granted approval to the above referenced revision(s) or amendment(s) on the approval data notid above. The membership of this REB also complies with the membership requirements for REB's as defined in Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations.

The ethics approval for this study shall remain valid until the expiry date noted above assuming timely and acceptable responses to the HSREB's periodic requests for surveillance and monitoring information. If you require an updated approval notice prior to that time you must request it using the UWO Updated Approval Request form.

During the course of the research, no deviations from, or changes to, the protocol or consent form may be initiated without prior written approval from the HSREB except when necessary to eliminate immediate hazards to the subject or when the change(s) involve only logistical or administrative aspects of the study (e.g. change of monitor, telephone number). Expedited review of minor change(s) in ongoing studies will be considered. Subjects must receive a copy of the signed information/consent documentation.

Investigators must promptly also report to the HSREB:

- a) changes increasing the risk to the participant(s) and/or affecting significantly the conduct of the study;
- b) all adverse and unexpected experiences or events that are both serious and unexpected;

c) new information that may adversely affect the safety of the subjects or the conduct of the study.

If these changes/adverse events require a change to the information/consent documentation, and/or recruitment advertisement, the newly revised information/consent documentation, and/or advertisement, must be submitted to this office for approval.

Members of the HSREB who are named as investigators in research studies, or declare a conflict of interest, do not participate in discussion related to, nor vote on, such studies when they are presented to the HSREB.

Chair of HSREB: Dr. John W. McDonaid Deputy Chair: Susan Hoddinott

	Ethics Officer to	Contact for Further Informa	tion
2 Jennifer McEwan (imcawa	en4@uwo.ca) 🛛 Denise Gr	ation (dgrafton@uwo.ca)	Ethics Officer (ethics@uwo.ca)

This is an official document. Please retain the original in your files.

UWO HSREB Ethics Approval - Revision V.2007-04-17 (plApproval/billosHSREB_REV)

09541

Page 1 of 1

Appendix C – Animal Ethics Approval

01/07/2005 14:58 FAX 519 661 2028

ACVS-UWO

October 25, 2004

"This is the Original Approval of this protocol" "A Full Protocol Submission will be required in 2008"

Dear Dr. Lee:

Your "Application to Use Animals for Research or Teaching" entitled:

Restingtion of Maan Transit Time as an Index of Cerebral Particeion Pressure" Funding Agency - Intramural

has been approved by the University Council on Animal Care. This approval is valid from October 25, 2004 to October 31, 2005. The number for this project is **an<u>imal Care.</u> This approval is valid** from October 25, 2004 to

1. This number must be indicated when ordering animals for this project.

Animels for other projects may not be ordered under this number.
If no number appears please contact this office when grant approval is received.

If the application for funding is not successful and you wish to proceed with the project, request that an internal scientific peer review be performed by the Animal Use Subcommittee office.

4. Purchases of animals other than through this system must be cleared through the ACVS office. Health certificates will be required.

NIMALS APPROVED							PAIN LEVEL - C
Debbie	_	1714	¢BC	3met2ka	RA/E	_	48
IGEOOILS	•	LAC AN	arr	JIIIOFZKY	Man G.	-	10

STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURES

Procedures in this protocol should be carried out according to the following SOPs. Please contact the Animal Use Subcommittee office (661-2111 ext. 86770) in case of difficulties or if you require copies. SOP's are also available at http://www.uwo.ca/animal/acvs

310 Holding Period Post Admission

320 Euthanasia

322 Criteria for Early Euthanasia/Mammals/Non-Rodent

333 Post-operative/Post-Anaesthetic Care - Level Three

360 Blood Collection/Volumes/Multiple Species

REQUIREMENTS/COMMENTS

Please ensure that individual(s) performing procedures on live animals, as described in this protocol, are familiar with the contants of this document.

c.c. Approved Protocol - T. Lee, J. Hadway, D. Forder Approval Letter - J. Hadway, D. Forder

> University Council on Animal Care . The University of Western Ontario Animal Use Subcommittee . Health Sciences Centre . London, Ontario . N6A 5C1 . Canada

002

Conference Presentations and Abstracts

Invited Oral:

- 1. TY Lee, B Murphy, and MJ Murphy. CT Perfusion in stroke and cognitive impairment. The 4th International Symposium on CT and MR Brain Perfusion. Chicago, Illinois. (09/2005, non-presenter)
- 2. **MJ Murphy**. Cerebral hemodynamic compromise associated with cognitive impairment in primary lateral sclerosis. First International Research Workshop on Frontotemporal Dementia in ALS, London, Canada. (05/2005)

Oral Presentations:

- 1. **MJ Murphy**, X Chen, T-Y Lee. Evaluation of mean transit time as an indicator of cerebral perfusion pressure in rabbits with graded systemic hypotension. Medical Biophysics Seminar Series, University of Western Ontario (09/2007)
- 2. **MJ Murphy**, GM Grace, MJ Strong, MC Tartaglia, JB Orange, RI Kozak, X Chen, A Rowe, K Findlater, and T-Y Lee. A comparison of cerebral hemodynamic parameters in patients with ALS and PLS accompanied by changes in cognitive impairment. 17th International Symposium on ALS/MND, Yokohama, Japan (12/2006)
- 3. **MJ Murphy**, GM Grace, MJ Strong, MC Tartaglia, JB Orange, RI Kozak, X Chen, A Rowe, K Findlater, and T-Y Lee. A comparison of cerebral hemodynamic parameters in patients with ALS and PLS accompanied by changes in cognitive impairment. Medical Biophysics Seminar Series, University of Western Ontario (12/2006)
- 4. **MJ Murphy**, X Chen, T-Y Lee. Investigation of cerebral perfusion pressure under varying conditions of MAP. Medical Biophysics Seminar series, University of Western Ontario (01/2006)
- 5. Grace GM, Orange JB, Murphy MJ, Lee T-Y, Rowe A, Findlater K and Strong MJ. *Cognitive Impairment in Primary Lateral Sclerosis*. 16th International Symposium on ALS/MND, Dublin, Ireland (12/2005)
- 6. **MJ Murphy**, GM Grace, MJ Strong, MC Tartaglia, JB Orange, RI Kozak, X Chen, A Rowe, K Findlater, and T-Y Lee. *Cerebral Hemodynamic Changes Accompanying Cognitive Impairment in Primary Lateral Sclerosis*. Radiology Research Day, Department of Radiology, University of Western Ontario (06/2005)
- 7. **MJ Murphy**, X Chen, T-Y Lee. Evaluation of Cerebral Perfusion Pressure. Medical Biophysics Seminar Series, University of Western Ontario (03/2005)
- 8. **MJ Murphy**, GM Grace, MJ Strong, MC Tartaglia, Kozak, X Chen, and T-Y Lee *Perfusion Imaging in Motor Neuron Disease*. Medical Biophysics Seminar Series, University of Western Ontario (05/2004)

Poster Presentations:

- MJ Murphy, GM Grace, MJ Strong, MC Tartaglia, JB Orange, RI Kozak, X Chen, A Rowe, K Findlater, and T-Y Lee. Cerebral perfusion associated with cognitive function in patients with ALS: A longitudinal study. 17th International Symposium on ALS/MND. Toronto, Canada (12/2007)
- 2. MJ Murphy, GM Grace, MJ Strong, MC Tartaglia, JB Orange, RI Kozak, X Chen, A Rowe, K Findlater, and T-Y Lee. Longitudinal assessment of cognitive function and concomitant changes in cerebral perfusion in patients with ALS. Second International Research Workshop on Frontotemporal Dementia in ALS, London, Canada (06/2007)

- 3. **MJ Murphy**, GM Grace, MJ Strong, MC Tartaglia, JB Orange, RI Kozak, X Chen, A Rowe, K Findlater, and T-Y Lee. Evidence of endothelial dysfunction in Primary Lateral Sclerosis (PLS) with cognitive impairment as measured by CT Perfusion. The 23rd International Symposium on Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism, Osaka, Japan. (05/2007)
- 4. **MJ Murphy**, X Chen, T-Y Lee. Evaluation of mean transit time as an index of cerebral perfusion pressure in rabbits with graded systemic hypotension. The 23rd International Symposium on Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism, Osaka, Japan (05/2007)
- 5. **MJ Murphy**, X Chen, T-Y Lee. Reproducibility of acetazolamide reactivity and CT Perfusion measurement of cerebral blood flow in rabbits. 5th Imaging Symposium of the Imaging Network Ontario, Toronto, Canada. (04/2007)
- 6. **MJ Murphy**, GM Grace, MJ Strong, MC Tartaglia, JB Orange, RI Kozak, X Chen, A Rowe, K Findlater, and T-Y Lee. Cerebral Hemodynamic Changes Accompanying Cognitive Impairment in Primary Lateral Sclerosis, 16th International Symposium on ALS/MND, Dublin, Ireland (12/2005)
- 7. MC Tartaglia MJ Murphy, A Rowe, K Findlater, MJ Strong, JB Orange, GM Grace, Kozak, X Chen, and T-Y Lee. *Deficits Observed in Patients with Primary Lateral Sclerosis are Associated with Changes in Cerebral Hemodynamics*, 16th International Symposium on ALS/MND, Dublin, Ireland (12/2005)
- 8. **MJ Murphy**, GM Grace, MJ Strong, MC Tartaglia, JB Orange, RI Kozak, X Chen, A Rowe, K Findlater, and T-Y Lee. *Mean Transit Time Changes in Primary Lateral Sclerosis Patients with Cognitive Impairment*, First International Research Workshop on Frontotemporal Dementia in ALS, London, Canada (05/2005)